# GLYCINE-ASSISTED REGENERATION OF THE ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY OF (+)-CATECHIN AND ITS DERIVATIVES

**Carolyne Dubreuil** 

**Department of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry** 

Macdonald Campus of McGill University, Montreal

March 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Carolyne Dubreuil, 2022

# ABSTRACT

The oxidation of food components such as polyunsaturated fatty acids, proteins, polyphenols, and vitamins is a major cause of deterioration, leading to food waste. Synthetic antioxidants have long been used as food additives due to their superior performance but have come under scrutiny by consumers and experts alike after evidence of potential carcinogenicity surfaced. Naturally occurring antioxidants such as polyphenols constitute a safe and healthy alternative; however, their lower antioxidant capacity hinders their widespread use. Although the oxidation of (+)-catechin impairs its antioxidant properties, the resulting *o*-quinone is available to react with nucleophiles, such as amino acids. This has been proposed to regenerate its protective function.

In this thesis, different approaches were examined to assess the glycine-assisted regeneration of the antioxidant capacity of (+)-catechin-related structures. Hydroquinone (HQ) reacted with glycine in aqueous media subjected to both heated and ambient temperature treatments representative of cooking and storage of foods. The products were analyzed using isotope-labeling techniques by electrospray ionization coupled to quantitative time-of-flight highresolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) as well as tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). The identified adducts indicated an antioxidant activity regeneration process involving a Michael addition mechanism with the possibility of extending HQ's antioxidant capacity up to three-fold. Investigation of under alkaline mixtures of (+)-catechin and glycine by visible spectrophotometry confirmed their interaction, altering the color profile and thus the chemical makeup of the flavonoid's oxidation products. The presence of glycine significantly decreased the generation of yellow compounds while slightly increasing the red compounds during the oxidation of (+)catechin. Cyclic voltammetry (CV) was performed on (+)-catechin, 4-methylcatechol (4-MC), and HQ to probe the impact of glycine on their redox behaviors. No significant effect was found with 4-MC or HQ, but glycine lowered the oxidation potential of (+)-catechin, indicating a rapid reaction between the two.

The antioxidant properties resulting from glycine/phenolic interactions were also studied in food media. The rate of oxygen consumption of polyphenol-rich red wine decreased in the presence of glycine, therefore increasing its oxidative stability. The same method was applied to flaxseed oil (FSO) containing 4-methylcatechol and glycine, where glycine showed an unanticipated antioxidant effect on FSO that disappeared when stirred. The p-anisidine value (pAV) assay was also attempted to determine the impact of HQ and glycine additives on the generation of secondary oxidation products in FSO. Again, the method was judged inappropriate for several reasons including the interference of additives and FSO's oxidative behavior.

All methods were evaluated to assess their potential and shortcomings in the study of the reaction of flavonoid and amino acids. HRMS, visible spectrometry, and direct oxygen consumption measurement were considered suitable methods, whereas CV and the pAV assays were unsuccessful.

# RÉSUMÉ

L'oxydation des composantes alimentaires telles que les acides gras polyinsaturés, les protéines, les polyphénols et les vitamines est une cause majeure de détérioration, entraînant le gaspillage alimentaire. Les antioxydants synthétiques sont utilisés depuis longtemps comme additifs alimentaires en raison de leurs performances supérieures, mais ont été critiqués par les consommateurs et les experts suite à la publication d'études indiquant leur potentiel cancérigène. Les antioxydants naturels tels que les polyphénols constituent une alternative sûre et saine ; cependant, leur plus faible capacité antioxydante constitue une entrave à leur utilisation. Bien que l'oxydation de la (+)-catéchine anéantis ses propriétés antioxydantes, la structure o-quinone résultante peut alors réagir avec les nucléophiles, tels que les acides aminés. La régénération de sa fonction protectrice a été proposée comme conséquence possible de cette réaction.

Dans ce mémoire, différentes approches ont été examinées pour évaluer la régénération assistée par la glycine de la capacité antioxydante des structures liées à la (+)-catéchine. L'hydroquinone (HQ) en présence de glycine en milieu aqueux a été soumis à des traitements de température élevée et ambiante représentatifs de la cuisson et du stockage des aliments. Les produits ont été analysés à l'aide de techniques de marquage isotopique par ionisation par électrospray couplée à la spectrométrie de masse à haute résolution (HRMS) ainsi qu'à la spectrométrie de masse en tandem (MS/MS). Les adduits identifiés indiquent un processus de régénération de l'activité antioxydante impliquant un mécanisme d'addition de Michael avec la possibilité de multiplier par trois la capacité antioxydante de l'HQ. L'étude de mélanges de (+)catéchine et de glycine en milieu alcalin par spectrométrie visible a confirmé leur interaction, modifiant le profil de couleur et donc la composition chimique des produits d'oxydation du flavonoïde. La présence de glycine a significativement diminué la génération de composés jaunes tout en augmentant légèrement les composés rouges lors de l'oxydation de la (+)-catéchine. La voltamétrie cyclique (CV) a été réalisée sur la (+)-catéchine, le 4-méthylcatéchol (4-MC) et l'HQ pour sonder l'impact de la glycine sur leurs comportements redox. Aucun effet significatif n'a été trouvé avec le 4-MC ou le HQ, alors que la glycine a abaissé le potentiel d'oxydation de la (+)catéchine, indiquant une réaction rapide entre les deux.

Les propriétés antioxydantes résultant des interactions entre la glycine et les composés phénoliques ont également été étudiées dans des modèles alimentaires. Le rythme de consommation d'oxygène de vin rouge riche en polyphénols a diminué en présence de glycine, augmentant ainsi sa stabilité oxydative. La même méthode a été appliquée à l'huile de lin contenant du 4-méthylcatéchol et de la glycine : cette dernière démontre un effet antioxydant non-anticipé qui disparaît lorsque l'huile est remuée. La détermination de la valeur de p-anisidine (pAV) a également été tentée pour évaluer l'impact de l'HQ et de la glycine sur la génération de produits d'oxydation secondaires dans l'huile de lin. Encore une fois, la méthode a été jugée inappropriée, notamment en raison de l'interférence des additifs et du comportement oxydatif de l'huile de lin.

Toutes les méthodes employées ont été évaluées selon leur potentiel d'application et leurs lacunes dans l'étude de la réaction des flavonoïdes et des acides aminés. Le HRMS, la spectrométrie visible et la mesure directe de la consommation d'oxygène ont été considérés comme des méthodes appropriées, tandis que le CV et les tests pAV ont échoué.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Varoujan A. Yaylayan, for his guidance, encouragement, and flexibility throughout this project. I consider myself lucky to have been given the opportunity to work and collaborate in environment where obstacles were faced with a solution-forward mindset and where my (many) doubts were met with a positive response. As for my lab mates, Raheleh, Haoran, and Eun Sil: thanks for always making me feel welcome and helping me navigate the world of research. I wish our time together had not been interrupted by a pandemic.

I would also like to thank Dr. Stéphane Bayen, member of my supervisory committee, for his openness and support. This project would not have been possible without the help of René Nguyen, who conducted oxygen consumption tests with a contagious eagerness, Dr. Alexander Wahba, who performed mass spectrometric analyses and offered technical support beyond my expectations, as well as Nadim Saadeh, who also performed mass spectrometric analyses.

I am grateful for the financial support provided by Claire and Donald Cole through their fellowship. Your generosity truly does make a difference.

I would like to thank the lifelong friends I made during my years here *at Mac Campus* for their support, understanding, and the great moments we shared. You all made student life better than I could ever have hoped for. The memorable events through which we met and bonded, and eventually coordinated together, are one of the main reasons why I am so attached to this campus and chose to pursue a second degree here. *Mac Frosh* will forever hold a special place in my heart.

I could not go on without thanking my family, who always believed in me and made my academic development and success possible. I would like to express my utmost gratitude to my mother Johanne for being there through thick and thin, whether that was by helping me navigate life with an attention deficit disorder, by giving the best advice, or simply by lending a caring ear when I needed to express my frustrations.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
RÉSUMÉ	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Oxidation in food systems	16
2.1.1 Oxidation of fatty acids	
2.1.2 Oxidation of amino acids, peptides, and proteins	
2.1.3 Oxidation of vitamins	
2.1.4 Oxidation of phenolic compounds	
2.2 Antioxidants	
2.2.1 Antioxidant mechanisms	
2.2.2 Activity of synthetic and natural antioxidants in foods	
2.2.3 Regulation of antioxidant food additives in Canada	
2.2.4 Health effects of synthetic and naturally occurring antioxidants	
2.3 Phenolic compounds	
2.3.1 Occurrence	
2.3.2 Flavonoids	
2.4 (+)-Catechin and other flavanols	

2.4.1 Antioxidant mechanism and activity of (+)-catechin	29
2.4.2 Oxidative reactions of (+)-catechin	31
2.5 Reactions between phenolic compounds and amino acids	32
2.5.1 Schiff base formation	33
2.5.2 Strecker degradation	34
2.5.3 Michael addition	35
2.5.3 Influence of reaction parameters	
2.5.4 Effect of functional group on antioxidant activity	39
2.6 Potential regeneration of (+)-catechin's antioxidant activity	39
2.7 Review of analytical methods	40
2.7.1 Structural identification of phenolic compounds and their amino acid adducts	40
2.7.2 Study of oxidative processes and reactions of phenolic compounds via their abs of UV and visible light	sorbance
2.7.3 Analysis of antioxidant activity and reactions of electrochemically active compo- cyclic voltammetry	ounds by 42
2.7.4 Measurement of antioxidant activity by colorimetric assays	45
2.7.5 Determination of antioxidant activity using food-relevant substrates	46
2.8 Conclusion	47
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	48
3.1 Chemicals	48
3.2 Analytical methods	48
3.2.1 HRMS analysis, isotopic labelling studies, and MS/MS of a hydroquinone model reaction	eglycine
3.2.2 Toxicity prediction of hydroquinone/glycine adducts	49
3.2.3 Cyclic voltametric analysis of different phenol/glycine mixtures	49
3.2.4 Oxygen consumption measurements	50

3.2.5 <i>p</i> -Anisidine value of oxidized flaxseed oil with added hydroquinone and glycine 50	0
3.2.6 Extent of reaction between <i>p</i> -anisidine and the selected additives	1
3.2.7 Color evolution of (+)-catechin/glycine models under alkaline conditions	1
3.3 Statistical treatment of data	2
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	3
4.1 Identification of (+)-catechin model reaction products with glycine	3
4.1.1 Chemical composition of reaction products detected by HRMS	3
4.1.2 Tandem mass spectrometric analysis	4
4.1.3 Proposed reaction mechanism and impact on redox activity	б
4.1.4 Toxicity prediction of the detected adducts	8
4.1.5 Extrapolation of results to (+)-catechin and other polyphenols	8
4.2 Antioxidant activity experiments	0
4.2.1 Cyclic voltammetry	0
4.2.2 Evaluation of the effect of added glycine on red wine's oxidative stability	3
4.2.3 Evaluation of the effect of added 4-methylcatechol and glycine on the oxidative stability of flaxseed oil	у 4
4.3 Reactions of hydroquinone and glycine reactions and the <i>p</i> -anisidine value of flaxseed of	il 6
4.4 Impact of glycine on the color evolution of (+)-catechin caused by oxidation	7
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION	3
5.1 General conclusions	3
5.2 Suggestions for future research areas74	4
CHAPTER 6. REFERENCES	5
CHAPTER 7. APPENDICES 108	8

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Examples of linolenic acid autoxidation pathways
Figure 2.2 Classification of polyphenols25
Figure 2.3 Structure of common flavan-3-ols
Figure 2.4 Oxidation of (+)-catechin
Figure 2.5 Iron (II) chelation by (+)-catechin
Figure 2.6 Nomenclature of dehydrodicatechins and procyanidins proposed by Verloop, Gruppen and Vincken
Figure 2.7 General Schiff base formation between an aldehyde or ketone and a primary amine 33
Figure 2.8 Typical Strecker degradation of a Schiff base formed between an <i>o</i> -quinone and glycine
Figure 2.9 Michael addition mechanism between an $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehyde or ketone and a primary amine
Figure 4.1 Proposed MS/MS fragmentation patterns of m/z 209 at 15.0 eV
Figure 4.2 Proposed mechanism of the reaction of glycine and hydroquinone
Figure 4.3 Proposed mechanism of the reaction of glycine and (+)-catechin60
Figure 4.4 Impact of glycine on the cyclic voltammograms of phenolic compounds61
Figure 4.5 Impact of added glycine on the absorbance spectra of (+)-catechin under oxidative conditions
Figure 4.6 Areas of visible light absorbance peaks for oxidized (+)-catechin samples69

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Occurrence of catechin and epicatechin in selected food sources 2	29
Table 2.2 Detection threshold of Strecker aldehydes found in beer, determined by the ascendin	ıg
method of limits test and a performed three alternate forced choice test	35
Table 2.3 Induction time of heated di-substituted benzenes	39
Table 2.4 Comparison between some common spectrometric antioxidant activity assays	15
Table 4.1 Ions of interest detected by HRMS in the negative ionization mode	54
Table 4.2 MS/MS fragments produced by collision-induced dissociation of Adduct 3	54
Table 4.3 Anodic peak data of phenolic compounds in the presence of glycine	52
Table 4.4 Oxygen pressure drop associated with the oxidation of Beaujolais red wine, in th	ne
presence of glycine	54
Table 4.5 Effect of 4-methylcatechol and glycine on the time to reach a 60 % drop in oxyge	en
pressure in flaxseed oil solutions6	55
Table 4.6 Absorbance at 350 nm of the potentially interfering additives studied	56

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

4-MC	4-Methylcatechol
4-MBQ	4-Methyl-1,2-benzoquinone
ABTS•+	2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid)
ADI	Acceptable daily intake
pAV	para-Anisidine value
BHA	Butylated hydroxyanisole
BHT	Butylated hydroxytoluene
CID	Collision-induced dissociation
CML	$N_{\epsilon}$ -carboxymethyl lysine
CV	Cyclic voltammetry
DhC <sub>2</sub>	Dehydrodicatechin
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
EC	Epicatechin
EGC	Epigallocatechin
EGCG	Epigallocatechin gallate
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FRAP	Ferric reducing antioxidant power
FSO	Flaxseed oil
FTIR	Fourier-transform infrared spectrometry
GCE	Glassy carbon electrode
HAT	Hydrogen atom transfer
HQ	Hydroquinone
Keq	Reaction equilibrium constant
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
p-BQ	para-Benzoquinone
ppm	Parts per million
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
PV	Peroxide value

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SPME	Solid-phase microextraction
TBHQ	tert-Butyl hydroquinone
UV	Ultraviolet

# **CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Despite ongoing technological advances to improve the quality and stability of foods, food loss and waste remains a considerable issue. The quantities of food waste have reached 242 kg per capita per year in Canada, when considering the processing to the consumer stages<sup>1</sup>. This implies needless land, energy, and resource use, as well as the emission of greenhouse gases and economic loss<sup>1</sup>. The causes of such waste are diverse and complex, but usually have one common aspect: quality deterioration.

One of the causes of food quality loss is oxidation, a process during which susceptible compounds lose electrons to other components, resulting in structural modifications and functional impairments<sup>2</sup>. This type of reaction affects major and minor food components, notably polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)<sup>3</sup>, vitamins<sup>4</sup>, and proteins<sup>5</sup>, and polyphenols<sup>6</sup>. Oxidation is promoted by pro-oxidants, which induce oxidative stress. These include ultraviolet (UV) radiation, heat exposure, contact with transition metal ions, the presence of oxygen, most importantly reactive oxygen species (ROS), and more<sup>7</sup>. In foods, oxidation can lead to losses in nutritional properties, the generation of off-flavours and odours, or changes in appearance and texture<sup>8-9</sup>. In some cases, oxidation products exhibit toxic properties. For example, products of edible oil oxidation have numerous detrimental effects on human health, including inflammation of various organs<sup>10-12</sup>, genotoxicity<sup>13</sup>, and mutagenicity synthesis<sup>14</sup>. These effects can lead to diseases such as age-related neurodegenerative disorders, cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome and cancer<sup>15</sup>.

Oxidative stress can be prevented or alleviated by controlling pro-oxidant factors. Another strategy involves mitigating oxidation by countering its early effects, preventing cascading oxidative reactions. Antioxidant compounds can exhibit different mechanisms to achieve this goal, whether they chelate metal ions, scavenge free radical species, or interact with relevant enzymes<sup>16</sup>. The addition of flavonoids, a class of naturally occurring polyphenols, as antioxidants to food products constitutes a mild, health-promoting strategy to protect the structural integrity of their components. This type of antioxidant generally receives the public's praise, as they are perceived as "natural". However, naturally occurring antioxidants are generally less efficient than the synthetic antioxidants used commercially and produce less dramatic results. For example, the

addition of mixed tocopherols at 200 parts-per-million (ppm) to conventional and high-oleic acid vegetable oils resulted in oils having less than half the oil stability index compared to the same oils to which *tert*-butyl hydroxyquinone was added at the same concentration<sup>17</sup>. Therefore, there is a need for more efficient natural antioxidants in the food industry.

The objective of the present research was to investigate the potential regeneration of (+)catechin's antioxidant activity through its reaction with glycine, and in doing so, adapt and evaluate selected analysis methods. To do so, the reaction mechanism must first be tentatively identified via the structural determination of products formed in a model system composed of an aqueous hydroquinone (HQ) and glycine mixture. To ensure the model used reflects (+)-catechin's behavior, the flavonoid's interaction with glycine must also be demonstrated. Because oxidation affects compounds in a variety of ways, multiple strategies are employed to assess the antioxidant effect of the interaction of glycine with phenolic compounds, including the monitoring of oxygen consumption, color evolution, redox properties, and secondary oxidation products, both in simple solutions and real food media.

# **CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Oxidation in food systems

Oxidation, or the chemical process involving the removal of an electron from an atom or molecule, is an important reaction that affects a vast array of substances, both organic and inorganic. The oxidation of a compound is always coupled with the reduction of another. In food, oxidation is often vilified due to its role in the development of rancid flavours in delicate oils or the browning of fresh fruit. Controlling the many contributing factors to oxidative stress is paramount to preserving the quality of many food systems. These enhancing factors include the exposure to UV rays, heat, ROS, free radicals, oxidases, and more. Because many oxidation reactions in foods are part of cascading pathways catalyzed by miniscule amounts of ROS or metal ions, for example, the deleterious associated effects are difficult to prevent in products destined for later consumption. Certain lipids, proteins, vitamins, and polyphenols are omni-present in the human diet and are among the molecules that are most susceptible to oxidation.

#### **2.1.1 Oxidation of fatty acids**

Unsaturated fatty acids and their glycerol-bound counterparts are particularly prone to oxidation due to the lowering of the dissociation energy of carbon-hydrogen covalent bonds adjacent to stabilizing double bonds<sup>18</sup>. This effect is most remarkable in PUFAs with methyleneinterrupted double bonds<sup>19</sup>. The abstraction of such hydrogens initiates lipid autooxidation reactions (Figure 2.1). Reactions with oxygen species cause propagation of oxidation, as the peroxyl radicals formed easily abstract hydrogen atoms from neighbouring fatty acids. The resulting hydroperoxide fatty acids may decompose by  $\beta$ -scission into a variety of products with low molecular weights which affect food's flavour and odour profiles<sup>18</sup>. These secondary oxidation products include aldehydes, carboxylic acids, alcohols, and hydrocarbons<sup>20-22</sup> (Appendix 7.1). Hydroperoxides and conjugated dienes, on the other hand, are considered primary oxidation products<sup>23</sup>. Radicals may also react with one another, effectively terminating the oxidation reaction<sup>18</sup>.

The lipid profile of edible oils depends on their source and processing<sup>24</sup>. As such, olives from a same cultivar will produce extra virgin oils with different proportions of fatty acids when grown in different environments<sup>25</sup>, flaxseed oil (FSO) contains considerably higher levels of

PUFAs than palm oil<sup>26-27</sup>, and so forth. The lipid compositions of selected edible oils are listed in Appendix 7.2. An oil's stability can be estimated based on its lipid profile: for example, FSO, which is oxidized under mild conditions, contains high levels of triacylglycerols composed of PUFA<sup>28</sup>. In addition to lipids, edible oils contain other compounds that may affect their properties, including antioxidants<sup>24</sup> and pro-oxidants<sup>29</sup>.



*Figure 2.1* Examples of linolenic acid autoxidation pathways<sup>18, 21</sup>.

Some products with high lipid contents Because of their antioxidant nature, phenolics also play a role in lipid oxidation and therefore reduce lipid-derived off-flavours<sup>30</sup>. Finally, *m*-diphenols can scavenge lipid-derivatives containing a carbonyl moiety such as 2-alkenal, which generate flavour, therefore modulating the aroma<sup>31</sup>.

### 2.1.2 Oxidation of amino acids, peptides, and proteins

Certain amino acid sidechains are also subject to oxidation, whether they are free or bound within a peptide or protein's structure. ROS such as hydroxyl radicals and superoxide anions may abstract hydrogen atoms from an amino acid's  $\alpha$ -carbon, as well as its aliphatic or aromatic sidechain, whether the amino acid is free or protein-bound. The hydrogen abstraction initiates a series of propagating radical reactions<sup>32</sup>. Metal ions can also take part in amino acid and peptide oxidation<sup>33</sup>. These oxidative reactions can lead to peptide bond cleavage, protein carbonylation, intermolecular cross-linkage, and more, affecting protein functionalities<sup>32</sup>. On the other hand, recent studies point towards methionine and cysteine residues acting as internal antioxidants in proteins, stabilizing a variety of enzymes and other proteins<sup>34</sup>.

Protein oxidation may be desirable for some applications. The moderate oxidation of whey protein can stabilize emulsions, although excessive oxidation has the opposite effect by causing droplets to aggregate<sup>35</sup>. Protein cross-linking can be increased through oxidation, improving the viscoelasticity of gluten networks in dough<sup>36</sup> and the heat stability of cow milk<sup>37</sup>. On the other hand, protein cross-linking can reduce the water-retention capacity of meat, making it tough and negatively affecting its quality<sup>38</sup>. The oxidation of milk, meat, beer and coffee proteins can also be detrimental to their aroma<sup>39</sup>. One of the most widely studied topics in protein oxidation is the color change associated with the oxidation of red meats. Over time, meat loses its vibrant red color and turns brown as myoglobin's heme iron is oxidized from a ferrous to a ferric state<sup>40</sup>. Both the color stability and/or the tenderness of red meats, including beef<sup>38</sup> and lamb<sup>41</sup>, can be improved by supplementing the animal's feed with polyphenols prior to slaughter.

#### 2.1.3 Oxidation of vitamins

Some vitamins are active as antioxidants due to their ability to easily donate hydrogen atoms. However, they may also be susceptible to oxidative degradation. During the extrusion process involved in the production of many foods and animal feeds, vitamins A, C, D, and E can be destroyed under pro-oxidant conditions<sup>42</sup>. Although the structures of vitamins are quite

different, they often react to oxidation in similar ways. For example,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, a vitamin E, produces tocopherylquinone during thermal oxidation but produces  $\alpha$ -tocopherol hydroperoxide stereoisomers when photo-irradiated in extra virgin olive oil<sup>43</sup>. On the other hand, ascorbic acid is believed to mainly form monodehydroascorbate, but can also react with ROS to form hydroperoxide adducts<sup>44</sup>. The degradation of vitamins in foods destroys their nutritional value. Wheat flour, which is fortified in vitamin A to aid in the prevention of its deficiency, is prone to oxidation during processing and storage, limiting the flour's health benefits<sup>45</sup>.

#### 2.1.4 Oxidation of phenolic compounds

The oxidation of phenolic compounds, often referred to as polyphenols, mainly occurs due to their antioxidant activity, during which they scavenge highly reactive free radicals, or by enzymatic oxidation<sup>46</sup>. Just like fatty acids and proteins, some phenolic compounds have been shown to undergo an autoxidation reaction, generating oxidation products at increasing rates<sup>47-48</sup>; however, semiquinone radicals are stabilized by electron delocalization, making them less reactive than other radicals<sup>49</sup>. Oxidized phenols have been known to oligomerize and polymerize as well as react with other components in a system, such as solvents and nucleophiles<sup>46</sup>.

The changes in structure and chemical profile cause a range of organoleptic changes, including textural, color, and aroma modifications. Oxidized polyphenols can form complexes with proteins, granting them the astringency perceived in products such as tea and red wine<sup>50-51</sup>. In many fruits, such as apples, the oxidation of phenolics with an *o*-dihydroxyl group to the corresponding quinone leads to rapid browning due to the activity of polyphenol oxidase<sup>52</sup>. Polyphenols and their oxidation also impact the quality properties of coffee, beer, cocoa, cereals, tree nuts, and, as discussed in the next section, red wine<sup>51, 53-55</sup>. They can also play a role in the Maillard reaction, which generates a variety of compounds that impart desirable aroma as well as off-flavours<sup>56-57</sup>.

# 2.1.4.1 Impact of oxidation on wine quality

Red wine constitutes a polyphenol-rich beverage that is susceptible to oxidation. During its production, ageing and storage, condensed tannins are generated following the oxidation and subsequent condensation of flavonoids, reaching high degrees of polymerization<sup>58</sup>. The formation of tannins shifts the solution's colour from vibrant yellow, red, and orange hues to deep brick-red

tones. Intermediate-sized tannins (molecular mass < 3000 Da) can cause flocculation by interacting with colloids, such as proteins and colloidal iron<sup>59</sup>. This leads to visible deposits in bottles.

Due to their susceptibility to oxidation and microbial contamination, most wines contain added sulfites as preservatives; their reactions with  $H_2O_2$  and polyphenol-derived quinones help control wine's stability and quality<sup>60</sup>. On the other hand, one study proposed that sulfites may accelerate flavonoid oxidation in the presence of trace metal ions in wine<sup>61</sup>. Sulfite additives can cause adverse health effects in sulfite-sensitive people<sup>62</sup>, and many others believe they are to blame for red wine-related headaches, although this evidence remains anecdotal and unproven<sup>63</sup>. Consumers show a preference for wine with no added sulfites<sup>64</sup>, motivating the search for alternative solutions to retain long-term quality.

Although sealed bottles limit contact between wine and oxygen, oxygen is introduced into wine during its processing<sup>65</sup>. Oxygen can also slowly flow through corks during ageing and storage<sup>66-67</sup>. Oxidation of red wine is "associated with sensory and/or microbiological degradation"<sup>65</sup>. On the other hand, micro-oxygenation, the process of exposing wine to small quantities of oxygen post-bottling, helps simulate barrel aging by stabilizing the color, reducing off-odors and improving mouthfeel<sup>68</sup>. Catalytic amounts of oxygen suffice to initiate autooxidation of monomeric (+)-catechin<sup>47</sup>, which imparts bitterness and astringency<sup>69</sup>. Therefore, minimal oxygen and the oxidation processes it leads to are essential to the achievement of high-quality red wine.

# 2.2 Antioxidants

Antioxidants are compounds that enhance the oxidative stability of other components present in their environment, including in food matrices and biological systems<sup>18</sup>. A wide variety of antioxidants, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic, are naturally produced by plants in response to certain oxidative stressors as an endogenous defense mechanism<sup>70</sup>. Humans, on the other hand, can both consume and produce antioxidants to compose with oxidative stress; in fact, vitamin D, synthesized in cutaneous tissue exposed to sunlight<sup>71</sup>, and vitamin C (ascorbic acid), ubiquitously present in fruits and vegetables, both act as essential antioxidants<sup>72-74</sup>. Antioxidants can take on different forms and are categorized accordingly. Some synthetic compounds, metals, vitamins, enzymes, polyphenols, etc. can have antioxidant effects<sup>75-76</sup>. Antioxidants follow various

mechanisms of action such as metal ion chelation and free radical scavenging, among others<sup>16, 77</sup>. However, specific conditions may be required for the antioxidant to be effective<sup>78-79</sup>.

#### 2.2.1 Antioxidant mechanisms

Metal ion chelation refers to a compound's ability to bind metal ions and form complexes, stabilizing them in the process<sup>80</sup>. These metal ions could otherwise act as pro-oxidants via the Fenton reaction, during which metal ions catalyze the conversion of hydrogen peroxide to a hydroxyl free radical and result in the metal's oxidation<sup>81</sup>. By sequestering metal ions, their oxidative effects are controlled. However, metal chelation can also confer pro-oxidant activity to phenolic compounds; some flavonoids (myricetin, quercetin, kaempferol, taxifolin, etc.) may reduce Cu<sup>2+</sup> to Cu<sup>+</sup> in the process, activating its pro-oxidant ability<sup>82</sup>.

Some antioxidants can also stabilize oxidation-prone amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins: the most effective being methionine and cysteine<sup>83</sup>. Polyphenols can interact with amino acid residues in proteins by creating hydrogen bonds with their sidechains, and thus inhibit the action of oxidative enzymes such as xanthine oxidase<sup>84</sup>.

Radical scavenging involves the quenching of free radicals of different kinds, including alkyl, hydroxyl, and superoxide radicals as well as other ROS<sup>16</sup>. Radical scavenging reduces or reverts the damage exerted on oxidation-prone targets by preventing the activation of oxygen to ROS or terminating chain reactions, such as lipid autoxidation<sup>79</sup>. Radical scavenging antioxidants can attack unstable radicals through various isolated, concerted, or sequential electron and proton transfers<sup>77, 85-86</sup> or radical adduct formation, characterized by the formation of an adduct between the antioxidant and the unstable radical<sup>87</sup>. The mechanism(s) used by the antioxidant depend on the conditions, which in turn affects the radical quenching efficiency for different free radicals<sup>85</sup>. Some of these mechanisms result in the formation of a new radical, which must be relatively stable to avoid further oxidation reactions. Structures capable of resonance, conjugation and hydrogen bonding typically increase a radical's stability and hence, its antioxidant effect<sup>77</sup>. Antioxidants with *p*- and *o*-dihydroxybenzyl moieties are capable of hydrogen atom transfer (HAT), a mechanism during which a hydroxyl group's hydrogen is donated in a concerted proton and electron transfer step to quench a free radical. Although the phenolic compound becomes a radical itself in the process, the lone electron is stabilized by resonance throughout the phenol moiety,

yielding a more stable and therefore less reactive compound<sup>88-89</sup>. After a further HAT, a stable quinonoid structure is formed.

Antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase or glutathione reductase are found is plants and protect cells from oxidation and oxidation products<sup>90-91</sup>. These can catalyse the reduction of their substrate but often rearrange the structure of this substrate or a co-factor as well, as is the case for glutathione peroxidase<sup>92</sup>. Because enzyme reactions are substrate-specific and often need a co-factor, they do not act as effectively as other types of antioxidants in complex mixtures formed during oxidative reactions due to their limited applications. Antioxidant enzymes are affected during storage of fruits and vegetables but can be protected by coatings<sup>91</sup>. Agricultural practices can be employed to ensure suitable levels of antioxidant enzymes are produced in plants<sup>93</sup>. Although the use of antioxidant enzymes as food additives has been proposed they are not currently added to processed foods due to their unproven efficiency in food systems<sup>94</sup>.

The chemical structure of polyphenols influences both their antioxidant mechanism and efficiency. For example, the location of functional groups such as hydroxyl groups on a benzene ring affects a compound's metal chelation properties. Glycosylation of flavonoids can decrease antioxidant activity, compared to aglycone equivalents<sup>95</sup>. The environment to which antioxidants are exposed also affects their efficiency. In the case of phenolic antioxidants, the bond dissociation energy for the hydroxyl group's hydrogen atom depends on the solvent. In polar solvents like acetonitrile or *t*-butyl alcohol, the bond dissociation energy is higher than in non-polar solvents such as benzene<sup>96-97</sup>. Therefore, the intermolecular hydrogen bonding that occurs in polar solvents decreases the antioxidant's radical scavenging ability<sup>98</sup>. However, antioxidants must be in contact with target compounds to be effective, so the antioxidant and the target compound must be properly combined. These must either be solubilized in the same solvent or present in an emulsion to maximize antioxidant activity<sup>99-100</sup>.

#### 2.2.2 Activity of synthetic and natural antioxidants in foods

Butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), *tert*-butyl hydroquinone (TBHQ), and propyl gallate are the main synthetic antioxidants used in foods, mainly those with high lipid contents such as margarines and oils<sup>101</sup> or powdered foods such as cake mix and dried potatoes<sup>102</sup>. Although synthetic antioxidants are generally considered as more

potent than their natural counterparts, studies on the effects of natural antioxidants in oils have provided variable results, demonstrating that the environmental conditions, concentration, analytical method and other factors can influence an antioxidant's efficiency. For example, the addition of 0.5 to 1 % of antioxidant red pepper oil resulted in soybean and sunflower oils with a high peroxide value (PV) but delayed light-induced rancidity, whereas 0.02 % BHT had more pronounced effects<sup>103</sup>. In seal blubber and menhaden oils, dechlorophyllized green tea extract with a high flavonoid content used in concentrations of 500 and 1000 ppm was found to have better antioxidant activity than 200 ppm of BHA and BHT but was not as efficient as 200 ppm of TBHQ<sup>104</sup>. FSO, which is very sensitive to oxidation, was found to be more effectively stabilized by a (+)-catechin (555  $\mu$ mol/kg)/ascorbyl palmitate (241  $\mu$ mol/kg) mixture than BHA (555  $\mu$ mol/kg), based on hydroperoxide content, fatty acid profile and residual antioxidant after heating<sup>105</sup>.

Because they are permitted in foods in greater quantities (see section 2.2.3), naturally sourced antioxidants may offer advantages over synthetic ones in certain cases. On the other hand, synthetic and naturally occurring antioxidants can act synergistically. For example, diludine, a synthetic antioxidant, exhibits synergistic antioxidant activity with BHT and  $\alpha$ -tocopherol<sup>106</sup>. Overall, synthetic antioxidants generally outperform natural antioxidants in reducing oil oxidation.

# 2.2.3 Regulation of antioxidant food additives in Canada

In Canada, the use of synthetic antioxidants in oils is regulated under the *Food and Drug Regulations*, alongside other food additives. The imposed limits depend on the specific antioxidant and the food product they are added to. The upper limit for BHA, TBHQ and BHT in fats and oils other than olive oil, suet, essential oils (except TBHQ) and milk fat is a mass fraction of 0.02 %, and if combined, must not exceed this concentration in total<sup>107</sup>. The use of flavanols and catechins is not regulated and is therefore subject to principles of Good Manufacturing Practices<sup>108</sup>. Therefore, if any reasonable concentration of natural antioxidants could prove to be as effective as synthetic ones at their 0.02 % limit, they could provide a suitable alternative.

#### 2.2.4 Health effects of synthetic and naturally occurring antioxidants

Many studies have evaluated the potential health effects of synthetic antioxidants. Although BHA and BHT may induce tumors in rats, epidemiological studies suggest they are not a cancer hazard in humans and may have anticarcinogenic effects at levels at which consumers are exposed to in a normal diet <sup>109-110</sup>. In fact, a cohort study of over 120,000 Dutch aged between 1986 and 1992 determined average BHA and BHT intake based on chemical analysis of reported frequently consumed foods (105 and 351  $\mu$ g/day, respectively) and correlated these with the incidence of stomach cancers within the cohort. They did not find a significant association between stomach cancer and normal intakes of BHA or BHT <sup>110</sup>. On the other hand, animal studies continue to raise concerns about other adverse health effects<sup>111</sup>. Both synthetic phenolics are known to affect thyroid function and the development of a grouped acceptable daily intake (ADI) rather than individual ADIs has been suggested<sup>112</sup>. It is also reported that European children may have daily intakes above the current ADIs<sup>112</sup>. Therefore, although low doses of BHA and BHT may be considered safe, it would be advisable to limit their use.

As for TBHQ, the molecule shows potential effects on the immune system, based on highthroughput screening and toxicological data, as well as laboratory animal and epidemiologic studies<sup>113</sup>. TBHQ may also interact with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* probiotic bacteria and enhance their anti-cancer properties on human colorectal adenocarcinoma cells<sup>114</sup> or reduce the neurotoxicity associated with amphetamine intake in rats<sup>115</sup>.

Natural antioxidants are linked to many health benefits. In the case of bioactive polyphenols, these include the prevention of several types of cancer, the alleviation of metabolic syndrome symptoms, and the reduction of risk factors for coronary heart disease; however, further studies must be conducted to recommend an appropriate daily intake for public health<sup>116</sup>. Consumers tend to distrust synthetic food additives<sup>117</sup>, but associate natural food antioxidants with health<sup>118</sup>; natural antioxidants are therefore highly sought out in a variety of foods. The health effects of flavonoids will be further discussed in section 2.3.2.1.

# 2.3 Phenolic compounds

One of the categories of antioxidants has gained a lot of interest due to the diversity of its bioactive properties: phenolic compounds, also known as polyphenols. These are compounds containing one or more aromatic rings with hydroxyl groups and other substituents<sup>46</sup>. Polyphenols can be further classified into different classes, according to their structure, as indicated in Figure 2.2.



*Figure 2.2* Classification of polyphenols<sup>46</sup>.

# 2.3.1 Occurrence

Most polyphenols are formed in plants via the shikimate pathway, which generates phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan, followed by the phenylpropanoid pathway, in which phenylalanine undergoes different reactions to form flavonoids, lignans and coumarins<sup>119</sup>. Animals cannot produce polyphenols, and they are uncommon in bacteria, fungi and algae<sup>46</sup>.

Many fruits, vegetables and herbs along with wine, coffee, tea and dark chocolate figure amongst the 100 foods richest in polyphenols <sup>120</sup>. Daily phenolic intake is heavily diet-dependant, but some estimates suggest around 1g per day. Coffee, tea, wine, soy products, chocolate drinking and consumption habits have a large influence on total phenolic intake. When plants are transformed into food products, some polyphenol-rich parts are discarded, including the pomace, seeds, and peels. These provide the industry with a potent source of nutraceuticals and food additives to be extracted and incorporated into other food products, providing them with an added value <sup>121</sup>. The polyphenol content of fruits, vegetables, and other foods has been vastly studied and has been compiled in reviews<sup>122</sup> and books<sup>123-124</sup>.

# 2.3.2 Flavonoids

Flavonoids are a class of low molecular weight polyphenols with the same basic structure: a flavan. Based on additional functional groups, flavonoids can be further categorized as flavan-3-ols, anthocyanidins, flavonols, flavones, flavanones or isoflavones<sup>125</sup> (Figures 2.2 and 2.3). They exhibit a variety of biological properties in plants, animals, and bacteria: they can act as UV filters, signal molecules, phytoalexins, cryoprotectants, colorant, etc.<sup>126-128</sup> Flavonoids can be extracted from onion discards, pomegranate peel and macadamia skin rejected during processing<sup>129</sup>.

# 2.3.2.1 Health benefits of flavonoids

An abundance of research has been conducted on the health impacts of flavonoids. They were once classified as vitamin P but were eventually deemed non-essential to the human diet<sup>130</sup>. While epidemiological studies have linked the consumption of flavonoid-containing foods with healthier populations and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated their bioactive effects, the precise effects of flavonoids on human health have yet to be confirmed. This uncertainty is in part caused by their ranging bioavailability as well as sometimes inconsistent or irreproducible results<sup>131</sup>.

Although an array of investigated health claims exists, the strongest associations between flavonoids and health have been found in coronary artery disease and strokes<sup>131</sup>. Because there are few antioxidants in artery walls compared to blood plasma, low-density lipoproteins that encounter arterial lesions are subject to oxidation and can then be phagocyted by foam cells and form arterial plaque<sup>132</sup>. Tea catechins have been found to reduce the importance of cardiovascular disease in animal studies by reducing macrophage intake of low-density lipoprotein, which in turn decreases the formation of abnormal plaque in arteries' inner wall<sup>133</sup>. Many other probable mechanisms of atherosclerosis prevention by polyphenols have been identified and are under study<sup>134</sup>.

In diabetic rats, tea catechins were also found to help reduce blood plasma glucose levels when ingested prior to starch and sucrose consumption by inhibiting intestinal  $\alpha$ -amylase and brush border membrane sucrase<sup>135</sup>. Flavonoids have also been found to help counteract diabetic complications, such as retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy<sup>136</sup>. These results suggest an alleviation in diabetic symptoms and complications associated with flavonoid consumption. Higher intakes of flavonoids at midlife were associated with healthy aging, defined as living past 70 years of age with "no major chronic diseases or major impairments in cognitive or physical function or mental health" in a clinical cohort study including over 13,000 women<sup>137</sup>. Other studies have indicated anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, anti-angiogenic as well as other effects associated with flavonoids and green tea extracts<sup>125, 138</sup>.

Various flavonoid supplements are available on the market. Although many studies are available on the benefits of a high-flavonoid whole food diet, such as consumption of fruits, tea and cacao, little is known about highly purified flavonoid consumption, their interactions, product safety and effectiveness<sup>139</sup>. Nutritionists rather recommend that consumers eat fruits and vegetables as a whole to ingest flavonoids along with other healthy plant metabolites such as vitamins, minerals and dietary fibre<sup>140</sup>.

### 2.3.2.2 Uses of flavonoids in the food industry

Flavonoids have been or could be used in the food industry in several ways. Tea catechins have been shown to effectively protect oxidation-prone compounds, mainly lipids, from the effects of hydroxyl, superoxide, peroxyl and 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals, in vitro, in foods such as fresh and frozen chicken<sup>141-142</sup>. Their major source as an additive is from tea leaves because it is abundant, available internationally and relatively inexpensive<sup>143</sup>. These flavonoids can also be used in beef, pork and fish products; however, the concentration of catechins used in fish products must be higher than in meat products due to the higher unsaturation of the fatty acid fish contains<sup>144</sup>. In comparison with BHT, the thermal stability of catechins in oils has been found to be superior<sup>145</sup>. A biodegradable poly(lactic acid)-poly(hydroxybutarate) plasticized by acetyl(tributyl citrate) and rendered active with catechin, giving it thermal stability and antioxidant properties, has been produced as a suitable alternative to other traditional food packaging, based on its physico-chemical properties<sup>146</sup>. The shelf-life of pork sausages can also be extended by the addition of a chitosan-based active film with added green tea extract. This extract contained various polyphenols, including (+)-catechin, epigallocatechin (EGC), epicatechin (EC) and epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), and was found to decrease the thiobarbituric acid value of the sausage even after 20 days compared to controls<sup>147</sup>.

Some challenges to the addition of flavonoids as natural antioxidants in food products persist. Phenolic compounds can react with components in food products, mainly proteins, leading them to aggregate and precipitate, causing adverse effects in the food as well as the loss of the phenolic additive's functionality<sup>148-149</sup>. To counteract this problem, phenolics including flavonoids can be encapsulated. For example, (+)-catechin and EGCG can be added to liposomes and incorporated into low-fat hard cheese effectively. However, researchers found that this technology needs improvements to increase the encapsulation efficiency, improve solvent compatibility, reduce cost, increase capsule stability, and improve sensory properties<sup>150</sup>.

In the case of flavanols, the degradation induced by processing and the destabilization resulting from neutral and alkaline media defeats their purpose as food antioxidants and

nutrients<sup>151</sup>. Different approaches have been attempted to improve their applicability, including structural modifications<sup>152-153</sup> and even their combination with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* as a protective yeast<sup>154</sup>. Palmitoylated green tea catechins, formulated to improve the oil solubility of the flavanols, is currently used in products such as cookies, mayonnaise, frosting, nut spreads and more<sup>155</sup>.

Another obstacle is solubility; chosen antioxidants must be compatible with the solvent or matrix to which they are added. As such, the choice of solvent has been shown to have an effect on genistein's antioxidant mechanism<sup>97</sup>. In the case of quercetin, decreasing solvent polarity increased its radical scavenging capacity<sup>156</sup>. For both epicatechin and quercetin, antioxidant activity is diminished by a hydrogen-bonding solvent compared to a solvent in which this interaction does not take place<sup>157</sup>. Flavonoids have low solubility in fats and oils, and their effect in these is therefore minimal. Their use could be more suitable in emulsions<sup>158</sup>. In fact, phosphatidylcholine has been used to emulsify green tea catechins to dissolve them in oils<sup>159</sup>. This strategy could be useful to dissolve (+)-catechin and other flavanols in edible oils and other fatty foods.

#### 2.4 (+)-Catechin and other flavanols

Along with epicatechin, (+)-catechin is one of the most studied flavanols, a sub-class of flavonoids with a hydroxyl group attached to the third position of their C-ring<sup>160</sup> (Figure 2.3). This sub-class is also often referred to as flavan-3-ols or catechins. The latter may lead to confusion between the compound (+)-catechin and the class of compounds derived from it. For example, the phrase "catechin content" is sometimes used, alluding to the sum of various flavanols.

R₁	Common name	$\mathbf{R}_1$	$\mathbf{R}_2$	C-2	C-3
Он	(+)-catechin	Η	Н	R	S
	(-)-epicatechin	Н	Н	R	R
OH	(-)-epigallocatechin	OH	Н	R	R
o o o	(-)-epigallocatechin gallate	OH	Gallate	R	R
ÓH R <sub>2</sub>	(-)-epicatechin gallate	Н	Gallate	S	S

Figure 2.3 Structure of common flavan-3-ols<sup>161-162</sup>.

(+)-Catechin is ubiquitous in a variety of plants, some of which are consumed fresh, processed into foods, or harvested for their medicinal properties<sup>163</sup>. The catechin content of plants varies according to species<sup>164</sup>, harvesting season<sup>165</sup>, growth environment<sup>166</sup>, processing conditions<sup>167</sup>, as well as many other factors. Flavanols are the main type of polyphenols in green tea, comprising up to 83 % of its total polyphenol content<sup>168</sup> and up to 30 % of the leaves' dry mass<sup>169</sup>. Their substituents and configuration affect their performance in scavenging activity tests as well as their stability<sup>170</sup>. The total catechin and epicatechin contents of food sources are listed in Table 2.1. The two compounds are diastereoisomers.

Source	Content	By serving (mg)
Chocolate	460–610 mg/kg	23–30
Beans	350–550 mg/kg	70–110
Apricot	100–250 mg/kg	20–50
Cherry	50–220 mg/kg	10–44
Grape	30–175 mg/kg	6–35
Peach	50–140 mg/kg	10–28
Blackberry	130 mg/kg	13
Apple	20–120 mg/kg	4–24
Green tea	100–800 mg/L	20–160
Black tea	60–500 mg/L	12–100
Red wine	80–300 mg/L	8–30
Cider	40 mg/L	8

Table 2.1. Occurrence of catechin and epicatechin in selected food sources<sup>122</sup>.

#### 2.4.1 Antioxidant mechanism and activity of (+)-catechin

(+)-Catechin has the ability to donate a hydrogen atom via a HAT, which gives it radical scavenging properties<sup>171</sup>. This is related to their one-electron reduction potential, which is similar to tocopherols but higher than ascorbic acid; they can therefore donate electrons less readily than ascorbic acid<sup>172</sup>. DPPH assays have been performed and show that although the reduction potential of flavanols is greater than that of ascorbic acid, the former are better radical scavengers<sup>173</sup>, whereas the latter are more efficient ferric ion chelators<sup>174</sup>. Other studies suggest the electron donation mechanism of (+)-catechin depends on the solvent polarity and would rather involve a sequential proton loss-electron transfer or a single electron transfer-proton transfer in solution<sup>175</sup>.

(+)-Catechin can donate up to two hydrogen atoms and their associated electrons, which originate from the hydroxyl groups on catechin's B-ring<sup>176</sup>. This oxidative process converts (+)-catechin to a semiquinone radical upon a first HAT, and finally to a quinone, dehydrocatechin, upon a second HAT<sup>177</sup> (Figure 2.4). The (+)-catechin semiquinone radical formed is highly stable compared to other flavonol or flavone radicals<sup>178</sup>.



Figure 2.4 Oxidation of (+)-Catechin<sup>176-177</sup>.

Catechins can also chelate metals, such as aluminum, copper, iron and zinc, which often have prooxidant properties. For example, they can chelate copper and iron ions, which in turn keeps these transition metal ions form catalyzing the free radical formation of other molecules<sup>171</sup>. Evidence suggests that this could be done via the B-ring and via a gallate moiety, in the case of epicatechin gallate or epigallocatechin gallate, for example<sup>179-180</sup>. It has been shown that metalflavonoid complexes have a greater antioxidant potential than the flavonoids themselves, probably due to the gain of a new superoxide dismutation center, capable of scavenging superoxide, an ROS<sup>181-183</sup>. Aluminum has been identified as the metal granting the greatest antioxidant efficiency between the four aforementioned metals, and that ascorbic acids plays a synergistic role with the complexes<sup>184</sup>. Flavonoids have been reported to chelate in flavonoid-to-ferrous ion ratios ranging from 1:1 to 3:1 under near-neutral conditions. The higher flavonoid-to-metal ratios involve the adjacent carbonyl and hydroxyl groups on the C-ring; intermediate ratios were found for flavonoids with o-dihydroxyl B-rings; and equimolar ratios were found for a flavone with a trihydroxylated A-ring<sup>185</sup>. Therefore, under a pH near 7, two molecules of (+)-catechin can form a complex with a ferrous ion<sup>186</sup> (Figure 2.5). Additional studies confirm the role of B-ring hydroxyl groups in metal chelation and imply that deprotonation caused by radical scavenging could even enhance metal chelation activity<sup>184</sup>. Different conditions have been found to affect (+)-catechin's iron chelation mechanism and kinetics. At a low pH the ligand-metal complexes formed are unstable and break down, forming a catechin quinone and reducing  $Fe^{3+}$  to  $Fe^{2+}$  in the process. At a pH between one and three, (+)-catechin can reduce twice as many ferric ions. The reaction

mechanism is dependent on whether the flavanol or the metal is present in excess<sup>187</sup>. Iron in the ferrous form is more bioavailable than ferric iron<sup>188</sup> but induces more oxidative damage<sup>189</sup>.



*Figure 2.5* Iron (II) chelation by (+)-catechin<sup>186</sup>.

(+)-Catechin's antioxidant activity is therefore due, in part, to its ferric ion reducing ability. This property is measured by the ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay, which associates a FRAP value to the analyte<sup>190</sup>. (+)-Catechin's FRAP value is greater than resveratrol's, but lower than the determined values for quercetin, myricetin or gallic acid<sup>191</sup>.

Studies indicate that (+)-catechin is not the most efficient antioxidant of the flavanol class, which is rather EGCG, based on its hydrogen peroxide and radical scavenging activities<sup>192</sup>. Nonetheless, (+)-catechin can be used as a simpler model in place of other flavanols to help advance the understanding of their reaction with other compounds<sup>193</sup>.

### 2.4.2 Oxidative reactions of (+)-catechin

(+)-Catechin oxidation leads to the formation of dimers, which can further oligomerize, due to the high reactivity of the monomer's quinone form<sup>194</sup>. (+)-Catechin has been observed to epimerize, forming epicatechin, in basic aqueous solutions<sup>195</sup> and under heating. Therefore, resulting dimers may be formed by intermolecular bonds between (+)-catechin and/or epicatechin subunits. Dimers can either be formed by cross-linkage of two catechin units between one unit's A-ring and the other's B- or C-ring. The former (A-C bond) results in the generation of procyanidins, whereas the latter (A-B bond) forms dehydrodicatechins<sup>196</sup>. Dehydrodicatechins (DhC<sub>2</sub>) are typically classified as either type A or B, although researchers have suggested more specific notation methods to clarify the structures (Figure 2.6), due to evident confusion between the subunit ring and the type of linkage involved<sup>196</sup>. While DhC<sub>2</sub> B ( $\beta_{AB}$  or  $\epsilon_{AB}$  linkage) is formed via a single linkage and remains colorless, like (+)-catechin, the extended conjugation of DhC<sub>2</sub> A

( $\alpha_{AB}$ ,  $\gamma_{AB}$ , or  $\delta_{AB}$  linkage) involving ether and carbon-carbon linkages, making them appear yellow<sup>194, 197</sup>.



*Figure 2.6* Nomenclature of dehydrodicatechins and procyanidins proposed by Verloop, Gruppen and Vincken<sup>196</sup>.

(A) Different types of catechin dimer configurations. (B) Example of the proposed nomenclature for a catechin oligomer. Circles represent oxygen atoms and lines represent covalent bonds. EC, epicatechin. Teal shade, terminal unit; grey, extension unit.

#### 2.5 Reactions between phenolic compounds and amino acids

Various reactions can take place between amino acids and quinones or flavonoids in foods, biological systems, and model solutions. These depend on the reactants' structures, which in turn can depend on their environment. Phenolic compounds have different reactive functional groups, whereas amino acid side chains have a range of properties which influence the reaction they can undergo. The main reactions known to occur between these types of compounds are the formation of Schiff bases and Michael additions of amines and thiols. These reactions are biologically important for some organisms, particularly when products polymerize<sup>198</sup>. For example, the polymerization of certain flavanols with protein's amino groups has considered as a key factor in insect exoskeleton sclerotization<sup>199</sup>. They are also involved in the crosslinking of adhesive proteins by marine organisms<sup>200</sup> and the biosynthesis of melanin<sup>201</sup>.

Phenolic compounds and amino acids have been found to react in certain food matrices. In honey, polyphenols form high molecular weight complexes with proteins under heated or prolonged storage conditions via covalent bonding. This reduces polyphenol availability as an antioxidant and modifies the affected proteins' functionalities<sup>202</sup>. The reaction mechanism has not been identified, but the reactions discussed below could explain the changes observed in honey. In a cookie model system, spray-dried olive mill wastewater reduces Maillard reaction products due to its high secoiridoids content, which react with asparagine, forming both Schiff bases and Michael addition products<sup>203</sup>.

# 2.5.1 Schiff base formation

Schiff bases are compounds with an imine structure (Figure 2.7). They are formed when a primary amine reacts with an aldehyde or ketone under favoring conditions, in the presence of trace acid<sup>204</sup>. The reaction is due to the carbonyl's electrophilic nature and the amine's nucleophilicity<sup>205</sup>. The reaction has been exploited to create cross-linking in various polymers, such as hydrogels for medical applications<sup>206</sup>. Schiff base formation is also the first step of a complex series of reactions that occur in foods, most commonly between sugars and amino acids, known as the Maillard reaction, which results in browning and the production of a multitude of fragrant compounds<sup>207-208</sup>. Schiff bases are usually unstable, and quickly rearrange or react with other compounds<sup>209</sup>.



*Figure 2.7* General Schiff base formation between an aldehyde or ketone and a primary amine<sup>210-211</sup>.

Published literature relating to the formation of Schiff bases derived from quinones is scarce. (+)-Catechin Schiff bases and their degradation products have been reportedly formed

between (+)-catechin and glycine upon heating in water until complete evaporation<sup>176</sup> as well as between (-)-epicatechin and lysine under slightly basic aqueous conditions at 70 °C<sup>212</sup>. Older research suggested that Schiff bases only form concurrently with addition products<sup>213-215</sup>. This theory has been supported by others<sup>216-217</sup>.

### 2.5.2 Strecker degradation

The classic Strecker degradation involves the sequential decarboxylation and hydrolysis of Schiff bases with an  $\alpha$ -keto imine structure, releasing carbon dioxide, a 1,2-enaminol and a Strecker aldehyde<sup>218-219</sup> (Figure 2.8). This constitutes an amino acid deamination mechanism. Further reactions may produce ammonia and other compounds from the initial Strecker degradation products<sup>218</sup>. Strecker degradation impacts flavour generation, as the formed aldehydes have low detection thresholds<sup>220</sup> (Table 2.2).



*Figure 2.8* Typical Strecker degradation of a Schiff base formed between an *o*-quinone and glycine<sup>218-219</sup>.

Strecker degradation reactions of quinone/amino acid mixtures have been reported in the literature. In neutral solutions containing oxidizing potassium hexacyanoferrate (III), phenylacetaldehyde and methional were produced from the reaction between some phenolic and phenylalanine or methionine, respectively, at room temperature. The tested phenolic compounds included (+)-catechin and epicatechin<sup>217</sup>. In another study, phenolic compounds were heated in the presence of phenylalanine. Phenylacetaldehyde, the amino acid's corresponding Strecker aldehyde, was produced in mixtures of phenylalanine with 4-MC, HQ, *para*-benzoquinone (p-BQ) and other simple *ortho*- and *para*-diphenols at a pH of 3. Increasing pH had a decreasing effect on the concentration of Strecker aldehydes. However, (+)-catechin and other complex flavonoids did not produce significant levels of the Strecker aldehydes, suggesting that either Schiff bases are not produced under the experimental conditions, or that these do not undergo a Strecker degradation<sup>221</sup>.

*Table 2.2* Detection threshold of Strecker aldehydes found in beer, determined by the ascending method of limits test and a performed three alternate forced choice test<sup>220</sup>.

Strecker aldehydes	Threshold (ppb)	Aroma
2-Methylpropanal	86*	varnish, grainy, fruity
2-Methylbutanal	45	almond, apple-like, malty
3-Methylbutanal	56*	malty, almond, cherry, chocolate
Benzaldehyde	515	almond, cherry stone
Phenyl acetaldehyde	105	hyacinth, floral, roses
Methional	4.2	cooked potatoes, worty

\*Odor detection threshold. All other thresholds are combined odor and flavour detection thresholds. ppb, parts per billion.

The presence of certain compounds has been found to inhibit Strecker degradation. For example, the presence of glucose has been reported to decrease phenylacetaldehyde production when added to a phenylalanine/catechin mixture in a wine model system<sup>222</sup>, possibly due to competing reactivity of the amino acid with glucose, leading to the formation of different products. The presence of 2-pentenal decreases phenylacetaldehyde levels resulting from phenylalanine reacted with simple phenolic compounds, such as catechol, HQ, or *p*-BQ. This was found despite the ability of both 2-pentenal and the phenolic compounds to produce phenylacetaldehyde upon reaction with the amino acid, suggesting an antagonist effect. This may be due to phenolic compounds' ability to react with both phenylacetaldehyde, resulting in its destruction, as well as 2-pentenal, creating competition between the 2-pentenal/phenylalanine and 2-pentenal/phenolic compound reactions<sup>223</sup>. The effect of other lipid-derived products on Strecker aldehyde formation should be further studied, as this could have an impact on the flavor of oxidized fatty acids in the presence of compounds such as phenols and amino acids.

# 2.5.3 Michael addition

Michael additions are addition reactions of nucleophiles to conjugated compounds, i.e.  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ unsaturated carbonyls, that occur via an enolate intermediate and produce thioethers, secondary amines, or other adducts depending on the nucleophile<sup>224</sup>. The reaction's mechanism is shown in Figure 2.9 and is the same for the addition of primary amines and thiols, although their reactivities differ<sup>225</sup>. The Michael addition of amines and thiols to *o*-quinones are thought to be similar to their addition to *p*-quinones<sup>215</sup>.



*Figure 2.9* Michael addition mechanism between an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehyde or ketone and a primary amine.

Conjugate additions of thiols and amines to quinones have been demonstrated to occur under a variety of conditions and is postulated to affect foods in different ways. For example, (-)epicatechin and (-)-epigallocatechin gallate can bind Nε-carboxymethyl lysine (CML), a compound associated with adverse health effects, through Michael addition of the CML's amino groups with the polyphenols' B-ring. It is thought this trapping mechanism could play a role in reducing CML concentrations in foods such as processed coconut milk<sup>226</sup>. The efficiency of aminequinone addition can be modulated using an immobilized lipase, reaching a 98 % conversion of 2methyl-1,4-benzoquinone to the target product using butylamine as a nucleophile<sup>227</sup>. Conjugate additions of thiols have also been observed between glutathione and caftaric acid in white wine, inhibiting its browning. The reaction is accompanied by the regeneration of caftaric acid's benzenediol moiety<sup>228</sup>. Cysteine forms adducts with 4-MC through addition reactions, which competitively inhibit polyphenol oxidase due to their higher affinity as the enzyme's substrate. In solutions containing lower cysteine than 4-MC concentrations, the adducts regenerate the 4methylbenzoquinones, leading to pigmentation as they undergo enzymatic reactions. At higher cysteine concentrations, the adducts are formed without color formation<sup>229</sup>.

## 2.5.3 Influence of reaction parameters

### 2.5.3.1 Reactants

Michael additions often involve the nucleophilic addition of thiols, thioethers, primary and secondary amines, and hydroxyl groups to quinones<sup>230</sup>. In 3,4-estrone *o*-quinone, Michael addition products were formed with mimics of histidine, cysteine, tyrosine and aspartate/glutamate side-chains, but not with mimics of serine, glutamine/asparagine, arginine and tryptophan side-chains<sup>231</sup>. This indicates different Michael donors have different reactivities. The reaction rates of free thiol- and/or free amine-containing residues with 4-methylbenzoquinone (4-MBQ) have been studied and indicate that cysteine-rich proteins react at least times 10<sup>5</sup> times faster via Michael addition compared to proteins with abundant free amine and guanidine residues<sup>225</sup>. Furthermore,
thiol groups are more likely to undergo Michael addition than Schiff base formation when reacting with polydopamine. Aromatic amines favor the Michael addition whereas aliphatic amines enhance the formation of Schiff bases<sup>232</sup>. Soft nucleophiles such as thiols favor Michael addition, but primary amines, which are considered intermediate nucleophiles, can participate in both reactions<sup>224</sup>. Overall, the reactants are the main determinant for the reaction undergone<sup>232</sup>.

#### 2.5.3.2 pH

In wine, Michael additions of phenylalanine and methionine to 4-MC did not occur<sup>233</sup>. However, this conclusion was based solely on the undetected initial adducts, and their possible degradation products were overlooked. Michael additions usually require a neutral or basic medium<sup>234</sup>, so a low pH may inhibit the addition reaction. It was found that at neutral pH, 96 % of products formed from the reaction of catechol with aniline were from the Michael addition and 4 % were derived from the Schiff base reaction, whereas at a pH of 11.7, only Michael addition products were observed<sup>232</sup>. This is linked to the accelerated reaction rate due to the protonation state of the amine group<sup>235</sup>. This trend also applies to the Michael addition of thiols to EGCG: at a pH of 7, the cysteine-EGCG Michael addition is nearly complete during its initial phase (first 25 hours), whereas at a pH of 4 the reaction was slower and further from completion even after approximately 95 hours<sup>236</sup>. This study did not assess Schiff base formation, as only thiols were investigated. For amines to serve as nucleophiles, they should not be charged, and therefore the reaction should occur at a pH above their pKa<sup>237</sup>. Mild acidic media is often used for Schiff base synthesis, as the reaction is acid-base catalyzed but a pH that is too low will increase the amine's protonation and decrease its nucleophilicity as well<sup>238</sup>.

The type of base used to catalyze Michael additions has an impact on the reaction's equilibrium constant ( $K_{eq}$ ). Strong bases result in a large  $K_{eq}$  and first-order reaction kinetics, whereas weak bases will produce moderate  $K_{eq}$  and second order kinetics<sup>239</sup>. However, strong bases such as hydroxides or methoxides can hydrolyze esters and cause other side-reactions, so non-nucleophilic bases are often preferable<sup>239</sup>.

#### 2.5.3.3 Solvent

In terms of solvents, Michael additions are typically performed in methanol, ethanol, diethyl ether, tetrahydrofuran, benzene, xylene, dioxane, or a mixture of the solvents<sup>239</sup>. Within 5 minutes, 1,4-naphthoquinone and *n*-propylamine react in water at room temperature with a 95 %

yield of 2-aminonaphthoquinone. In the same study, similar results were observed with different p-quinones and amines, even when sterically hindered<sup>240</sup>. Therefore, aqueous solvents promote high addition reaction rates and yields, thus offering a suitable green alternative to traditional organic solvents<sup>240-241</sup>. Under neat conditions at room temperature, Michael addition products can occur between thiophenol and methyl vinyl ketone with a reaction yield of 76 % after 30 minutes of mixing, which was found to be greater than when several solvents, including water (32 %) and dichloromethane (50 %) were used<sup>242</sup>. The traditional solvents used for Michael additions are methanol, ethanol, diethyl ether, tetrahydrofuran, benzene, xylene and dioxane; special care must be taken in the choice of solvent to avoid side-reactions and dissolve reactants<sup>239</sup>.

Schiff bases, on the other hand, may form in aqueous solutions, alcoholic solvents, organic solvents, etc. In aqueous solvents, acid-base catalysis or heat are usually applied<sup>238</sup>. Because water is produced during the condensation reaction, its removal is a common strategy to shift the reaction equilibrium and favor the product formation<sup>243</sup>. In dioxane, acids and peroxides have a strong catalytic effect and the reaction is accelerated by exposure to white light<sup>244</sup>. It is also possible to produce Schiff bases under solvent-free conditions. A P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> catalyst supported on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is sufficient to accelerate the reaction between benzaldehyde and aliphatic or aromatic primary amines ground together at room temperature under solvent-free conditions, resulting in a high Schiff base yield in a short amount of time<sup>245</sup>. Schiff bases can also be produced in solvent-free mixtures. The reaction between glucose and different amino acids is accelerated mechanochemically by ball milling at room temperature and produces Schiff bases<sup>246</sup>.

#### 2.5.3.4 Temperature

Schiff bases can be formed between aldehydes and primary amines under mild temperatures easily if excess water is removed, but ketone Schiff bases require more reactive conditions, including high temperatures, excess amines, catalysts, and longer reaction times<sup>247</sup>. Michael additions are also favored by high temperatures and long reaction times<sup>224</sup>. Therefore, temperature treatments cannot be exploited to favour one reaction pathway.

#### 2.5.3.5 Catalysts and presence of other compounds

In the presence of a polyphenol oxidase or ferricyanide catalyst, Strecker aldehydes are produced from mixtures of amino acids, catechols, and molecular oxygen under mild conditions<sup>216</sup>. Lewis acids such as boron trifluoride, aluminum trichloride or zinc chloride have also been used

to catalyze Michael additions. These slightly withdraw electrons from the carbonyl, thus activating the alkene<sup>248</sup>. Michael additions are also favored by the presence of copper catalysts<sup>224</sup>.

#### 2.5.4 Effect of functional group on antioxidant activity

Replacing a functional group by another, such as replacing a hydroxyl group by an amino group, could theoretically result in a variation of the compound's antioxidant activity due to a structural change. This change could occur during Schiff base formation followed by the Strecker degradation. Additionally, the position of substituents could impact an aromatic compound's reducing ability. A comparative study reported the changes in induction period between catechol, HQ, 1,2-aminophenol, and 1,4-aminophenol, at both 110 and 170 °C. The results suggest that the substitution of a phenolics hydroxyl groups with amines could, at around 110 °C, increase their oxidative stability, whether the two substituents are in the *ortho-* or *para*-position. This could be caused by oxygen and nitrogen's similar electronegativities, as well as the resonance structure of *ortho-* and *para*-substituted benzenes. At a higher temperature, the difference is unclear. In the case of dihydroxy functional groups, the ortho configuration is more stable than the para configuration, but in aminophenols, there is no significant difference between these positions<sup>249</sup> (Table 2.3). As for (+)-catechin, the introduction of a dimethylamino group to its B-ring enhances the compound's antioxidant activity by decreasing the 3'- and 4'-OH bond dissociation energies.

Compound	Induction time			
Compound	110 °C (days)	170 °C (h)		
1,2-Dihydroxybenzene (Catechol)	1.5	0.5		
1,4-Dihydroxybenzene (HQ)	1	0.25		
1,2-Aminophenol	2.5	0.5		
1,4-Aminophenol	2.5	0.5		

*Table 2.3* Induction time of heated di-substituted benzenes<sup>249</sup>.

### 2.6 Potential regeneration of (+)-catechin's antioxidant activity

The regeneration of antioxidants has been studied in the past. Four phenolic antioxidants, including (+)-catechin, converted to radicals by one electron oxidation, were found to be regenerated to different extents by other antioxidants, and most efficiently by all-rac- $\alpha$ -

tocopherol<sup>250</sup>. It has also been found that although the presence of thiols such as glutathione can accelerate the oxidation of EGCG in emulsions, the adducts formed "[do] not appear to compromise the oxidative stability of food lipids"<sup>236</sup>. Additionally, sources propose chemical mechanisms in which the hydroxyl moiety is regenerated when nucleophile is added to *o*- or *p*-quinone structures via Michael addition<sup>215</sup>. Some reports propose that the mono-substituted *o*-benzoquinone produced by 1,4-addition of glycine to HQ can undergo condensation with another glycine molecule and oxidatively deaminate the latter before the regeneration the monosubstituted HQ<sup>214</sup>. If the added group does not inhibit antioxidant activity, the hydroxyl group could potentially participate in antioxidant activities again. In the case of the direct addition of an amino acid, it has been shown that amino acids can react with flavonoids' B-ring to form Schiff bases<sup>176</sup>. Phenolic compounds including catechol, HQ, and p-BQ, produced phenylacetaldehyde when heated in the presence of phenylalanine at acidic pH<sup>221</sup>, indicating the occurrence of Strecker degradation.

#### 2.7 Review of analytical methods

### 2.7.1 Structural identification of phenolic compounds and their amino acid adducts

The detection of products generated during the reaction between amino acids and quinones is generally determined by mass spectrometric methods. Adducts formed between 4-MBQ and amino acids have been successfully using ultra-performance liquid chromatography with a mobile phase gradient composed of 0.1 % ammonium formate and methanol, followed by electrospray ionization (ESI) in the positive mode on a quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometer (MS/MS)<sup>251</sup>. Other mobile phase gradients involving 0.1 % formic acid in water and acetonitrile have been used with a similar liquid chromatography coupled to ESI-MS/MS have been used to identify phenylalanine/gallic acid adducts<sup>252</sup>. Rosmarinic acid-derived adducts and dimers formed by its reaction with lysine or cysteine have also been identified using flow injection and omitting chromatographic separation, also followed by ESI-MS/MS, although the negative ionization mode was used in this case<sup>253</sup>. MS/MS provides an accurate mass for the detected ions as well as fragmentation products which can help elucidate both the molecular formula and the structure of adducts. In untargeted analyses, an isotopic labelling technique is useful in discriminating between mass spectrometric peaks formed by adducts and other products, natural isotopes, or sample contaminants<sup>254</sup>.

Cysteinyl-catechin adducts can also be detected and their structure determined by combining results of <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometry by analyzing the chemical shifts of a magnetic field<sup>255</sup>. A similar approach has also been used for the analysis of collagen/( $\pm$ )-catechin interactions<sup>256</sup> and to identify caffeic acid quinone/*o*-phenylenediamine adducts<sup>216</sup>. The chemical shifts are caused by the electron shielding of an atom's nucleus, which is affected by the other atoms it is bonded to through coupling effects<sup>257</sup>.

Fourier-transform infrared spectrometry (FTIR) can also prove useful in the identification of functional groups as was the case for a catechol/arginine derivative, although the full structural elucidation of adducts requires complementary analysis<sup>258</sup>. FTIR has been used to study the effect of phloretin on human serum albumin's secondary structure, providing information on their complex formation<sup>259</sup>. Antioxidants can be quantified in edible plant material and oils by FTIR, based on their structural characteristics<sup>76</sup>. The FTIR absorption regions for many of (+)-catechin's substituents are known<sup>193</sup> (Appendix 7.3). Therefore, structural changes associated with the oxidation of flavonoids could potentially be detected and monitored by FTIR. However, because the oxidation of flavanols entails various cross-linked and carbonyl structures, large sample sets and extensive data processing would be required to build a calibration model<sup>260</sup>. No previous studies monitoring the structural changes during the oxidation of (+)-catechin or other polyphenolic antioxidants using FTIR have been found. However, related methods for the measurement of antioxidant activity in wine by FTIR have been developed<sup>260-262</sup>.

# 2.7.2 Study of oxidative processes and reactions of phenolic compounds via their absorbance of UV and visible light

UV-visible spectrometry is commonly used to obtain preliminary information on flavonol oxidation and their reaction products, due to the UV absorbance of the A-ring around 250-285 nm and the B-ring around 320-385 nm<sup>263</sup>, as well as the visible absorbance of pigments formed through oxidation and rearrangements. As such, two absorption bands can be detected when quercetin is analyzed by UV-vis spectrometry, due to its B-ring at  $\lambda$ =369 nm its A-ring at  $\lambda$ =258 nm, caused by  $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$  transitions within the structures<sup>183</sup>. Visible spectrometry is useful not only to study the progress of reaction but also to determine its effect of color, which affects the quality perception of foods.

Solutions of (+)-catechin display an evolving UV-vis spectrum over time when incubated, and this process is accelerated in the presence of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> or a high pH. After approximately 50 days, two peaks appear at 375 and 410 nm whereas the bands initially at 258 and 369 nm become less resolved as a consequence of (+)-catechin's oxidation<sup>193</sup>. Therefore, oxidation of flavonoids, namely (+)-catechin and quercetin, can be monitored by observing the changes in UV-visible spectra. One of the limitations of this methods is the absorbance of different compounds at very similar wavelengths<sup>264</sup>, due to their common chromophores. High-performance liquid chromatography is often coupled to a diode array detector to separate compounds before UV-visible absorbance measurements are taken; however, this method cannot scan a range of wavelengths and only provides data for single wavelengths<sup>265</sup>.

# 2.7.3 Analysis of antioxidant activity and reactions of electrochemically active compounds by cyclic voltammetry

Electron-transfer reactions are involved in both reduction and oxidation of flavonoids, making electrochemical methods useful to study their behaviour<sup>266</sup>. One of these methods is cyclic voltammetry (CV), which consists in applying a varying potential to a solution containing a dissolved analyte and measuring the resulting current caused by its redox reactions. This solution must contain a suitable inert electrolyte to minimize the solution's resistance, which could otherwise block the signal<sup>267</sup>.

Equation 2.1 Randles-Sevcik equation<sup>266</sup>.

$$i_p = 0.446 n FAC^0 \left(\frac{n F v D_o}{RT}\right)^{1/2}$$

Where  $i_p$ =peak current, n=number of electrons transferred, F=Faraday's constant, A=electrode surface area,  $C^0$ = bulk concentration of analyte, v=potential scan rate,  $D_o$ =diffusion coefficient of the oxidized analyte, R=universal gas constant and T=temperature.

The resulting voltammogram reflects the current intensity of the solution against the scanned potential<sup>266</sup>. As the analyte is oxidized at the working electrode, it generates a current following the Randles-Sevcik equation (Equation 2.1). In accordance with this equation, scan rates affect the peak current and must therefore be optimally chosen<sup>268</sup>. Compounds oxidized at the working electrode slow the migration of non-oxidized compounds and therefore reduce the

current; this can be an issue when the electrode is not properly cleaned or when the analyte adsorbs strongly to its surface<sup>177</sup>.

CV has long been used to study HQ and p-BQ<sup>269-270</sup>. HQ's oxidation mechanism in aqueous systems involves proton-coupled electron transfer<sup>271</sup>. Its redox potential varies with reaction conditions such as  $pH^{272}$ , the working electrode used due to surface adsorption<sup>267</sup>, the solvent used <sup>273</sup>, etc. These parameters are therefore crucial to the experiment's success and must remain identical to allow reproducibility. For example, in 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH=7.0 using an Ag/Ag<sup>+</sup> reference electrode, HQ's oxidation occurs around 0.42 V<sup>274</sup>. However, in 0.1 M phosphate buffered saline solution with added KCl at pH=7 against a saturated calomel reference electrode, the oxidation potential of the same compound was approximately 0.1 V<sup>275</sup>. In 40:60 water/acetonitrile with 0.15 M phosphate buffer at pH=7.4 and 25 °C against a saturated calomel electrode, the oxidation peak is around  $0.5 V^{272}$ . The previous experiments involved a glassy carbon electrode (GCE) as a working electrode. Factors such as temperature<sup>271</sup>, electrolyte, solvent and different reference electrodes<sup>267</sup> may explain these differences, making it difficult to compare results obtained from different studies. HQ is known to undergo reversible oxidation<sup>274</sup>, as was the case in all three of the previous experiments. In acetonitrile containing 1.78 M water and 0.1 M tetrabutylammonium hexafluorophosphate as an electrolyte, using a GCE working electrode and platinum electrode as a reference, HQ exhibits an oxidation potential at approximately 0.6 V and is electrochemically irreversible<sup>276</sup>, in contrast with the previously mentioned studies.

CV has also shown that p-BQ and HQ undergo a one-step two-electron, two-proton reversible redox process in aqueous systems but p-BQ rather undergoes two consecutive oneelectron reduction steps in non-aqueous systems, which can be observed as two separate cathodic waves in a voltammogram. Under this condition, the first electron transfer is electrochemically reversible whereas the second is quasi-reversible at regular scan rates<sup>273</sup>. This may be explained by the varying level of stability of the semi-quinone in different solvents.

(+)-Catechin, like HQ, can be studied by CV due to its ability to undergo redox reactions. It produces a first pH-dependant reversible peak due to the oxidation of its B-ring hydroxyl groups and a second irreversible peak at higher potentials possibly due to oxidation of less easily oxidized hydroxyl groups, such as the A-ring, or the oxidation of new products formed after the initial oxidation<sup>277</sup>. At higher pH, (+)-catechin is more easily oxidized, as inferred by its lower oxidation

potential, and therefore has greater antioxidant activity<sup>177</sup>. In non-aqueous media, (+)-catechin produces two oxidation peaks but no reduction peaks, pointing to electrochemical irreversibility<sup>278</sup>.

In the last decades, methods to assess antioxidant activity using CV have been developed to study human plasma, animal tissue and edible plants<sup>279</sup>. The method is quick and inexpensive while allowing antioxidant activity measurements under a variety of conditions<sup>280</sup>. The oxidation potential indicates a compound's tendency to donate an electron, which is related to its antioxidant activity. Therefore, "the lower the redox potential, the higher is the antioxidant capacity"<sup>281</sup>. The anodic peak potential has been inversely correlated to the FRAP values<sup>282</sup>, DPPH radical scavenging activity<sup>280</sup>, and total reducing capacity (Folin-Ciocalteu value)<sup>283</sup> of many antioxidants, including flavonoids and wine polyphenols.

Reactions of electrochemically active compounds can be studied by CV; these form voltametric curves typical of a reversible electrochemical step followed by an irreversible homogenous chemical step<sup>266</sup>. By exposing the analyte to a range of concentrations of another reactant and varying reaction conditions, the decrease in the initial anodic and/or cathodic peak as well as arising peaks can provide clues related to the extent of reaction, favoring conditions as well as the reaction mechanism<sup>251, 284</sup>.

For example, the CV of 4-MC shows that the addition of CML does not affect the intensity or oxidation potential of the anodic peak, as 4-MC has a low reactivity. However, the 4-MBQ formed may react with CML and therefore the decreased 4-MBQ concentration at the electrode decreases the intensity of the cathodic peak accordingly, and the newly formed adduct produces a second cathodic peak<sup>284</sup>. The reactivity of CML with various o-quinones including catechol is most efficient at neutral and basic pH due to the deprotonation of CML's amino group, thus maintaining its nucleophilicity. Therefore, at pH = 5.0, CML has no influence on *o*-quinones' cathodic peak's intensity<sup>284</sup>. Similar CV experiments showed that the reactivity of *o*-quinones with nucleophiles such as amino acids increased for *o*-quinones with electron-withdrawing groups and decreased for electron-donating groups or sterically hindered *o*-quinones<sup>251</sup>. CV has also shown that gallic acid, caffeic acid and especially (+)-catechin react with nucleophiles, including phenylalanine and methionine, in wine model systems and may act as antioxidants by capturing quinones<sup>285</sup>.

#### 2.7.4 Measurement of antioxidant activity by colorimetric assays

The antioxidant activity of compounds is traditionally determined by colorimetric assays. These include tests based the analyte's DPPH, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS++), or oxygen radical scavenging activity, as well as its FRAP, and more. Although the mentioned tests are meant to evaluate the total antioxidant capacity of a sample, the determined antioxidant activity depends on the test used, even between those that evaluate the same antioxidant mechanism<sup>286</sup>. The most common colorimetric assays are compared in Table 2.4.

Assay	Basis	Pros	Cons
DPPH radical scavenging <sup>286-287</sup>	Electron transfer, change in $A_{517}$ (or $A_{580}$ ) due to DPPH quenching	Simple, accessible, similar mechanism to peroxyl radicals, highly reproducible, stable radical	Carotenoids absorb at 517 nm, must be modified to solubilize in water
TEAC <sup>286-288</sup>	Electron transfer, change in A <sub>730-734</sub> due to ABTS++ quenching	Suitable for analysis in water and organic solvents, suitable over a wide pH range, simple, inexpensive	Must be combined with FTIR to increase sensitivity, may be underestimated if analytes react slowly, may be irrelevant to biological systems
ORAC <sup>286-287, 289</sup>	Hydrogen atom transfer, change in fluorescence curve area of $E_{514}$ vs time due to fluorescence probe affected by OH· quenching	Most relevant in biological systems, suitable in aqueous systems	Pyrogallols may generate reactive intermediates that degrade the fluorescence probe, low reproducibility
FRAP <sup>287, 290</sup>	Single electron transfer, change in A <sub>593</sub> of iron salt according to iron's oxidation state	Thiols and amino acids cause minimal interference, simple, quick, inexpensive, sensitive, can be modified to analyse antioxidants with different polarities	Value may be slightly affected by iron chelation, precipitation/suspension of the indicator, low correlation with radical quenching

Table 2.4 Comparison between some common spectrometric antioxidant activity assays.

Where DPPH, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl; TEAC, Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity; ORAC, oxygen radical absorbance capacity; FRAP, ferric reducing antioxidant power; A, absorbance at the wavelength(s), in nm, noted in subscript; ABTS•+, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid); and E, emission at the wavelength, in nm, noted in subscript.

Multiple reviews of the different analytical methods used for the determination of antioxidant activity are available<sup>287, 289, 291</sup>. Care must be taken to avoid interference from compounds that absorb or emit light at the studied wavelength<sup>287</sup>.

#### 2.7.5 Determination of antioxidant activity using food-relevant substrates

Antioxidant activity can be measured indirectly through the evaluation of an analyte's effect on the degradation of oxidation-prone substances. DNA strands, RNA strands and lipids are often used as oxidizable biological substrates<sup>289</sup>.

The oxidation of lipids can be assessed using several methods. Traditionally, primary oxidation products are measured by the iodometric titration of hydrogen peroxide to determine the PV, and secondary oxidation products are measured by the colorimetric *p*-anisidine assay to determine the anisidine value (pAV)<sup>292</sup>. The PV of oil has been used as an indicator of antioxidant efficacy of phenolic acids in sunflower oil triglycerides<sup>293</sup>. However, hydroperoxides evaporate when heated and decompose as lipid autoxidation progresses, so the PV of late stage oxidized oils may be lower, giving a false sense of oxidative stability<sup>294</sup>. In this case, the pAV becomes a better indicator. This test has also been used to determine evaluate the antioxidant activity of polyphenols in oils. In sardine oil, catechin was associated with a 12 % decrease in pAV after 14 days of storage at 37 °C in the dark<sup>295</sup>. However, in avocado and coconut oils stored at 60 °C for 60 days, caffeic and *p*-coumaric acids both increased the pAV over the studied period, likely due to the reactivity of the oxidized phenolic acids' carbonyl groups with p-anisidine<sup>296</sup>. It is therefore unclear if phenolic compounds interfere in the measurement of pAV and if so, under which conditions this occurs. FTIR could be used to determine PV and pAV as an alternative to chemical indicators, by considering the absorbance peaks related to primary and secondary oxidation products, respectively<sup>297-298</sup>. Fatty acid secondary oxidation products, often volatile, may also be extracted by headspace solid-phase microextraction and analyzed by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry, dismissing the need for *p*-anisidine altogether<sup>299</sup>.

Finally, oxygen consumption tests have long been used to study oxidation, mainly in oilbased samples. The Rancimat test uses a specific instrument to heat and stream air through samples to cause accelerated oxidation and products are measured electrochemically<sup>300</sup>. New instruments, such as the RapidOxy 100, allow similar analyses using oxygen pressure rather than a gas stream to measure induction period<sup>301</sup>. Because antioxidants slow oxygen consumption rates and therefore increase induction time<sup>302</sup>, oxygen consumption data can be used to gather information pertaining to antioxidant activity. Using a combination of light heat (37 °C) and oxygen pressure to accelerate oxidation,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol has been found to greatly prolong the induction time of methyl arachidonate using oxygen consumption measurements<sup>303</sup>. Capsaicinoid from chili pepper has also been shown to be more effective in protecting canola oil at 60 °C than BHT by a different method based on oxygen consumption<sup>302</sup>. Overall, oxygen consumption tests could be a facile method in the analysis of antioxidant activity, as it can be applied to complex samples which could otherwise interfere in common assays.

#### **2.8 Conclusion**

Overall, natural antioxidants have shown promising potential in the prevention of quality degradation of food components with both advantages and disadvantages, compared to their synthetic substitutes. Oxidised polyphenolic compounds with a quinonoid structure are known to react with nucleophilic compounds through a Michael addition mechanism and have been reported to form Schiff bases in some studies, although the latter reaction has not been studied as extensively as the former. The reported reactions suggest the regeneration of the molecule's antioxidant activity, as highlighted by some researchers; however, this hypothesis has never been studied, to our knowledge. One of the possible challenges to such an experiment may be the complexity of the interaction, as both the Michael addition reaction and the Schiff base formation are theoretically favored by similar conditions, and other side reactions could take place. Additionally, typical methods for the determination of antioxidant activity have not been evaluated for this application, and interference could cause issues. Therefore, the use of model compounds in lieu of (+)-catechin, as well as the assessment of methods used for antioxidant activity measurements are recommended.

# **CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1 Chemicals**

Hydroquinone (HQ) ( $\geq$ 99 %), 4-methylcatechol (4-MC) ( $\geq$ 95 %), L-ascorbic acid ( $\geq$ 99 %), flaxseed oil (FSO), *p*-Anisidine (99 %), methanol ( $\geq$ 99.6 %, reagent grade), p-benzoquinone (p-BQ) ( $\geq$ 98 %), anhydrous isooctane ( $\geq$ 99.8 %), potassium chloride (KCl) (reagent grade), potassium hydroxide (KOH) ( $\geq$ 85 %), (+)-catechin hydrate (~98 %) and glycine ( $\geq$ 99 %) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St-Louis, MO, U.S.A.) and its subsidiaries. Glacial acetic acid ( $\geq$ 97 %) was acquired from Caledon Laboratories Ltd. (Georgetown, ON, Canada). Anhydrous sodium sulfate and mono- and di- (99.9 %) basic potassium phosphate were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH, U.S.A) and Thermo Fisher scientific (Waltham, MA, U.S.A), respectively. [<sup>15</sup>N]-glycine (98 %) was produced by Cambridge Isotope Laboratories, Inc. (St-Laurent, QC, Canada) and was kept at -18 °C during storage. HQ, FSO and *p*-anisidine were refrigerated during storage. A 2020 vintage Beaujolais red wine containing 13 % alcohol per volume (Georges DuBoeuf, Romanèche-Thorins, France) was purchased from a local liquor store and kept sealed until analyzed.

#### 3.2 Analytical methods

# 3.2.1 HRMS analysis, isotopic labelling studies, and MS/MS of a hydroquinoneglycine model reaction

Solutions containing 0.04 M of HQ and 0.06 M of glycine were prepared using 1.2 mL of 5:1 water/methanol as a solvent, then either heated in Teflon-lined stainless-steel reactors in an oven at 120 °C for 2 hours or left at room temperature in capped glass vials for 24 hours. Samples were then stored at -18 °C until analysis. Prior to analysis, samples were diluted in water and methanol.

The samples were analyzed after syringe infusion into a quadrupole time-of-flight highresolution mass spectrometer (HRMS) (MaXis Impact, Bruker Daltonics, Germany) operated using electrospray ionization in the negative mode. The ESI source was operated under a nebulizer pressure of 0.6 bar, a drying gas flow rate of 4.0 L/min, a dry heater temperature of 180 °C, and a capillary voltage of 4500 V. Ions were scanned within the mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio range of 50500. Preliminary analyses of various samples produced under a range of heat treatments ionized in the positive mode did not reveal ions of interest for this study with sufficiently low errors.

Data was analyzed using the Bruker Compass DataAnalysis 4.2 software (Bruker Daltonics, Germany) and the ChemCalc web-based software (ChemCalc) to determine products' formulae based on accurate mass<sup>304</sup>. Isotopic labelling studies were performed by replacing glycine with an equal concentration of [<sup>15</sup>N]-glycine in samples subjected to identical treatments with the purpose of confirming the molecular formulae obtained by mass spectral analysis. All sample analyses were performed in duplicates from independent trials. Molecular formulae of adducts of interest were determined based on their low associated errors (below 10 ppm), the correspondence of their number of nitrogen atoms with peak m/z shifts observed in their isotope-labelled counterparts, and their high relative peak intensities compared to the spectral noise.

MS/MS was used to determine the structure of the ions of interest previously identified by HRMS. Fragmentation was achieved by collision-induced dissociation (CID) under collision energies of 5.0 to 15.0 eV. Other MS/MS parameters were identical to those used during the HRMS analyses.

#### 3.2.2 Toxicity prediction of hydroquinone/glycine adducts

The SMILES notation of the three proposed adducts detected by MS/MS were submitted to a toxicity prediction analysis using the Lazar online software (*In silico* toxicology GmbH, Switzerland). All evaluation parameters were selected, which included predictions for acute toxicity, blood-brain barrier penetration, carcinogenicity, lowest observed adverse effect level, maximum recommended daily dose, and mutagenicity.

#### 3.2.3 Cyclic voltametric analysis of different phenol/glycine mixtures

Two stock solutions of phosphate buffers were prepared using K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> in ultrapure water with concentrations of 0.1 M and 0.2 M of phosphate. The pH was adjusted by adding either HCl or aqueous KOH until a pH of 7 was reached. For the analysis of unheated samples, 10 mM samples were prepared by dissolving 4-MC, HQ or (+)-catechin hydrate with or without 15mM of glycine in the 0.1M phosphate buffer. These solutions were prepared immediately before analysis to limit reaction time before the CV scan. 15 mM glycine and analyte-free blank solutions were also produced in the same manner.

For heated mixtures, 5 mL samples of 20 mM 4-MC or HQ with 30 mM glycine using a  $5:1 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$ /methanol solvent were prepared in 12 mL glass vials with airtight lids. The samples were heated in a sand bath at 110 °C for 2 hours with the lid on, after which the lid was removed to allow evaporation until less than 1 mL of solvent remained. The volume was then completed to 5 mL using ultrapure water and 5 mL of 0.2M phosphate buffer was added, to render final concentrations of 10 mM of the phenols, 15 mM of glycine and 0.1 M of phosphate buffer.

KCl was added to all samples as an electrolyte to a concentration of 0.1 M. Samples were degassed using a stream of nitrogen gas for 10 minutes prior to analysis. A 3 mm diameter glassy carbon disk working electrode (GCE) was sonicated in ultrapure water, wiped with acetone, and scanned in a blank solution in the same potential range as the sample to prepare the surface. Voltammograms were recorded using a cyclic voltammetry analytical device and potentiostat (ElectraSyn 2.0, IKA Works, Inc., USA) using a platinum plated counter electrode and a 3 M KCl Ag/Ag<sup>+</sup> wire reference electrode. The potential scan rate was 50 mV/s.

#### **3.2.4** Oxygen consumption measurements

To study the effect of added glycine on the oxygen consumption of red wine, 2.5 g of the Beaujolais red wine was diluted two-fold with an equal mass of water and analyzed in duplicate by a RapidOxy 100 (Anton Paar, Austria). Corresponding samples with a mass fraction of 1 % added glycine were also tested in duplicates. The instrument parameters were set at 700 kPa of 99 % oxygen and 80 °C, and tests were run for 17.5 hours. The instrument is sensitive to pressure variations of 1 kPa and over.

The same instrument was used to evaluate the effect of an added 4-MC/glycine mixture on FSO's stability. Samples were prepared using pure FSO as a control, or with 0.1 % 4-MC and/or 0.2 % glycine added to FSO. 4 g of each sample was analyzed under an initial oxygen pressure of 700 kPa at a temperature of 120 °C. Analyses were performed until a 60 % pressure drop was achieved and the time was noted. One batch of samples was analyzed with stirring at 100 rpm and the other, without stirring.

#### 3.2.5 *p*-Anisidine value of oxidized flaxseed oil with added hydroquinone and glycine

Samples of FSO were placed in glass vials and left at room temperature (~23 °C) or heated in a sand bath at 70 °C. A 5 mL aliquot was sampled after 24 or 48 hours, capped with an airtight

lid, and stored at -18 °C in the dark until analyzed. Samples of 6 mM HQ or 6 mM HQ/12 mM glycine were also heated at 70 °C for 24 hours.

The pAV of the FSO samples was determined according to ISO 6885:2006(E)<sup>305</sup>. Samples were dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate and vacuum filtered. The mass of FSO samples used for the test varied between approximately 0.5 and 2.5 g, depending on the sample's extent of oxidation, to produce reacted test solutions within the necessary absorbance range. Absorbance was measured at 350 nm using an Evolution 300 UV-visible spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA) and data was processed using the VISION Pro software (Thermo Scientific, USA).

#### **3.2.6** Extent of reaction between *p*-anisidine and the selected additives

The ISO 6885:2006 method was followed, substituting the oil test sample for 3 mL of 6 mM HQ, p-BQ, or 12 mM glycine in glacial acetic acid rather than isooctane, due to solubility issues. The same solvent served as a blank.

Samples containing a combination of 6 mM HQ and 12 mM glycine in 5 mL of 3:2  $H_2O$ /methanol were placed in a sealed 25 mL glass vial in a sand bath at 70 °C for 24 hours. They were then uncapped to allow complete evaporation and immediately dissolved in 5 mL of acetic acid and analyzed as described above. All samples were prepared in duplicate and analyzed using an Evolution 300 UV-visible spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA) with data processed using the VISION Pro software (Thermo Scientific, USA).

#### 3.2.7 Color evolution of (+)-catechin/glycine models under alkaline conditions

Samples were prepared using 30 mM of (+)-catechin hydrate in 2 mL of 4:1 methanol/H<sub>2</sub>O in 12 mL capped glass vials and left at room temperature (~23 °C) for 3 days. 0.2 mL of 45 mM KOH in methanol was then added to each sample and left to further react at room temperature. Additional samples were prepared with 60 mM of added glycine or 30 mM of added ascorbic acid. Controls were also prepared by subjecting 30 mM ascorbic acid without (+)-catechin to the same treatment. (+)-Catechin samples were also analyzed prior to any time or alkalizing treatment to study its original properties.

Absorbance spectra of all samples were acquired 24 and 28 hours after the KOH addition using an Evolution 300 UV-visible spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA) between emission wavelengths of 350 and 850 nm. Measurements were corrected using blank solutions of the solvent. Measurements were taken from samples in a quartz cuvette with a 1 cm pathlength. Data was processed and manipulated using the VISION Pro software (Thermo Scientific, USA). Absorbance curves were smoothed, and peak maxima were identified using a 2<sup>nd</sup> order Savitsky-Golay 2<sup>nd</sup> derivative at 31 points. Peak areas were determined using the software's function by manually picking the peaks' start and end points. All samples were prepared in duplicate.

# 3.3 Statistical treatment of data

Sample sets of duplicates were compared using a two-tailed T-test for unpaired samples with a confidence interval of 95%.

# **CHAPTER 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Identification of (+)-catechin model reaction products with glycine

The hypothesis based on the regeneration of flavonoids' antioxidant activity via reactions with amino acids relies on the formation of products derived from Schiff base formation, Strecker degradation and Michael addition reactions. Previous studies have demonstrated that simple flavonoids' B-ring and gallate moiety (in galloylated catechins) undergo oxidation which creates an unstable and reactive electrophile<sup>306</sup>. Flavan-3-ol units, which do not contain a gallate moiety, undergo reactions involving their B-ring with thiols and amines in nucleophilic substitution reactions<sup>176, 226, 307</sup>. Although the B-ring has an *ortho*-dihydroxybenzyl (catechol-type) moiety, HQ (*para*-dihydroxybenzene) was used as a model reactant. Catechol and HQ are isomers and thus have slightly different reactivities but participate in similar reactions with the same nucleophiles<sup>308</sup>. Therefore, the reaction between HQ and glycine was studied as a model for flavonoid/amino acid interactions. The reaction intermediates and products formed will be discussed in this section.

#### 4.1.1 Chemical composition of reaction products detected by HRMS

The HQ/glycine (2:3) model systems were exposed to a temperature of either 22 °C (room temperature) for 24 hours or 120 °C for 2 hours. These conditions were selected based on preliminary analyses involving a range of time and temperature conditions as well as their similarity to storage and cooking conditions, respectively. Analysis of the samples indicated the formation of compounds with greater molecular masses than either of the reactants', demonstrating the occurrence of reactions such as condensation, addition, and/or polymerization. The study of these reactions using isotope-labelled glycine confirmed the incorporation of nitrogen atom(s) in some of the ions detected. The analysis of HQ/glycine and HQ/[<sup>15</sup>N]-glycine reaction mixtures confirmed the molecular formula of glycine-quinone adducts of interest (Table 4.1). Compounds were considered potential adducts of interest based on their number of carbon, oxygen, and nitrogen atoms. The peak shift associated with glycine's nitrogen atoms integrated in the adduct, and therefore the stoichiometric proportion of glycine that reacted with HQ.

		_	Hydroquinone/glycine		Hydroquinone/[ <sup>15</sup> N]-glycine			
Structure	Elemental composition	Elemental Error omposition (ppm)* <sub>[M-H</sub>		Relative Intensity (%)			Relative Intensity (%)	
	·····P·····		[M-H]-	22 °C, 24 h	120 °C, 2 h	[M-H]-	22 °C, 24 h	120 °C, 2 h
Adduct 1	$C_7H_9NO_2$	1.42	138.0557	3.4	3.8	139.0559	2.1	3.2
Adduct 2	$C_8H_{10}N_2O_2$	1.80	165.0667	100	100	167.0632	100	100
Adduct 3	$C_9H_{10}N_2O_4$	0.80	209.0564	48.3	55.8	211.0506	32.4	44.1

*Table 4.1* Ions of interest detected by HRMS in the negative ionization mode.

\*Error in the calculation of the adduct's elemental composition based on the unlabeled model.

Both adducts 2 and 3 comprised two nitrogen atoms, whereas adduct 1 had a single nitrogen atom. Adducts 2 and 3 were detected at high relative intensities in samples that were heated at 120 °C and left at room temperature. This suggests that the reaction can proceed under a variety of time and temperature conditions representative of the conditions to which foods may be exposed in aqueous media.

## 4.1.2 Tandem mass spectrometric analysis

The ions observed at m/z 165 and 209 in the HQ/glycine sample heated at 120 °C for 2 hours were subjected to MS/MS analysis under the negative ionization mode to elucidate their structures. The fragmentation peaks produced are detailed in Table 4.2.

Eng and and [M_H]	Elemental		Relative i	ntensity (%)	
Fragment [M-H]-	composition	Error (ppm)	8.0 eV	15.0 eV	
HQ/glycine (m/z 209	")				
123.0317	$C_6H_5NO_2$	-2.67	ND	13.3	
135.0308	$C_7H_5NO_2$	-9.10	ND	7.2	
138.0548	$C_7H_8NO_2$	-5.10	<5	30.3	
165.0654	$C_8H_9N_2O_2$	-6.07	100	100	
HQ/[ <sup>15</sup> N]-glycine (m	/z 211)				
166.0665	$C_8H_9{}^{15}NNO_2$	18.44	7.2	NS	
167.0630	$C_8H_9^{15}N_2O_2$	15.13	100	NS	

Table 4.2 MS/MS fragments produced by collision-induced dissociation of Adduct 3.

\*Error in the calculation of the ion's elemental composition. ND, not detected; NS, sample not submitted for MS/MS analysis at the given collision energy and data was therefore not collected.

The adduct detected at m/z 165 was not fragmented by CID at a low collision energy (5.0 eV) and must therefore have a relatively stable structure that prevents its breakdown under the applied conditions. The adduct observed at m/z 209 produced fragments with m/z 165 and 138 at a collision energy of 8.0 eV. At a higher collision energy (15.0 eV), additional fragments were found at m/z 135 and 123 and the parent ion at m/z 209 was completely fragmented. These smaller fragments are likely radical fragment ions, which are commonly produced by organic 1,3-dipolar and aromatic compounds<sup>309</sup>. The elemental composition of the fragment at m/z 165 produced from Adduct 3 corresponds to Adduct 2. Similarly, the elemental composition of the fragments indicates that adducts 1 and 2 have structures similar to Adduct 3, which may either be a precursor to their formation, or be produced via a similar reaction. Based on the structures of the reactants and the molecular formulae of the ions, the fragmentation pattern of the 209 m/z ion is proposed below (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Proposed MS/MS fragmentation patterns of m/z 209 at 15.0 eV.

The proposed structures of adducts 1-3 all correspond to Michael addition products, which is the main identified reaction of amino and thiol compounds with other dicarbonyls and quinones

found in the literature, such as (+)-catechin<sup>176</sup> and p-BQ<sup>310</sup>, or between HQ and alkylamines<sup>311</sup>. The targeted adducts are the result of reactions occurring in a 2:1 and 1:1 glycine/HQ molecular ratio. Adduct 1 was detected at much lower relative intensities than Adducts 2 and 3. It is possible that the oxidized glycino-hydroquinone adduct is highly electrophilic, thus favoring a further addition reaction. This would render the initial 1:1 glycino-hydroquinone adduct's detection at a lower intensity with the chosen detection method. This initial adduct may also be derived from the breakdown of diglycino-hydroquinone adducts, although such mechanism was not deemed favorable. Kinetic studies would be necessary to further elucidate the mechanism involved in the generation of adduct 1. Although the addition of glycine to adjacent carbon positions is possible, it is unlikely due to steric hindrance caused by the initial glycyl group, which would also explain why triple and quadruple additions of glycine were not observed. The proposed structures are in accordance with recent literature<sup>312</sup>.

None of the ions detected in the negative ionization mode at high relative intensities indicated the formation of Schiff bases or their rearrangement and degradation products. The condensation products are influenced by environmental pH<sup>313</sup> and favored by low water activity<sup>314</sup>, which may not have been optimal for this type of reaction in the present study. The formation of Schiff bases between quinones and glycine has been reported in cases where the aqueous solvent was left to evaporate, thus decreasing the water activity<sup>176</sup>. Although Maillard-type reactions and Michael additions have been extensively studied, they are complex and rarely undergo comparative studies to determine which conditions favor one reaction pathway over the other although they involve similar reactants.

Finally, the presented model and its analysis method has demonstrated that the Michael addition of glycine to HQ occurs at storage temperature and during heating over a relatively short period. The combination of high-resolution mass spectrometry, isotope-labelling and tandem mass spectrometry proved suitable for the structural elucidation of the products generated. Future studies should focus on the extent of the reaction and altering parameters such as the pH, solvent, duration of incubation, and the type of amino acid and phenolic compound to assess how these affect results.

#### 4.1.3 Proposed reaction mechanism and impact on redox activity

The oxidation of HQ is catalyzed by oxygen as well as its own oxidation product, following an autoxidation chain reaction<sup>315</sup>. This allows the compound to transfer hydrogen atoms and

contributes to its antioxidant activity<sup>271</sup>. The oxidation of HQ converts the compound to its p-BQ form and reduces the oxidizer. In the presence of glycine, adducts are readily formed with p-BQ under both mild heating and ambient temperatures. The addition of each glycine moiety to the aromatic ring restores a hydroxyl group, allowing the structure to tautomerize and restore the second hydroxyl group. The resulting *p*-dihydroxy structure is subject to an additional oxidation step. Once oxidized, the compound could react once again with glycine in a similar step-wise process to the first glycine addition. The diglycino-hydroquinone adduct subsequently formed and the glycino-hydroquinone adduct initially formed can then be decarboxylated before being further oxidized and donating two additional hydrogen atoms, conferring additional antioxidant activity to the intermediate adduct compared to unreacted HQ. The decarboxylation of glycino-hydroquinone results in the structure previously identified as Adduct 1 whereas the decarboxylation and oxidation of the diglycino-hydroquinone adduct results in the production of Adducts 2 and 3. The proposed reaction sequence is illustrated in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 Proposed mechanism of the reaction of glycine and hydroquinone.

The presented mechanism implies that in the presence of glycine, each HQ molecule can undergo one to two additional oxidation steps compared to unreacted HQ. These transferred hydrogen atoms could terminate autoxidation reactions by quenching free radical species, such as those involved in polyphenol and lipid autoxidation. By limiting the effects of oxidation in food systems, this type of reaction could help extend the length of food products' high-quality shelflife.

#### 4.1.4 Toxicity prediction of the detected adducts

The toxicity approximation of the three adducts detected was attempted using an *in silico* toxicology prediction software (Lazar)<sup>316</sup>. The database used to evaluate toxicity parameters did not contain enough similar compounds to draw conclusions on the adducts' acute toxicity, carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, maximum recommended daily dose, and lowest observed adverse effect level in either animal or bacterial models or humans. However, the formation of related hydroquinone-thiol adducts has piqued interest in relation to their potential in benzene toxicity mediation<sup>317</sup>.

### 4.1.5 Extrapolation of results to (+)-catechin and other polyphenols

Although the HQ/glycine model serves to understand the reactions involving quinones and simple amino acids, it may not directly translate to more complex flavonoids and polyphenols, which have a bulky group attached to the *o*-quinone ring of their oxidized counterparts, and in some cases (e.g., epigallocatechin), an additional hydroxyl group on their redox active benzene ring. This may decrease the likeliness of double Michael additions due steric hindrance or the substitution of the targeted carbon position(s). Phenolic structures of flavonoids are most often in an *ortho* or a *meta* rather than a *para* conformation, which can affect reaction kinetics, although *ortho* and *para* quinones exhibit very similar behaviours<sup>274</sup>. The type of amino acid can also impact the reaction due to the nature and size of their sidechains. Therefore, the previous results should be taken into consideration in the study of larger polyphenols but do not directly translate to more complex compounds. Further studies are necessary to confirm the formation and identify the structure of potential adducts formed between amino acids and polyphenols.

In the case of (+)-catechin, the Michael addition of glycine to the antioxidant could potentially yield an adduct in a 1:1 or 1:2 glycine/(+)-catechin molar ratio, depending on the carbon position(s) at which addition takes place. Michael additions of amines generally proceed as a 1,4-

addition: the conjugate addition product is much more stable than the direct addition product, of which the formation is reversible due to the nucleophile being a weak base<sup>204</sup>. In the case of dehydrocatechin (oxidized (+)-catechin) the 1' and 6' carbon positions would be considered as  $\beta$ -carbons. However, one of these  $\beta$ -carbons is covalently linked to (+)-catechin's C-ring and is unavailable. Studies have shown that epicatechin, an epimer of (+)-catechin, can react with CML to form adducts that incorporate one or two molecular equivalents of CML. Although their collected data does not elucidate the exact structure of the compounds, such as the carbon ring positions at which addition takes place, the authors suggest that addition takes place at the 2' and 5' positions of the C ring<sup>212, 226</sup>. This would rather suggest a 1,6-conjugate addition relative to each carbonyl, possible due to this system's  $\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta$ -unsaturated carbonyl structure<sup>318</sup>. Based on the previous results and existing literature, the reaction mechanism for the reaction between (+)-catechin and glycine is proposed for both 1,4- and 1,6-conjugate addition mechanisms (Figure 4.3). This mechanism involves three oxidation steps and liberates six hydrogen atoms, which could triple (+)-catechin's ability to terminate oxidation reactions. As the hydroxyl groups are regenerated, the adducts may even retain their metal chelation properties.

Similarly to HQ, the Michael addition of glycine and other amino acids has the potential to confer increased antioxidant activity to the compounds through the regeneration of the redox active B-ring. Again, up to four additional hydrogen atoms as compared to free (+)-catechin, for a total of six hydrogen atoms overall, could be transferred to free radicals, hereby quenching them. Therefore, (+)-catechin in the presence of excess glycine and under favorable conditions could have up to triple the antioxidant efficiency compared to an equal amount of unreacted (+)-catechin.



Figure 4.3 Proposed mechanism of the reaction of glycine and (+)-catechin.

In teal, 1,4-conjugate addition mechanism; in grey, 1,6-conjugate addition mechanism. Decarbolyxation reactions may also take place.

# 4.2 Antioxidant activity experiments

#### 4.2.1 Cyclic voltammetry

The electrochemistry involved in the redox reactions of simple phenols, as models for more complex polyphenols, as well as reactions between these phenols and amino acids was studied using CV. The resulting cyclic voltammograms are shown in Figure 4.4.

All samples analyzed, including blank (not shown) and glycine solutions which should not be electrochemically active, displayed irregularities below approximately 0 V. These were not reproducible between replicates. Extensive cleaning of the GCE working electrode and surface conditioning by anodic polishing temporarily decreased noise and interference but these remained issues. Peak intensity, related to the sample concentration, had a low reproducibility, likely due to adsorbed analytes on the GCE surface. In some sample replicates, anodic peak potentials shifted unexpectedly. The manufacturer deems an error of  $\pm 0.2V$  acceptable; however, this margin can have a significant impact on the interpretation of results.



Figure 4.4 Impact of glycine on the cyclic voltammograms of phenolic compounds.

(+)-Catechin produced a wide anodic (oxidation) peak with a lower peak intensity at a higher potential than 4-MC and HQ (Table 4.3). It had no clear reduction peak, indicating its irreversibility. Upon a second cycle of applied potential on a same sample, no oxidation peak formed; adsorbed (+)-catechin blocking the GCE surface<sup>177</sup> could explain the lack of current as well as the perceived electrochemical irreversibility. In the presence of glycine, there was still no anodic peak upon a 2<sup>nd</sup> cycle. The asymmetry of the anodic peak is unusual and was confirmed by a replicate (not shown). In the presence of glycine, the anodic peak potential decreased, indicating enhanced antioxidant activity. It is unclear whether this effect can be attributed to the spontaneous

oxidation of (+)-catechin followed by its condensation with the amino acid to reduce the compound. This scenario would imply very rapid and efficient reactions, as the sample was analyzed quickly after its preparation and the oxidation peak associated with unreacted (+)-catechin completely disappeared. This is in accordance with results obtained by Wang et al., who observed the gradual appearance of a new anodic peak accompanied with the disappearance of HQ's anodic peak in the presence of increasing proline concentrations<sup>276</sup>. Other factors such as instrument and sample variability could explain the deviation. This shift was not observed in samples prepared using 4-MC or HQ.

As for HQ and 4-MC, the diphenols produce anodic peaks at similar potential and intensities, regardless of the phenol involved and the presence of glycine, heated or not. The 4-MC and HQ samples turned blueish-grey and peach, respectively, after the heat treatment, indicating that a reaction had taken place. Their  $E_{pa}$  remained close to those of the phenols in the absence of glycine, indicating that their electron-donating ability was relatively unchanged by the process. Studies have demonstrated that the  $E_{pa}$  is correlated to a compound's radical-scavenging activity<sup>280</sup>. Taking into consideration the proposed reaction mechanism between glycine and diphenols, this would imply that the glycine/phenol adduct has an antioxidant activity that is comparable to the initial phenol. Essentially, the activity of the phenol can be doubled in the presence of glycine.

Sample	I <sub>pa</sub> (μA)	E <sub>pa</sub> (V)
Gly	-	-
Catechin	172	0.64
Catechin + gly	122	0.52
4-MC	327	0.36
4-MC + gly	365	0.39
4-MC + gly (110 °C)	340	0.37
HQ	306	0.32
HQ + gly	352	0.42
HQ + gly (110 °C)	340	0.40

Table 4.3 Anodic peak data of phenolic compounds in the presence of glycine.

Where I<sub>pa</sub>, anodic peak intensity; and E<sub>pa</sub>, anodic peak potential.

Although cyclic voltammetry has successfully been implemented as a suitable analysis method for the reaction of quinones and amines, multiple factors hinder its practicality. Notably,

a vast array of possible instruments and test parameters, such as reference and working electrodes, solvents, and working electrode pre-treatments, make it impossible to compare data from different laboratories and come to a consensus on any topic based on the method. In fact, although it is generally accepted that CV can be used to assess antioxidant activity, researchers do not agree on the best CV parameter to assess it: every parameter, whether it involves the anodic or cathodic peak, the intensity or potential, peak integration, or even a combination of these, has been used. Additionally, the method is highly sensitive to disturbance caused by dissolved oxygen, adsorbed analytes on the WE, contaminants, and more. Pristine conditions are fundamental and require laborious electrode cleaning before each analysis as well as analytes, solvents, and electrolytes with high purity to be achieved. Finally, the system is fragile and must be manipulated delicately. Electrode connectivity is a frequent issue due to the failure of connectors and the loosening screw attachment of the RE. The GCE is prone to bending and is poorly protected by a thin, soft plastic tube. Both the exaggerated impact of slight analysis condition fluctuations and the constant impairment of the device make results difficult to reproduce. Although the manufacturer aims to offer a more standardized analysis equipment that is accessible to most labs, the inconvenience of the laborious preparation for a low sample throughput and the lack of reference material and methods prevent the Electrasyn 2.0 CV from being worthy of its place in a lab setting.

#### 4.2.2 Evaluation of the effect of added glycine on red wine's oxidative stability

Glycine was added to 50 % red wine diluted in water to investigate its effect on wine's oxidation process by measuring oxygen consumption. After 17.5 hours, the wine samples had consumed on average 1.9 % of the applied  $O_2$  pressure whereas the samples to which glycine was added had only decreased the  $O_2$  pressure by 1.2 % (Table 4.4). This translates to a longer induction time for wine samples containing glycine and indicates that the amino acid provides an additional oxygen uptake-limiting effect, possibly through antioxidant activity.

The wine samples were composed, in part, of water with a small alcohol content, mainly ethanol (~7%), and were heated at 80 °C while exposed to oxygen: conditions comparable to those under which the amine/quinone Michael additions have been shown to take place in the present study as well as in previous research<sup>226</sup>. Out of the 20 common amino acids, glycine has the lowest antioxidant activity, as measured by the oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay<sup>319</sup>. Thus, glycine alone does not confer antioxidant protection and its stabilizing quality must come from interactions

with other wine components. By extension, the Michael addition of glycine to certain polyphenols naturally present in red wine is suspected to enhance its oxidative stability. Although the Beaujolais wine in question is considered a dry wine with a reported sugar content of 3.9 g/L, some of these sugars can react with the added glycine through a typical Maillard reaction mechanism. Maillard reaction products have been reported to have antioxidant effects<sup>320</sup>, including those formed between glycine and glucose<sup>321</sup>. These could offer an alternate explanation for the decrease in oxygen consumption observed when glycine was added to wine.

*Table 4.4* Oxygen pressure drop associated with the oxidation of Beaujolais red wine, in the presence of glycine.

Sample	Pressure drop (%)	Error (%)	
Control	1.9ª	0.05	
1% glycine	1.2 <sup>b</sup>	0.05	

Letters in superscript indicate a statistically significant difference at p=0.05. The experiment was conducted using a 50 % wine/water solution at 80 °C for 17.5 hours under an initial pressure of 700 kPa.

Overall, the addition of glycine to red wine could help limit the undesirable effects caused by the presence of excess oxygen. Its effect on color stability is discussed in section 4.4. This method based on the measurement of oxygen consumption over time proved to be a simple, straightforward analysis method for the oxidation of wine. Although the process may be lengthy depending on the sample's oxygen consumption, very minimal sample preparation, material and clean-up are necessary, and there is no need for intervention during the analysis, which could be done overnight for the present study.

# 4.2.3 Evaluation of the effect of added 4-methylcatechol and glycine on the oxidative stability of flaxseed oil

Although glycine and 4-MC show a poor solubility in FSO at room temperature, their solubility slightly increases with temperature, so it was assumed that at low concentrations and at 120 °C, most of the additives would be available to interact with the oil's oxidation, if applicable. Although stirring should facilitate the dissolution of the analytes, it also increases the oil's contact with oxygen and accelerates its dissolution as well, leading to faster oxygen consumption in all samples (Table 4.5). The addition of 4-MC was found to slow oxygen consumption, regardless of stirring, confirming its antioxidant effect. In the presence of glycine, the time to reach a 60 % oxygen pressure drop ( $t_{60}$ ) slightly decreases, although the significance of the difference is unclear

due to the lack of replicates. It is possible that the analytes' limited solubility alongside other solvent effects prevent glycine from reacting with 4-methyl-1,2-benzoquinone, the oxidized form of 4-MC. It is unclear why glycine would lower the  $t_{60}$  of 4-MC in FSO compared to samples where the amino acid is absent.

 Table 4.5 Effect of 4-methylcatechol and glycine on the time to reach a 60 % drop in oxygen pressure in flaxseed oil solutions.

	$t_{60}$ (minutes)			
Sample	Not stirred	Stirred at 100 RPM		
Control	34.1	27.3		
0.2 % glycine	49.4	26.2		
0.1 % 4-MC	50.2	41.9		
0.1 % 4-MC + 0.2 % glycine	48.9	39.4		

 $t_{60}$ , time, in minutes, to achieve a 60 % drop in oxygen pressure; RPM, rotations per minute; 4-MC, 4methylcatechol. The experiment was conducted using 4 g of flaxseed oil heated to 120 °C with an initial pressure of 700 kPa.

Surprisingly, in unstirred samples, glycine exhibited slowed oxygen consumption to a similar extent to 4-MC, at double the latter's concentration. As previously stated, glycine is not known to have any antioxidant activity<sup>319</sup>. When stirred, the protective effect was completely lost and the  $t_{60}$  of FSO was low, regardless of the presence of glycine. The trend was confirmed by the analysis of replicates. We hypothesized that glycine, when undisturbed, may form a physical layer atop the oil sample which would act as a barrier to the dissolution of oxygen by limiting its contact with the oil. This physical barrier would be disrupted by stirring.

The measurement of oxygen consumption was a simple, reliable tool for the evaluation of antioxidants in FSO. Although the technique does not provide information on the type of oxidation products formed, the induction time can be measured, which directly relates to shelf-life and quality. Therefore, this method is suitable for straightforward quality analyses. However, it may be inappropriate to study reactions between most phenols and amino acids in most oils using any method due to solubility limitations which impede on the extent of their reaction.

#### 4.3 Reactions of hydroquinone and glycine reactions and the *p*-anisidine value of flaxseed oil

Attempts were made to study the impact of HQ, glycine, and combined HQ/glycine on the oxidation state of FSO. Fresh FSO and FSO subjected to heating were compared to ensure the efficacy of the accelerated oxidation process. The pAV, initially at 3.4 for fresh FSO, increased to 4.4 in FSO left at room temperature for 24 hours and even up to 32.8 when heated at 70 °C, uncovered, for 24 hours.

The experiment was repeated with purified p-anisidine and with HQ or HQ/glycine added to the FSO before the heating process. The pAV of FSO with 6 mM HQ was 7.4 and was almost double (pAV=14.3) in an equivalent sample with 12 mM glycine. The basis of the *p*-anisidine assay is the reaction of the indicator with aldehydes and ketones present as a result of an oil or fat's oxidation<sup>292, 322</sup>. Based on HQ and glycine's structures and intermediates involving ketones and carbonyl structures, we hypothesized that these additives or the products formed during their reaction may interference with this assay. It is also possible that p-anisidine, which has an amine group, reacts with HQ via Michael addition, just like glycine, and exaggerates the pAV by absorbing light at 350 nm. The reactions of glycine and phenols with *p*-anisidine in the absence of FSO were then studied (Table 4.6).

Sample	A (Reacted)	A (Unreacted)	ΔΑ	
6 mM HQ	0.066	0.040	0.026	
6 mM p-BQ	0.080	0.047	0.033	
12 mM glycine	0.056	0.046	0.010	
6 mM HQ/12 mM glycine, heated	0.115	0.097	0.018	

Table 4.6 Absorbance at 350 nm of the potentially interfering additives studied.

HQ, *p*-BQ, glycine and heated HQ/glycine mixtures were analyzed using a method based on ISO 6885:2016, replacing the oil with isooctane. The *p*-BQ sample had the most pronounced effect on the absorbance measurements taken at 350 nm, followed by HQ, meaning these react with *p*-anisidine and increase the apparent pAV of FSO, causing interference. Even unreacted samples had some absorbance at this wavelength and could complicate the comparison of oil samples with different additives. However, their contribution to the absorbance at 350 nm may be insignificant at low concentrations when compared to fats and oils. It is possible that oxidation intermediates in the FSO have a pro-oxidant effect on HQ and increase its reactivity towards *p*-anisidine.

In addition, FSO oxidation causes the formation of a polymeric film at the surface exposed to air<sup>323</sup>, resulting in heterogenous samples. Some FSO samples also became turbid when dissolved in isooctane. The pAV assay requires clear material to measure absorbance, as reflectance would be an issue.

Overall, the pAV test may be inappropriate for the evaluation of the antioxidant activity of compounds with ketone and aldehyde structure added to fats and oils. The accelerated oxidation of FSO exposed to air is also unsuitable, particularly for this method, due to complications involving its drying and heterogeneity. As pointed out previously, using oils as a reaction medium may also inhibit the reaction between phenols and amino acids due to their incompatibility, thus invalidating the potential benefits of their combination. *p*-Anisidine's instability made it necessary to frequently purify it, possibly causing deviations between batches and delaying experiments. Other inconveniences include a low sample throughput and the use of large organic solvent volumes, which bears a high environmental cost. However, the assay does not require any special equipment, making it accessible in most laboratory settings. It would be worthwhile to study the volatile oxidation products formed in the presence of phenols and amino acids by headspace gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry to evaluate the extent of oxidation of oils<sup>324</sup>. This could help determine the antioxidant efficiency of the phenol and amino acid combination as a strategy to reduce quality loss in foodstuff.

#### 4.4 Impact of glycine on the color evolution of (+)-catechin caused by oxidation

One of the most common indicators of oxidation of catechins and to a larger extent, most polyphenols, is a change in color associated with cross-linking<sup>325</sup>. (+)-Catechin solutions subjected to oxidative conditions evolve from colorless in their fresh state to yellow and brown, depending on the extent of oxidation<sup>326</sup>. Whereas acidic conditions tend to stabilize (+)-catechin, basic solutions of the compound exposed to oxygen oxidize quite rapidly<sup>47</sup>. In fact, a barely visible yellow colour began to appear in the (+)-catechin hydrate in aqueous basic samples in contact with air.

The absorbance spectra of fresh and oxidized (+)-catechin as well as oxidized (+)-catechin/glycine mixtures in basic aqueous solution in contact with air are reported in Figure 4.5. As reported by Bark *et al.*<sup>326</sup>, fresh (+)-catechin absorbed a low level of emission in the shorter wavelengths, producing a small shoulder. This could be explained by a small amount of the (+)-catechin being oxidized during storage of the solid compound or immediately when exposed to the solution conditions.

To confirm that both observed peaks were related to the oxidation of (+)-catechin, the experiment was repeated with added ascorbic acid, a potent antioxidant known to regenerate catechins<sup>327</sup>. Over the 28 hours following the addition of KOH, the absorbance spectra obtained from the (+)-catechin/ascorbic acid samples remained identical to the spectra obtained from fresh (+)-catechin. Glycine and ascorbic acid do not absorb in the visible range. Therefore, Peaks 1 and 2 are deemed to be produced due oxidative processes, in accordance with the current literature<sup>326, 328</sup>.



*Figure 4.5* Impact of added glycine on the absorbance spectra of (+)-catechin under oxidative conditions.

After 24 hours, two peaks formed in the (+)-catechin samples: Peak 1 around 435 nm and Peak 2 around 495 nm. These peaks correspond to those found in previous studies<sup>329-330</sup>. Because peak separation was not achieved, peak areas were calculated (Figure 4.6). The addition of glycine drastically lowered Peak 1, cutting its absorbance by half. Glycine did not have a significant impact on Peak 2. Over time, (+)-catechin's peak areas increased whereas in the presence of glycine, they remained more stable. The increase in Peak 1 in the absence of glycine was accompanied by a visually noticeable increase in yellow tint.



Figure 4.6 Areas of visible light absorbance peaks for oxidized (+)-catechin samples.

Because both peaks evolve differently with time and with added reactants, it can be assumed that they arise from different compounds. As mentioned previously (Section 2.4.2), (+)-catechin can epimerize under the applied conditions, forming epicatechin. Dehydrocatechins dimerize via interflavanic bonds, forming DhC<sub>2</sub> or procyanidins. Peak 1 must correspond to yellow-colored A-type catechin dimers and trimers<sup>197</sup> or procyanidins<sup>331</sup>. Very little visible absorbance data is available; however, at pH=6,  $\gamma$ -DhC<sub>2</sub> shows a peak at 385 nm and  $\delta$ -DhC<sub>2</sub>, at 412 nm<sup>194</sup>. The different analysis method used may be the cause of deviation. The Michael addition of glycine to (+)-catechin could inhibit catechin dimers involving two adjacent B-ring carbons, as double Michael additions would occupy one of these carbons. All DhC<sub>2</sub> A ( $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and the likely intermediate  $\alpha$ ) involve adjacent ether and C-C bonds between one unit's A-ring and the other's B-ring. This would explain the decrease in Peak 1: because a proportion of the oxidized (+)-catechin reacts with glycine, it cannot form yellow-colored compounds. The reaction is likely

incomplete, allowing the remaining oxidized (+)-catechin to form the colored oligomers. DhC<sub>2</sub> B ( $\beta$  and  $\epsilon$ ) may still be formed, as they involve a single interflavanic linkage, although steric hindrance could play a role. These compounds are colorless, and their production cannot be monitored by visible spectrometry.

As for Peak 2, although visible in published spectra for basic catechin solutions<sup>329-330</sup>, few studies have identified (+)-catechin-related compounds that absorb around 500 nm, giving them a reddish color. In high pH aqueous (+)-catechin solutions heated to 60 °C for two hours in the presence of added H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, Germann, Stark & Hoffman found hydroxyxanthene-derived chromophores with absorbance maxima between 380 and 514 nm<sup>332</sup>. The compounds are reported to be reddish and absorb at 496 nm under basic conditions<sup>332-333</sup>, which corresponds to Peak 2. The authors named the compounds formed in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> "xanthenocatechins" and "xanthenoepicatechins"<sup>332</sup>. Although the solutions prepared in the present study did not contain added H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and were left incubated at room temperature, the oxidation of (+)-catechin can generate H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> by reducing molecular oxygen. The extended incubation at room temperature could mimic results obtained from similar samples exposed to a higher temperature for a shorter period. The hydroxyxanthene-derived compound is similar in structure and color to xanthylium salt derivatives formed between two equivalents of (+)-catechin and glyoxylic or tartaric acid<sup>334-336</sup>. Similar structures have been reported following reactions between malvidin-3-glucoside and (+)catechin, which first form a B-type dimer via a C-C link between their A- and C-rings, followed by dehydration to close the xanthelium structure<sup>337</sup>. The reaction mechanism involved in the formation of the xanthenocatechins and xanthenoepicatechins has not been described and would seem to involve several rearrangements<sup>332</sup>. All the xanthene-derived compounds found in the literature are the result of intermolecular reactions between A-rings, and the B-rings remain intact, suggesting that the Michael addition of glycine to (+)-catechin's B-ring would not interfere with their formation.

Samples containing glycine appeared more peach-hued than those without the amino acid, which were more yellow. This is explained by the slightly larger peak area for Peak 2 in the presence glycine, which could be an effect of the competition between the reactions involved in the formation of the compounds associated with the peaks. It is also possible that glycine plays a role in the formation of xanthylium salts identical to those described by Es-Safi *et al.*<sup>333</sup>, if glycine

can replace glyoxylic acid in the proposed mechanism. The second derivative of the absorbance curves indicates a minor bathochromic shift for Peak 2 of samples containing glycine. This could be the result of the structural modification caused by the addition of the glycyl groups.

Visible spectrophotometry can be used as a simple tool to study the impact of oxidation on a food product's visual characteristics, which are crucial to its quality and consumer acceptance. Although absorbance peaks may represent different structurally similar compounds, their overall impact on color may be more relevant than the identification of the individual compounds causing color changes. The use of basic conditions to accelerate (+)-catechin oxidation and its reaction with glycine may not appropriately reflect processes involved in foods and should be modified if used as a model for specific purposes. However, using a higher pH effectively enhanced reaction rates compared to neutral conditions at room temperature.

This study highlights the need for further elucidation and identification of (+)-catechin's oxidation products in basic hydroalcoholic solutions. Namely, the characteristic absorbance wavelengths of oligomers and their rearrangement products should be collected to aid in analysis. Proper insight on the mechanism of production of the previously reported xanthenocatechins would help evaluate potential applications or control methods. An algorithm has been developed to predict the UV-visible spectra of compounds based on their structure using machine learning, which could help associate individual and/or combined peaks to the compounds identified in a mixture<sup>338</sup>.

Overall, glycine can help control the development of yellow color in catechin-rich media, specifically under basic conditions, with a small increase in red color. In light of these results, along with glycine's ability to control oxygen uptake in red wine, it seems as though the addition of this amino acid could be suitable in red wine, where color stability and controlled oxidation are beneficial to the product's quality. During preliminary testing, glycine was not linked to particle deposition, contrarily to L-cysteine. Further research in this direction could provide more insightful conclusions as to this application.

This pigmentation could also prove useful in other foods where red colour is desirable. For example, oxidation-prone red meat suffers from a loss of its bright red hues over time<sup>339</sup>. Coating of the meat in a catechin solution or film could help in multiple ways: catechin itself would protect the meat's pigments and lipids against oxidation, before reacting with free amino acids present in

meat<sup>340</sup>, thus regenerating the antioxidant activity. Finally, the red pigments formed by catechin/glycine oxidation products could help enhance the redness of the meat. Other foods in which a similar strategy may be promising include red fruit juices and smoothies, emulsions such as red pepper mayonnaises and aioli, and fried foods (beet chips, spice-coated fried snacks, etc.).
## **CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION**

#### **5.1 General conclusions**

The reaction of glycine with (+)-catechin and catechin-related structures was investigated in this study, providing mechanistic insight that builds on previous research. Three adducts were detected and characterized using an isotopic labelling technique, ESI-HRMS and MS/MS, and indicated the occurrence of Michael additions of one and two glycine moieties to HQ. The proposed reaction mechanism involves additional oxidation and hydroxyl group regeneration steps, potentially allowing extended antioxidant capacity to the adducts formed compared to the unreacted phenolic compound. This mechanism was extrapolated to fit that of (+)-catechin and glycine's reaction, in accordance with previous studies.

Although the Michael addition of amines to quinones has been proposed to regenerate antioxidant activity elsewhere, this seems to be the first study to attempt to relativize the protective effect of the formed adducts. To counter the scarcity of studies reporting the antioxidant activity of combined polyphenols and amino acids, methodologies were also developed and evaluated according to the quality of results and their ease of use. These tests included UV-visible spectrometric, colorimetric, electrochemical and oxygen consumption methods. The acquisition of UV-visible spectrometry data could easily provide an indication of (+)-catechin's oxidation and the impact of glycine on its pigmented products. Although the method provides little structural information on the compounds responsible for the formation of each peak, these may be used as markers of oxidation and provide a meaningful representation of the products' impact on colour, strongly correlated with quality perception in many foods. Cyclic voltammetry was also attempted on solutions of phenolic compounds and amino acids. Glycine was only suspected to have a favorable antioxidant effect with (+)-catechin, and not with 4-methylcatechol or HQ. The functioning of the voltammeter proved to be an obstacle, and clean, reproducible results were not obtained, preventing the collection of meaningful cathodic peak results. Commercial cyclic voltammetry instrumentation needs further improvements to make their use worthwhile. The panisidine value assay was attempted in FSO heated with added HQ and glycine. In the oil, the addition of combined HQ and glycine increased the *p*-anisidine value compared to HQ alone. The reasons for this were not defined, but interference could not be ruled out. Finally, the oxygen

consumption of FSO with added 4-methylcatechol and glycine and of red wine with added glycine were measured using a new automated instrument. In FSO, the combination did not exhibit beneficial effects as compared to HQ alone, possibly due to solubility issues. However, glycine had an astonishing limiting effect on oxygen consumption in oil that was completely lost when stirred, highlighting an unexpected phenomenon. In wine, the addition of glycine effectively limited oxygen uptake, likely due to its interaction with the abundant flavonoids naturally present.

#### **5.2 Suggestions for future research areas**

Future work should be performed to enhance the understanding of the reactions between quinones and amines, notably regarding the reaction parameters that favour Schiff base formation and Michael addition. To do so, conditions such as pH, temperature, and most importantly solvents (and even lack thereof) should be modified prior to characterization of the products formed. To better understand the effects of (+)-catechin and glycine interactions in foods, models that are representative of the specific media should be used. These models should also be studied using different combinations of polyphenols and amino acids to generalize the conclusions or underline differences. To confirm the antioxidant effect, the reactions should be further investigated in foodstuff using more promising analytical methods, such as headspace gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry for the analysis of volatile secondary oxidation products of oils. Other emerging effects could also be surveyed, such as antimicrobial or pharmaceutical properties, as the adducts are underrepresented in the literature and could exhibit unanticipated behaviours. Toxicity evaluation of the products and sensory analyses could be pursued to ensure the strategy's suitability in food production.

### **CHAPTER 6. REFERENCES**

- CEC, Characterization and Management of Food Loss and Waste in North America. Commission for Environmental Cooperation: Montreal, Canada, 2017; p 289.
- 2. Bruice, P. Y., Organic chemistry. 8th ed.; Pearson: Upper Saddle River, NJ, 2016.
- Wang, C.; Sun, C.; Lu, W.; Gul, K.; Mata, A.; Fang, Y., Emulsion structure design for improving the oxidative stability of polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* 2020, 19 (6), 2955-2971.
- 4. Johnson, D. R.; Inchingolo, R.; Decker, E. A., The ability of oxygen scavenging packaging to inhibit vitamin degradation and lipid oxidation in fish oil-in-water emulsions. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies* **2018**, *47*, 467-475.
- 5. Mercier, Y.; Gatellier, P.; Viau, M.; Remignon, H.; Renerre, M., Effect of dietary fat and vitamin E on colour stability and on lipid and protein oxidation in Turkey meat during storage. *Meat Science* **1998**, *48* (3), 301-318.
- 6. Volf, I.; Ignat, I.; Neamtu, M.; Popa, V. I., Thermal stability, antioxidant activity, and photo-oxidation of natural polyphenols. *Chemical Papers* **2014**, *68* (1), 121-129.
- Sotler, R.; Poljšak, B.; Dahmane, R.; Jukić, T.; Pavan Jukić, D.; Rotim, C.; Trebše, P.; Starc, A., Prooxidant activities of antioxidants and their impact on health. *Acta Clin Croat* 2019, 58 (4), 726-736.
- Matthäus, B., Oxidation of edible oils. In Oxidation in Foods and Beverages and Antioxidant Applications, Decker, E. A.; Elias, R. J.; Julian McClements, D., Eds. Woodhead Publishing: 2010; pp 183-238.
- Skibsted, L. H., Understanding oxidation processes in foods. In Oxidation in Foods and Beverages and Antioxidant Applications, Decker, E. A., Ed. Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2010; pp 3-35.
- 10. Nathan, C., Points of control in inflammation. *Nature* **2002**, *420* (6917), 846-852.
- 11. Libby, P., Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature* **2002**, *420* (6917), 868-874.
- 12. Libby, P., Inflammation and cardiovascular disease mechanisms. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **2006**, *83* (2), 456S-460S.

- Chung, F.-L.; Chen, H.-J. C.; Nath, R. G., Lipid peroxidation as a potential endogenous source for the formation of exocyclic DNA adducts. *Carcinogenesis* 1996, *17* (10), 2105-2111.
- 14. Winczura, A.; Zdżalik, D.; Tudek, B., Damage of DNA and proteins by major lipid peroxidation products in genome stability. *Free Radical Research* **2012**, *46* (4), 442-459.
- 15. Spickett, C. M.; Forman, H. J., *Lipid Oxidation in Health and Disease*. CRC Press: Boca Raton, 2015; p 440.
- Lü, J.-M.; Lin, P. H.; Yao, Q.; Chen, C., Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: experimental approaches and model systems. *J Cell Mol Med* 2010, *14* (4), 840-860.
- Merrill, L. I.; Pike, O. A.; Ogden, L. V.; Dunn, M. L., Oxidative Stability of Conventional and High-Oleic Vegetable Oils with Added Antioxidants. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 2008, 85 (8), 771-776.
- McClements, D. J.; Decker, E. A., Lipids. In *Fennema's Food Chemistry*, 5th ed.;
   Damodaran, S.; Parkin, K. L., Eds. CRC Press: Boca Raton, Florida, 2017.
- 19. Miyashita, K., Paradox of omega-3 PUFA oxidation. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* **2014**, *116* (10), 1268-1279.
- Frankel, E. N., Chemistry of Autoxidation: Mechanism, Products and Flavor Significance. In *Flavor Chemistry of Fats and Oils*, Min, D. B.; Smouse, T. H., Eds. AOCS: Champaign, 1985; pp 1-37.
- Harshfield, E. L.; Koulman, A.; Ziemek, D.; Marney, L.; Fauman, E. B.; Paul, D. S.; Stacey, D.; Rasheed, A.; Lee, J.-J.; Shah, N.; Jabeen, S.; Imran, A.; Abbas, S.; Hina, Z.; Qamar, N.; Mallick, N. H.; Yaqoob, Z.; Saghir, T.; Rizvi, S. N. H.; Memon, A.; Rasheed, S. Z.; Memon, F.-u.-R.; Qureshi, I. H.; Ishaq, M.; Frossard, P.; Danesh, J.; Saleheen, D.; Butterworth, A. S.; Wood, A. M.; Griffin, J. L., An Unbiased Lipid Phenotyping Approach To Study the Genetic Determinants of Lipids and Their Association with Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors. *Journal of Proteome Research* 2019, *18* (6), 2397-2410.
- 22. Gordon, M. H., 7 Factors affecting lipid oxidation. In *Understanding and Measuring the Shelf-Life of Food*, Steele, R., Ed. Woodhead publishing: Cambridge, 2004; pp 289-316.

- Comandini, P.; Verardo, V.; Maiocchi, P.; Caboni, M. F., Accelerated oxidation: Comparative study of a new reactor with oxidation stability instrument. *European Journal* of Lipid Science and Technology 2009, 111 (9), 933-940.
- Gunstone, F. D., Composition and Properties of Edible Oils. In *Edible Oil Processing*, Hamm, W.; Hamilton, R. J.; Calliauw, G., Eds. John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, 2013; pp 1-39.
- Aguilera, M. P.; Beltrán, G.; Ortega, D.; Fernández, A.; Jiménez, A.; Uceda, M., Characterisation of virgin olive oil of Italian olive cultivars: `Frantoio' and `Leccino', grown in Andalusia. *Food Chemistry* 2005, 89 (3), 387-391.
- Tavares, M.; Barberio, J. C. In *Fatty acid composition of Brazilian palm oil*, Proceedings of the PORIM International Palm Oil Congress: Update and vision in chemistry and technology,, Kuala Lumpur (Malyasia), PORIM: Kuala Lumpur (Malyasia), 1995; pp 328-332.
- 27. *The Lipid Handbook.* CRC Press/Taylor & Francis: Abingdon, 2007.
- Tuberoso, C. I. G.; Kowalczyk, A.; Sarritzu, E.; Cabras, P., Determination of antioxidant compounds and antioxidant activity in commercial oilseeds for food use. *Food Chemistry* 2007, *103* (4), 1494-1501.
- 29. Giuliani, A.; Cerretani, L.; Cichelli, A., Chlorophylls in Olive and in Olive Oil: Chemistry and Occurrences. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* **2011**, *51* (7), 678-690.
- Contini, C.; Álvarez, R.; O'Sullivan, M.; Dowling, D. P.; Gargan, S. Ó.; Monahan, F. J., Effect of an active packaging with citrus extract on lipid oxidation and sensory quality of cooked turkey meat. *Meat Science* 2014, 96 (3), 1171-1176.
- Hidalgo, F. J.; Zamora, R., 2-Alkenal-scavenging ability of m-diphenols. *Food Chemistry* 2014, *160*, 118-126.
- 32. Stadtman, E. R.; Levine, R. L., Free radical-mediated oxidation of free amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins. *Amino Acids* **2003**, *25* (3), 207-218.
- Stadtman, E. R., oxidation of free amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins by radiolysis and by metal-catalyzed reactions. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 1993, 62 (1), 797-821.
- Kim, G.; Weiss, S. J.; Levine, R. L., Methionine oxidation and reduction in proteins. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects 2014, 1840 (2), 901-905.

- 35. Tan, Y.; Wang, J.; Chen, F.; Niu, S.; Yu, J., Effect of protein oxidation on kinetics of droplets stability probed by microrheology in O/W and W/O emulsions of whey protein concentrate. *Food Research International* 2016, 85, 259-265.
- Grosch, W.; Wieser, H., Redox Reactions in Wheat Dough as Affected by Ascorbic Acid. Journal of Cereal Science 1999, 29 (1), 1-16.
- 37. Singh, H., Heat stability of milk. *International Journal of Dairy Technology* 2004, *57* (2-3), 111-119.
- Rowe, L. J.; Maddock, K. R.; Lonergan, S. M.; Huff-Lonergan, E., Influence of early postmortem protein oxidation on beef quality1. *Journal of Animal Science* 2004, 82 (3), 785-793.
- 39. Hellwig, M., The Chemistry of Protein Oxidation in Food. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2019**, *58* (47), 16742-16763.
- 40. Suman, S. P.; Joseph, P., Myoglobin Chemistry and Meat Color. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology* **2013**, *4* (1), 79-99.
- Luciano, G.; Vasta, V.; Monahan, F. J.; López-Andrés, P.; Biondi, L.; Lanza, M.; Priolo, A., Antioxidant status, colour stability and myoglobin resistance to oxidation of longissimus dorsi muscle from lambs fed a tannin-containing diet. *Food Chemistry* 2011, 124 (3), 1036-1042.
- 42. Riaz, M. N.; Asif, M.; Ali, R., Stability of Vitamins during Extrusion. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* **2009**, *49* (4), 361-368.
- 43. Tanno, R.; Kato, S.; Shimizu, N.; Ito, J.; Sato, S.; Ogura, Y.; Sakaino, M.; Sano, T.; Eitsuka, T.; Kuwahara, S.; Miyazawa, T.; Nakagawa, K., Analysis of oxidation products of α-tocopherol in extra virgin olive oil using liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. *Food Chemistry* **2020**, *306*, 125582.
- 44. Njus, D.; Kelley, P. M.; Tu, Y.-J.; Schlegel, H. B., Ascorbic acid: The chemistry underlying its antioxidant properties. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2020**, *159*, 37-43.
- Hemery, Y. M.; Laillou, A.; Fontan, L.; Jallier, V.; Moench-Pfanner, R.; Berger, J.; Avallone, S., Storage conditions and packaging greatly affects the stability of fortified wheat flour: Influence on vitamin A, iron, zinc, and oxidation. *Food Chemistry* 2018, 240, 43-50.

- 46. Belščak-Cvitanović, A.; Durgo, K.; Huđek, A.; Bačun-Družina, V.; Komes, D., Overview of polyphenols and their properties. In *Polyphenols: Properties, Recovery, and Applications*, Galanakis, C. M., Ed. Woodhead Publishing: 2018; pp 3-44.
- 47. Mochizuki, M.; Yamazaki, S.-i.; Kano, K.; Ikeda, T., Kinetic analysis and mechanistic aspects of autoxidation of catechins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects* **2002**, *1569* (1), 35-44.
- Talcott, S. T.; Howard, L. R., Phenolic Autoxidation Is Responsible for Color Degradation in Processed Carrot Puree. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 1999, 47 (5), 2109-2115.
- Dellinger, B.; Lomnicki, S.; Khachatryan, L.; Maskos, Z.; Hall, R. W.; Adounkpe, J.; McFerrin, C.; Truong, H., Formation and stabilization of persistent free radicals. *Proc Combust Inst* 2007, *31* (1), 521-528.
- Jöbstl, E.; O'Connell, J.; Fairclough, J. P. A.; Williamson, M. P., Molecular model for astringency produced by polyphenol/protein interactions. *Biomacromolecules* 2004, 5 (3), 942-949.
- Charlton, A. J.; Baxter, N. J.; Khan, M. L.; Moir, A. J. G.; Haslam, E.; Davies, A. P.; Williamson, M. P., Polyphenol/Peptide Binding and Precipitation. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry 2002, 50 (6), 1593-1601.
- Gui, F.; Wu, J.; Chen, F.; Liao, X.; Hu, X.; Zhang, Z.; Wang, Z., Change of polyphenol oxidase activity, color, and browning degree during storage of cloudy apple juice treated by supercritical carbon dioxide. *European Food Research and Technology* 2006, 223 (3), 427-432.
- 53. Soto-Vaca, A.; Gutierrez, A.; Losso, J. N.; Xu, Z.; Finley, J. W., Evolution of Phenolic Compounds from Color and Flavor Problems to Health Benefits. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2012**, *60* (27), 6658-6677.
- Federico Casassa, L.; Harbertson, J. F., Extraction, Evolution, and Sensory Impact of Phenolic Compounds During Red Wine Maceration. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology* 2014, 5 (1), 83-109.
- 55. Baxter, N. J.; Lilley, T. H.; Haslam, E.; Williamson, M. P., Multiple interactions between polyphenols and a salivary proline-rich protein repeat result in complexation and precipitation. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36* (18), 5566-5577.

- Kokkinidou, S.; Peterson, D. G., Control of Maillard-Type Off-Flavor Development in Ultrahigh-Temperature-Processed Bovine Milk by Phenolic Chemistry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2014, 62 (32), 8023-8033.
- 57. Totlani, V. M.; Peterson, D. G., Reactivity of Epicatechin in Aqueous Glycine and Glucose Maillard Reaction Models: Quenching of C2, C3, and C4 Sugar Fragments. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2005, 53 (10), 4130-4135.
- 58. Zaprometov, M. N., Tannins, Lignans, and Lignins. In *Phytochemicals in Plant Cell Cultures*, Constabel, F.; Vasil, I. K., Eds. Academic Press: 1988; pp 89-97.
- Moreno, J.; Peinado, R., Wine Colloids. In *Enological Chemistry*, Moreno, J.; Peinado, R., Eds. Academic Press: San Diego, 2012; pp 323-354.
- 60. Carrascon, V.; Fernandez-Zurbano, P.; Bueno, M.; Ferreira, V., Oxygen Consumption by Red Wines. Part II: Differential Effects on Color and Chemical Composition Caused by Oxygen Taken in Different Sulfur Dioxide-Related Oxidation Contexts. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2015, 63 (51), 10938-10947.
- Danilewicz, J. C., Mechanism of Autoxidation of Polyphenols and Participation of Sulfite in Wine: Key Role of Iron. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 2011, 62 (3), 319-328.
- 62. Lester, M. R., Sulfite sensitivity: significance in human health. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* **1995**, *14* (3), 229-232.
- Costanigro, M.; Appleby, C.; Menke, S. D., The wine headache: Consumer perceptions of sulfites and willingness to pay for non-sulfited wines. *Food Quality and Preference* 2014, *31*, 81-89.
- D'Amico, M.; Di Vita, G.; Monaco, L., Exploring environmental consciousness and consumer preferences for organic wines without sulfites. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016, *120*, 64-71.
- 65. Waterhouse, A. L.; Laurie, V. F., Oxidation of Wine Phenolics: A Critical Evaluation and Hypotheses. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* **2006**, *57* (3), 306-313.
- Karbowiak, T.; Gougeon, R. D.; Alinc, J.-B.; Brachais, L.; Debeaufort, F.; Voilley, A.; Chassagne, D., Wine Oxidation and the Role of Cork. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 2009, *50* (1), 20-52.

- 67. Lequin, S.; Chassagne, D.; Karbowiak, T.; Simon, J.-M.; Paulin, C.; Bellat, J.-P., Diffusion of Oxygen in Cork. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2012**, *60* (13), 3348-3356.
- 68. Kilmartin, P. A., Chapter 4 Microoxidation in Wine Production. In *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*, Taylor, S. L., Ed. Academic Press: 2010; Vol. 61, pp 149-186.
- Xu, Y.-Q.; Zhang, Y.-N.; Chen, J.-X.; Wang, F.; Du, Q.-Z.; Yin, J.-F., Quantitative analyses of the bitterness and astringency of catechins from green tea. *Food Chemistry* 2018, 258, 16-24.
- Hasanuzzaman, M.; Bhuyan, M. H. M. B.; Zulfiqar, F.; Raza, A.; Mohsin, S. M.; Mahmud, J. A.; Fujita, M.; Fotopoulos, V., Reactive Oxygen Species and Antioxidant Defense in Plants under Abiotic Stress: Revisiting the Crucial Role of a Universal Defense Regulator. *Antioxidants* 2020, 9 (8), 681.
- Chalcraft, J. R.; Cardinal, L. M.; Wechsler, P. J.; Hollis, B. W.; Gerow, K. G.; Alexander,
  B. M.; Keith, J. F.; Larson-Meyer, D. E., Vitamin D Synthesis Following a Single Bout of
  Sun Exposure in Older and Younger Men and Women. *Nutrients* 2020, *12* (8), 2237.
- Fernandez-Robredo, P.; González-Zamora, J.; Recalde, S.; Bilbao-Malavé, V.; Bezunartea,
   J.; Hernandez, M.; Garcia-Layana, A., Vitamin D Protects against Oxidative Stress and
   Inflammation in Human Retinal Cells. *Antioxidants* 2020, 9 (9), 838.
- 73. Wiseman, H., Vitamin D is a membrane antioxidant Ability to inhibit iron-dependent lipid peroxidation in liposomes compared to cholesterol, ergosterol and tamoxifen and relevance to anticancer action. *FEBS Letters* **1993**, *326* (1-3), 285-288.
- 74. Lykkesfeldt, J.; Michels, A. J.; Frei, B., Vitamin C. *Advances in Nutrition* 2014, 5 (1), 16-18.
- 75. Jennings, B. H.; Akoh, C. C., Effectiveness of natural versus synthetic antioxidants in a rice bran oil-based structured lipid. *Food Chemistry* **2009**, *114* (4), 1456-1461.
- Bunaciu, A. A.; Aboul-Enein, H. Y.; Fleschin, S., FTIR Spectrophotometric Methods Used for Antioxidant Activity Assay in Medicinal Plants. *Applied Spectroscopy Reviews* 2012, 47 (4), 245-255.
- Leopoldini, M.; Marino, T.; Russo, N.; Toscano, M., Antioxidant Properties of Phenolic Compounds: H-Atom versus Electron Transfer Mechanism. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry A* 2004, *108* (22), 4916-4922.

- 78. Martin, M.; Macias, M.; Escames, G.; Leon, J.; Acuna-Castroviejo, D., Melatonin but not vitamins C and E maintains glutathione homeostasis in t-butyl hydroperoxide-induced mitochondrial oxidative stress. *The FASEB Journal* 2000, *14* (12), 1677-1679.
- 79. Azzi, A.; Davies, K. J. A.; Kelly, F., Free radical biology terminology and critical thinking. *FEBS Letters* **2004**, *558* (1-3), 3-6.
- Leopoldini, M.; Russo, N.; Chiodo, S.; Toscano, M., Iron Chelation by the Powerful Antioxidant Flavonoid Quercetin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2006, 54 (17), 6343-6351.
- Chung S Yang; Janelle M Landau; Mou-Tuan Huang, a.; Newmark, H. L., Inhibition of Carcinogenesis by Dietary Polyphenolic Compounds. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 2001, 21 (1), 381-406.
- Cao, G.; Sofic, E.; Prior, R. L., Antioxidant and Prooxidant Behavior of Flavonoids: Structure-Activity Relationships. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 1997, 22 (5), 749-760.
- Berrill, A.; Biddlecombe, J.; Bracewell, D., Product Quality During Manufacture and Supply. In *Peptide and Protein Delivery*, Van Der Walle, C., Ed. Academic Press: Boston, 2011; pp 313-339.
- Cos, P.; Ying, L.; Calomme, M.; Hu, J. P.; Cimanga, K.; Van Poel, B.; Pieters, L.; Vlietinck, A. J.; Berghe, D. V., Structure–Activity Relationship and Classification of Flavonoids as Inhibitors of Xanthine Oxidase and Superoxide Scavengers. *Journal of Natural Products* 1998, 61 (1), 71-76.
- 85. Dimitrić Marković, J. M.; Milenković, D.; Amić, D.; Popović-Bijelić, A.; Mojović, M.; Pašti, I. A.; Marković, Z. S., Energy requirements of the reactions of kaempferol and selected radical species in different media: towards the prediction of the possible radical scavenging mechanisms. *Structural Chemistry* 2014, 25 (6), 1795-1804.
- Schrauben, J. N.; Cattaneo, M.; Day, T. C.; Tenderholt, A. L.; Mayer, J. M., Multiple-Site Concerted Proton–Electron Transfer Reactions of Hydrogen-Bonded Phenols Are Nonadiabatic and Well Described by Semiclassical Marcus Theory. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2012, *134* (40), 16635-16645.
- 87. Galano, A.; Tan, D. X.; Reiter, R. J., On the free radical scavenging activities of melatonin's metabolites, AFMK and AMK. *Journal of Pineal Research* **2013**, *54* (3), 245-257.

- Apak, R.; Özyürek, M.; Güçlü, K.; Çapanoğlu, E., Antioxidant Activity/Capacity Measurement. 2. Hydrogen Atom Transfer (HAT)-Based, Mixed-Mode (Electron Transfer (ET)/HAT), and Lipid Peroxidation Assays. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2016, 64 (5), 1028-1045.
- Valko, M.; Leibfritz, D.; Moncol, J.; Cronin, M. T. D.; Mazur, M.; Telser, J., Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 2007, *39* (1), 44-84.
- Lee, D. H.; Kim, Y. S.; Lee, C. B., The inductive responses of the antioxidant enzymes by salt stress in the rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Journal of Plant Physiology* 2001, *158* (6), 737-745.
- 91. Hassanpour, H., Effect of Aloe vera gel coating on antioxidant capacity, antioxidant enzyme activities and decay in raspberry fruit. *LWT Food Science and Technology* 2015, 60 (1), 495-501.
- 92. Margis, R.; Dunand, C.; Teixeira, F. K.; Margis-Pinheiro, M., Glutathione peroxidase family an evolutionary overview. *The FEBS Journal* **2008**, *275* (15), 3959-3970.
- 93. Han, H.; Lee, K., Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria effect on antioxidant status, photosynthesis, mineral uptake and growth of lettuce under soil salinity. *Res J Agric Biol Sci* 2005, 1 (3), 210-215.
- 94. Meyer, A. S.; Isaksen, A., Application of enzymes as food antioxidants. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* **1995**, *6* (9), 300-304.
- 95. Shahidi, F.; Janitha, P. K.; Wanasundara, P. D., Phenolic antioxidants. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* **1992**, *32* (1), 67-103.
- 96. Lucarini, M.; Pedrielli, P.; Pedulli, G. F.; Cabiddu, S.; Fattuoni, C., Bond Dissociation Energies of O–H Bonds in Substituted Phenols from Equilibration Studies. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* 1996, 61 (26), 9259-9263.
- 97. Zhang, H.-Y.; Wang, L.-F., Solvent Effects are Important in Elucidating Radical-Scavenging Mechanisms of Antioxidants. A Case Study on Genistein. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics* 2005, 22 (4), 483-486.
- 98. Amorati, R.; Cavalli, A.; Fumo, M. G.; Masetti, M.; Menichetti, S.; Pagliuca, C.; Pedulli,G. F.; Viglianisi, C., Kinetic and Thermochemical Study of the Antioxidant Activity of

Sulfur-Containing Analogues of Vitamin E. *Chemistry – A European Journal* **2007**, *13* (29), 8223-8230.

- Kfoury, M.; Landy, D.; Auezova, L.; Greige-Gerges, H.; Fourmentin, S., Effect of cyclodextrin complexation on phenylpropanoids' solubility and antioxidant activity. *Beilstein Journal of Organic Chemistry* 2014, 10, 2322-2331.
- 100. Spigno, G.; Donsì, F.; Amendola, D.; Sessa, M.; Ferrari, G.; De Faveri, D. M., Nanoencapsulation systems to improve solubility and antioxidant efficiency of a grape marc extract into hazelnut paste. *Journal of Food Engineering* **2013**, *114* (2), 207-214.
- García-García, R.; Searle, S. S., Preservatives: Food Use. In *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*, Caballero, B.; Finglas, P. M.; Toldrá, F., Eds. Academic Press: Oxford, 2016; pp 505-509.
- Choulis, N. H., Miscellaneous drugs, materials, medical devices, and techniques. In *Side Effects of Drugs Annual*, Aronson, J. K., Ed. Elsevier: 2012; Vol. 34, pp 785-800.
- 103. Ullah, J.; Hamayoun, M.; Ahmad, T.; Ayub, M.; Zafarullah, M., Effect of Light, Natural and Synthetic Antioxidants on Stability of Edible Oil and Fats. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences* 2003, 2 (17-24), 1192-1194.
- 104. Wanasundara, U. N.; Shahidi, F., Antioxidant and pro-oxidant activity of green tea extracts in marine oils. *Food Chemistry* **1998**, *63* (3), 335-342.
- Michotte, D.; Rogez, H.; Chirinos, R.; Mignolet, E.; Campos, D.; Larondelle, Y., Linseed oil stabilisation with pure natural phenolic compounds. *Food Chemistry* 2011, *129* (3), 1228-1231.
- 106. Tirzitis, G.; Kirule, I.; Dubur, G., Antioxidant activity of some 1, 4-dihydropyridine and 1,
  4-dihydroindeno [1, 2-b] pyridine derivatives and their action as alpha-tocopherol synergists. *Developments in food science* 1985, *11* (B), 655-661.
- 107. Food and Drug Regulations Canada. In C.R.C., c. 870, Minister of Justice: Canada, 2021.
- 108. Health Canada. List of Permitted Preservatives (Lists of Permitted Food Additives). https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/food-nutrition/food-safety/foodadditives/lists-permitted/11-preservatives.html (accessed 12/02/2019).
- 109. Williams, G. M.; Iatropoulos, M. J.; Whysner, J., Safety Assessment of Butylated Hydroxyanisole and Butylated Hydroxytoluene as Antioxidant Food Additives. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **1999**, *37* (9), 1027-1038.

- Botterweck, A. A. M.; Verhagen, H.; Goldbohm, R. A.; Kleinjans, J.; van den Brandt, P. A., Intake of butylated hydroxyanisole and butylated hydroxytoluene and stomach cancer risk: results from analyses in the Netherlands Cohort Study. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 2000, *38* (7), 599-605.
- Sun, Z.; Gao, R.; Chen, X.; Liu, X.; Ding, Y.; Geng, Y.; Mu, X.; Liu, T.; Li, F.; Wang, Y.;
  He, J., Exposure to butylated hydroxytoluene compromises endometrial decidualization during early pregnancy. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 2021, 28 (31), 42024-42036.
- 112. Bredsdorff, L.; Olesen, P. T.; Pedersen, G. A.; Johansson, H. K. L.; Boberg, J. *DTU Updated Assessment of BHA and BHT*; Technical University of Denmark: 2020; p 28.
- 113. Naidenko, O. V.; Andrews, D. Q.; Temkin, A. M.; Stoiber, T.; Uche, U. I.; Evans, S.; Perrone-Gray, S., Investigating Molecular Mechanisms of Immunotoxicity and the Utility of ToxCast for Immunotoxicity Screening of Chemicals Added to Food. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2021, 18 (7), 3332.
- Salmanzadeh, R.; Eskandani, M.; Mokhtarzadeh, A.; Vandghanooni, S.; Ilghami, R.; Maleki, H.; Saeeidi, N.; Omidi, Y., Propyl gallate (PG) and tert-butylhydroquinone (TBHQ) may alter the potential anti-cancer behavior of probiotics. *Food Bioscience* 2018, 24, 37-45.
- 115. Meng, X.; Zhang, C.; Guo, Y.; Han, Y.; Wang, C.; Chu, H.; Kong, L.; Ma, H., TBHQ Attenuates Neurotoxicity Induced by Methamphetamine in the VTA through the Nrf2/HO-1 and PI3K/AKT Signaling Pathways. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2020, 2020, 8787156.
- Watson, R. R.; Preedy, V. R.; Zibadi, S., *Polyphenols in Human Health and Disease*.
   Elsevier Science & Technology: San Diego, UNITED STATES, 2014.
- 117. Chen, M.-F., Modeling an extended theory of planned behavior model to predict intention to take precautions to avoid consuming food with additives. *Food Quality and Preference* 2017, 58, 24-33.
- Mitterer-Daltoé, M.; Bordim, J.; Lise, C.; Breda, L.; Casagrande, M.; Lima, V., Consumer awareness of food antioxidants. Synthetic vs. Natural. *Food Science and Technology* 2021, 41, 208-212.

- Fraser, C. M.; Chapple, C., The phenylpropanoid pathway in Arabidopsis. *Arabidopsis Book* 2011, 9, e0152-e0152.
- 120. Pérez-Jiménez, J.; Neveu, V.; Vos, F.; Scalbert, A., Identification of the 100 richest dietary sources of polyphenols: an application of the Phenol-Explorer database. *European Journal* of Clinical Nutrition 2010, 64 (3), S112-S120.
- 121. Gollücke, A. P. B.; Peres, R. C.; Ribeiro, D. A.; Aguiar, O., Polyphenols as Supplements in Foods and Beverages: Recent Discoveries and Health Benefits, an Update. In *Polyphenols: Mechanisms of Action in Human Health and Disease (2nd Ed.)*, Watson, R. R.; Preedy, V. R.; Zibadi, S., Eds. Academic Press: 2018; pp 11-18.
- 122. Manach, C.; Scalbert, A.; Morand, C.; Rémésy, C.; Jiménez, L., Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **2004**, *79* (5), 727-747.
- 123. Mrduljaš, N.; Krešić, G.; Bilušić, T., Polyphenols: Food sources and health benefits. In Functional Food - Improve Health Through Adequate Food, Hueda, M. C., Ed. InTech Open: 2017; pp 23-41.
- 124. Zugasti-Cruz, A.; Rodríguez-Herrera, R.; Sierra-Rivera, C. A., Polyphenols: An Overview of Food Sources and Associated Bioactivities. In *Plant Metabolites: Methods, Applications and Prospects*, Sukumaran, S. T.; Sugathan, S.; Abdulhameed, S., Eds. Springer Singapore: Singapore, 2020; pp 465-496.
- 125. Panche, A. N.; Diwan, A. D.; Chandra, S. R., Flavonoids: an overview. *J Nutr Sci* 2016, *5*, e47-e47.
- 126. Samanta, A.; Das, G.; Das, S., Roles of flavonoids in Plants. *International Journal of pharmaceutical science and technology* **2011**, *6*, 12-35.
- Takahashi, A.; Ohnishi, T., The significance of the study about the biological effects of solar ultraviolet radiation using the Exposed Facility on the International Space Station. *Biol Sci Space* 2004, *18* (4), 255-60.
- Griesbach, R. J., Biochemistry and Genetics of Flower Color. In *Plant Breeding Reviews*, 2010; pp 89-114.
- 129. Socaci, S. A.; Rugină, D. O.; Diaconeasa, Z. M.; Pop, O. L.; Fărcaş, A. C.; Păucean, A.; Tofană, M.; Pintea, A., Antioxidant Compounds Recovered from Food Wastes. In *Functional Food - Improve Health Through Adequate Food*, Hueda, M. C., Ed. InTech Open: 2017; pp 23-41.

- Kuo, S. M., Dietary flavonoid and cancer prevention: evidence and potential mechanism. *Crit Rev Oncog* 1997, 8 (1), 47-69.
- 131. Dwyer, J. T.; Peterson, J., Tea and flavonoids: where we are, where to go next. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **2013**, *98* (6), 1611S-1618S.
- Rice-Evans, C.; Packer, L., *Flavonoids in health and disease*. Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003.
- Miura, Y.; Chiba, T.; Tomita, I.; Koizumi, H.; Miura, S.; Umegaki, K.; Hara, Y.; Ikeda, M., Tea Catechins Prevent the Development of Atherosclerosis in Apoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2001, *131* (1), 27-32.
- Scalbert, A.; Manach, C.; Morand, C.; Rémésy, C.; Jiménez, L., Dietary Polyphenols and the Prevention of Diseases. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 2005, 45 (4), 287-306.
- 135. Matsumoto, N.; Ishigaki, F.; Ishigaki, A.; Iwashina, H.; Hara, Y., Reduction of Blood Glucose Levels by Tea Catechin. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 1993, 57 (4), 525-527.
- Testa, R.; Bonfigli, A. R.; Genovese, S.; De Nigris, V.; Ceriello, A., The Possible Role of Flavonoids in the Prevention of Diabetic Complications. *Nutrients* 2016, 8 (5), 310.
- Samieri, C.; Sun, Q.; Townsend, M. K.; Rimm, E. B.; Grodstein, F., Dietary flavonoid intake at midlife and healthy aging in women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2014, *100* (6), 1489-1497.
- 138. Kondo, T.; Ohta, T.; Igura, K.; Hara, Y.; Kaji, K., Tea catechins inhibit angiogenesis in vitro, measured by human endothelial cell growth, migration and tube formation, through inhibition of VEGF receptor binding. *Cancer Letters* **2002**, *180* (2), 139-144.
- 139. Egert, S.; Rimbach, G., Which sources of flavonoids: complex diets or dietary supplements? *Adv Nutr* **2011**, *2* (1), 8-14.
- Ross, J. A.; Kasum, C. M., Dietary Flavonoids: Bioavailability, Metabolic Effects, and Safety. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 2002, 22 (1), 19-34.
- Tang, S. Z.; Kerry, J. P.; Sheehan, D.; Buckley, D. J.; Morrissey, P. A., Dietary tea catechins and iron-induced lipid oxidation in chicken meat, liver and heart. *Meat Science* 2000, *56* (3), 285-290.

- 142. Tang, S. Z.; Kerry, J. P.; Sheehan, D.; Buckley, D. J.; Morrissey, P. A., Antioxidative effect of dietary tea catechins on lipid oxidation of long-term frozen stored chicken meat. *Meat Science* 2001, 57 (3), 331-336.
- 143. Yilmaz, Y., Novel uses of catechins in foods. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 2006, 17 (2), 64-71.
- 144. Tang, S.; Kerry, J. P.; Sheehan, D.; Buckley, D. J.; Morrissey, P. A., Antioxidative effect of added tea catechins on susceptibility of cooked red meat, poultry and fish patties to lipid oxidation. *Food Research International* 2001, *34* (8), 651-657.
- Chen, Z. Y.; Chan, P. T., Antioxidative activity of green tea catechins in canola oil. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 1996, 82 (2), 163-172.
- 146. Arrieta, M. P.; Castro-López, M. d. M.; Rayón, E.; Barral-Losada, L. F.; López-Vilariño, J. M.; López, J.; González-Rodríguez, M. V., Plasticized Poly(lactic acid)– Poly(hydroxybutyrate) (PLA–PHB) Blends Incorporated with Catechin Intended for Active Food-Packaging Applications. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2014, 62 (41), 10170-10180.
- 147. Siripatrawan, U.; Noipha, S., Active film from chitosan incorporating green tea extract for shelf life extension of pork sausages. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2012**, *27* (1), 102-108.
- 148. Xiao, J.; Mao, F.; Yang, F.; Zhao, Y.; Zhang, C.; Yamamoto, K., Interaction of dietary polyphenols with bovine milk proteins: Molecular structure–affinity relationship and influencing bioactivity aspects. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 2011, 55 (11), 1637-1645.
- 149. Bartolomé, B.; Estrella, I.; Hernández, M. T., Interaction of Low Molecular Weight Phenolics with Proteins (BSA). *Journal of Food Science* **2000**, *65* (4), 617-621.
- Rashidinejad, A.; Birch, E. J.; Sun-Waterhouse, D.; Everett, D. W., Delivery of green tea catechin and epigallocatechin gallate in liposomes incorporated into low-fat hard cheese. *Food Chemistry* 2014, *156*, 176-183.
- 151. Lun Su, Y.; Leung, L. K.; Huang, Y.; Chen, Z.-Y., Stability of tea theaflavins and catechins. *Food Chemistry* **2003**, *83* (2), 189-195.
- Raab, T.; Barron, D.; Vera, F. A.; Crespy, V.; Oliveira, M.; Williamson, G., Catechin Glucosides: Occurrence, Synthesis, and Stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2010, 58 (4), 2138-2149.

- Lam, W. H.; Kazi, A.; Kuhn, D. J.; Chow, L. M. C.; Chan, A. S. C.; Ping Dou, Q.; Chan, T. H., A potential prodrug for a green tea polyphenol proteasome inhibitor: evaluation of the peracetate ester of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate [(-)-EGCG]. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 2004, *12* (21), 5587-5593.
- 154. Lopez-Toledano, A.; Mayen, M.; Merida, J.; Medina, M., Yeast-Induced Inhibition of (+)-Catechin and (-)-Epicatechin Degradation in Model Solutions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2002, *50* (6), 1631-1635.
- 155. Cohen, S. M.; Eisenbrad, G.; Fukushima, S.; Gooderham, N. J.; Guengerich, F. P.; S. S. Hecht; Rietjens, I. M. C. M.; Harman, C.; Taylor, S. V., GRAS flavoring substances 28. Food Technology 2018, 72 (7), 63-77.
- 156. Pinelo, M.; Manzocco, L.; José Nuñez, M.; Cristina Nicoli, M., Solvent effect on quercetin antioxidant capacity. *Food Chemistry* **2004**, *88* (2), 201-207.
- 157. Pedrielli, P.; Pedulli, G. F.; Skibsted, L. H., Antioxidant Mechanism of Flavonoids. Solvent Effect on Rate Constant for Chain-Breaking Reaction of Quercetin and Epicatechin in Autoxidation of Methyl Linoleate. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2001, 49 (6), 3034-3040.
- 158. Choe, E.; Min, D. B., Mechanisms of Antioxidants in the Oxidation of Foods. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* **2009**, *8* (4), 345-358.
- 159. Rosenblat, M.; Volkova, N.; Coleman, R.; Almagor, Y.; Aviram, M., Antiatherogenicity of extra virgin olive oil and its enrichment with green tea polyphenols in the atherosclerotic apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice: enhanced macrophage cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 2008, *19* (8), 514-523.
- 160. Keller, R. B., *Flavonoids: Biosynthesis, Biological Effects and Dietary Sources*. Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated: Hauppauge, UNITED STATES, 2009.
- Shahat, A. A.; Marzouk, M. S., Tannins and Related Compounds from Medicinal Plants of Africa. In *Medicinal Plant Research in Africa*, Kuete, V., Ed. Elsevier: Oxford, 2013; pp 479-555.
- 162. Murkovic, M., Phenolic Compounds: Occurrence, Classes, and Analysis. In *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*, Caballero, B.; Finglas, P. M.; Toldrá, F., Eds. Academic Press: Oxford, 2016; pp 346-351.

- 163. Maoela, M.; Arotiba, O.; Baker, P.; Mabusela, W.; Jahed, N.; Songa, E.; Iwuoha, E., Electroanalytical Determination of Catechin Flavonoid in Ethyl Acetate Extracts of Medicinal Plants. *Int. J. Electrochem. Sci. International Journal* 2009, *4*, 1497-1510.
- 164. Rababah, T. M.; Ereifej, K. I.; Esoh, R. B.; Al-u'datt, M. H.; Alrababah, M. A.; Yang, W., Antioxidant activities, total phenolics and HPLC analyses of the phenolic compounds of extracts from common Mediterranean plants. *Natural Product Research* 2011, 25 (6), 596-605.
- 165. Liu, M.; Tian, H.-l.; Wu, J.-H.; Cang, R.-R.; Wang, R.-X.; Qi, X.-H.; Xu, Q.; Chen, X.-H., Relationship between gene expression and the accumulation of catechin during spring and autumn in tea plants (Camellia sinensis L.). *Horticulture Research* 2015, *2* (1), 15011.
- 166. Chen, G.-H.; Yang, C.-Y.; Lee, S.-J.; Wu, C.-C.; Tzen, J. T. C., Catechin content and the degree of its galloylation in oolong tea are inversely correlated with cultivation altitude. *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis* 2014, 22 (3), 303-309.
- 167. Saklar, S.; Ertas, E.; Ozdemir, I. S.; Karadeniz, B., Effects of different brewing conditions on catechin content and sensory acceptance in Turkish green tea infusions. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 2015, 52 (10), 6639-6646.
- 168. Graham, H. N., Green tea composition, consumption, and polyphenol chemistry. *Preventive Medicine* **1992**, *21* (3), 334-350.
- 169. Bittner, S., When quinones meet amino acids: chemical, physical and biological consequences. *Amino Acids* **2006**, *30* (3), 205-224.
- Ananingsih, V. K.; Sharma, A.; Zhou, W., Green tea catechins during food processing and storage: A review on stability and detection. *Food Research International* 2013, *50* (2), 469-479.
- 171. Rice-Evans, C., Implications of the Mechanisms of Action of Tea Polyphenols as Antioxidants in vitro for Chemoprevention in Humans. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* **1999**, 220 (4), 262-266.
- Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M. C., *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine*. 5 ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 2015; p 944.
- 173. Nanjo, F.; Goto, K.; Seto, R.; Suzuki, M.; Sakai, M.; Hara, Y., Scavenging effects of tea catechins and their derivatives on 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl radical. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **1996**, *21* (6), 895-902.

- 174. Grzesik, M.; Naparło, K.; Bartosz, G.; Sadowska-Bartosz, I., Antioxidant properties of catechins: Comparison with other antioxidants. *Food Chemistry* **2018**, *241*, 480-492.
- 175. Wang, L.; Yang, Q.; Li, Y.; Wang, S.; Yang, F.; Zhao, X., How the functional group substitution and solvent effects affect the antioxidant activity of (+)-catechin? *Journal of Molecular Liquids* 2021, 327, 114818.
- 176. Guerra, P. V.; Yaylayan, V. A., Interaction of Flavanols with Amino Acids: Postoxidative Reactivity of the B-Ring of Catechin with Glycine. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2014, 62 (17), 3831-3836.
- 177. Janeiro, P.; Oliveira Brett, A. M., Catechin electrochemical oxidation mechanisms. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2004**, *518* (1), 109-115.
- 178. Bors, W.; Michel, C., Antioxidant capacity of flavanols and gallate esters: pulse radiolysis studies. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **1999**, *27* (11), 1413-1426.
- Hider, R. C.; Liu, Z. D.; Khodr, H. H., Metal chelation of polyphenols. In *Methods in Enzymology*, Academic Press: 2001; Vol. 335, pp 190-203.
- Kumamoto, M.; Sonda, T.; Nagayama, K.; Tabata, M., Effects of pH and Metal Ions on Antioxidative Activities of Catechins. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 2001, 65 (1), 126-132.
- Afanas'eva, I. B.; Ostrakhovitch, E. A.; Mikhal'chik, E. V.; Ibragimova, G. A.; Korkina,
   L. G., Enhancement of antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of bioflavonoid rutin
   by complexation with transition metals. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2001, *61* (6), 677-684.
- 182. Moridani, M. Y.; Pourahmad, J.; Bui, H.; Siraki, A.; O'Brien, P. J., Dietary flavonoid iron complexes as cytoprotective superoxide radical scavengers. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2003, 34 (2), 243-253.
- 183. Pękal, A.; Biesaga, M.; Pyrzynska, K., Interaction of quercetin with copper ions: complexation, oxidation and reactivity towards radicals. *BioMetals* **2011**, *24* (1), 41-49.
- 184. de Souza, R. F. V.; De Giovani, W. F., Antioxidant properties of complexes of flavonoids with metal ions. *Redox Report* **2004**, *9* (2), 97-104.
- 185. Cornard, J. P.; Merlin, J. C., Comparison of the chelating power of hydroxyflavones. *Journal of Molecular Structure* **2003**, *651-653*, 381-387.

- 186. Mladěnka, P.; Macáková, K.; Filipský, T.; Zatloukalová, L.; Jahodář, L.; Bovicelli, P.; Silvestri, I. P.; Hrdina, R.; Saso, L., In vitro analysis of iron chelating activity of flavonoids. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 2011, 105 (5), 693-701.
- 187. Hynes, M. J.; Ó Coinceanainn, M. n., The kinetics and mechanisms of the reaction of iron(III) with gallic acid, gallic acid methyl ester and catechin. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 2001, 85 (2), 131-142.
- 188. Shubham, K.; Anukiruthika, T.; Dutta, S.; Kashyap, A. V.; Moses, J. A.; Anandharamakrishnan, C., Iron deficiency anemia: A comprehensive review on iron absorption, bioavailability and emerging food fortification approaches. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 2020, 99, 58-75.
- 189. Salaris, S. C.; Babbs, C. F.; Pham, J.; Turek, J. J., Evidence That Free Fatty Acid-Iron Complexes Directly Initiate Lipid Peroxidation in Vitro and in Vivo: A New Mechanism of Oxidative Stress. Weldon School of Biomedical Engineering Faculty Working Papers 1992, 14.
- 190. Benzie, I. F. F.; Strain, J. J., The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a Measure of "Antioxidant Power": The FRAP Assay. *Analytical Biochemistry* **1996**, *239* (1), 70-76.
- Pandey, K. B.; Rizvi, S. I., Ferric Reducing and Radical Scavenging Activities of Selected Important Polyphenols Present In Foods. *International Journal of Food Properties* 2012, 15 (3), 702-708.
- 192. He, J.; Xu, L.; Yang, L.; Wang, X., Epigallocatechin Gallate Is the Most Effective Catechin Against Antioxidant Stress via Hydrogen Peroxide and Radical Scavenging Activity. *Med Sci Monit* 2018, 24, 8198-8206.
- 193. Ramos-Tejada, M. M.; Durán, J. D. G.; Ontiveros-Ortega, A.; Espinosa-Jimenez, M.; Perea-Carpio, R.; Chibowski, E., Investigation of alumina/(+)-catechin system properties. Part I: a study of the system by FTIR-UV–Vis spectroscopy. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces* 2002, 24 (3), 297-308.
- 194. Guyot, S.; Vercauteren, J.; Cheynier, V., Structural determination of colourless and yellow dimers resulting from (+)-catechin coupling catalysed by grape polyphenoloxidase. *Phytochemistry* **1996**, *42* (5), 1279-1288.

- 195. Ishino, N.; Yanase, E.; Nakatsuka, S.-I., Epimerization of Tea Catechins under Weakly Acidic and Alkaline Conditions. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 2010, 74 (4), 875-877.
- 196. Verloop, A. J. W.; Gruppen, H.; Vincken, J.-P., Annotation of Different Dehydrocatechin Oligomers by MS/MS and Their Occurrence in Black Tea. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2016, 64 (30), 6011-6023.
- 197. Callemien, D.; Collin, S., Involvement of Flavanoids in Beer Color Instability during Storage. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2007**, *55* (22), 9066-9073.
- 198. Yang, J.; Saggiomo, V.; Velders, A. H.; Cohen Stuart, M. A.; Kamperman, M., Reaction Pathways in Catechol/Primary Amine Mixtures: A Window on Crosslinking Chemistry. *PloS one* 2016, *11* (12), e0166490-e0166490.
- 199. Sugumaran, M.; Hennigan, B.; O'Brien, J., Tyrosinase catalyzed protein polymerization as an in vitro model for quinone tanning of insect cuticle. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* **1987**, 6 (1), 9-25.
- 200. Zhao, H.; Waite, J. H., Coating Proteins: Structure and Cross-Linking in fp-1 from the Green Shell Mussel Perna canaliculus. *Biochemistry* **2005**, *44* (48), 15915-15923.
- 201. Land, E. J.; Ramsden, C. A.; Riley, P. A., Tyrosinase Autoactivation and the Chemistry of ortho-Quinone Amines. *Accounts of Chemical Research* **2003**, *36* (5), 300-308.
- 202. Brudzynski, K.; Sjaarda, C.; Maldonado-Alvarez, L., A New Look on Protein-Polyphenol Complexation during Honey Storage: Is This a Random or Organized Event with the Help of Dirigent-Like Proteins? *PLOS ONE* 2013, 8 (8), e72897.
- 203. Troise, A. D.; Colantuono, A.; Fiore, A., Spray-dried olive mill wastewater reduces Maillard reaction in cookies model system. *Food Chemistry* **2020**, *323*, 126793.
- 204. Bruice, P. Y., Reactions of Aldehydes and Ketones More Reactions of Carboxilic Acid Derivatives. In *Organic Chemistry*, 8th ed.; Zalesky, J., Ed. Pearson Education, Inc.: Upper Saddle River, NJ, 2016; pp 739-800.
- 205. da Silva, C. M.; da Silva, D. L.; Modolo, L. V.; Alves, R. B.; de Resende, M. A.; Martins, C. V. B.; de Fátima, Â., Schiff bases: A short review of their antimicrobial activities. *Journal of Advanced Research* 2011, 2 (1), 1-8.

- Redaelli, F.; Sorbona, M.; Rossi, F., 10 Synthesis and processing of hydrogels for medical applications. In *Bioresorbable Polymers for Biomedical Applications*, Perale, G.; Hilborn, J., Eds. Woodhead Publishing: 2017; pp 205-228.
- van Boekel, M. A. J. S., Formation of flavour compounds in the Maillard reaction. Biotechnology Advances 2006, 24 (2), 230-233.
- 208. Smith, M. A.; Taneda, S.; Richey, P. L.; Miyata, S.; Yan, S. D.; Stern, D.; Sayre, L. M.; Monnier, V. M.; Perry, G., Advanced Maillard reaction end products are associated with Alzheimer disease pathology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1994, *91* (12), 5710-5714.
- 209. Mak, J. Y. W.; Xu, W.; Reid, R. C.; Corbett, A. J.; Meehan, B. S.; Wang, H.; Chen, Z.; Rossjohn, J.; McCluskey, J.; Liu, L.; Fairlie, D. P., Stabilizing short-lived Schiff base derivatives of 5-aminouracils that activate mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Commun* 2017, 8, 14599-14599.
- 210. Chen, H.; Rhodes, J., Schiff base forming drugs: mechanisms of immune potentiation and therapeutic potential. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* **1996**, *74* (9), 497-504.
- 211. Abu-Dief, A. M.; Mohamed, I. M. A., A review on versatile applications of transition metal complexes incorporating Schiff bases. *Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences* 2015, 4 (2), 119-133.
- 212. Yin, J.; Hedegaard, R. V.; Skibsted, L. H.; Andersen, M. L., Epicatechin and epigallocatechin gallate inhibit formation of intermediary radicals during heating of lysine and glucose. *Food Chemistry* **2014**, *146*, 48-55.
- Bokuchava, M. A.; Skobeleva, N. I., The Chemistry and Biochemistry of Tea and Tea Manufacture. In *Advances in Food Research*, Chichester, C. O.; Mrak, E. M.; Stewart, G. F., Eds. Academic Press: 1969; Vol. 17, pp 215-292.
- Trautner, E.; Roberts, E., The chemical mechanism of the oxidative deamination of amino acids by catechol and polyphenolase. *Australian Journal of Scientific Research* 1951, *B3*, 356-380.
- 215. Kutyrev, A. A., Nucleophilic reactions of quinones. *Tetrahedron* **1991**, *47* (38), 8043-8065.

- 216. Rizzi, G. P., Formation of Strecker Aldehydes from Polyphenol-Derived Quinones and α Amino Acids in a Nonenzymic Model System. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2006, 54 (5), 1893-1897.
- 217. Oliveira, C. M.; Santos, S. A. O.; Silvestre, A. J. D.; Barros, A. S.; Ferreira, A. C. S.; Silva, A. M. S., Quinones as Strecker degradation reagents in wine oxidation processes. *Food Chemistry* 2017, 228, 618-624.
- Yaylayan, V. A., Recent Advances in the Chemistry of Strecker Degradation and Amadori Rearrangement: Implications to Aroma and Color Formation. *Food Science and Technology Research* 2003, 9 (1), 1-6.
- Rizzi, G. P., The Strecker Degradation and Its Contribution to Food Flavor. In *Flavor Chemistry: Thirty Years of Progress*, Teranishi, R.; Wick, E. L.; Hornstein, I., Eds. Springer US: Boston, MA, 1999; pp 335-343.
- 220. Saison, D.; De Schutter, D. P.; Uyttenhove, B.; Delvaux, F.; Delvaux, F. R., Contribution of staling compounds to the aged flavour of lager beer by studying their flavour thresholds. *Food Chemistry* 2009, *114* (4), 1206-1215.
- 221. Delgado, R. M.; Zamora, R.; Hidalgo, F. J., Contribution of Phenolic Compounds to Food Flavors: Strecker-Type Degradation of Amines and Amino Acids Produced by o- and p-Diphenols. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2015, 63 (1), 312-318.
- 222. Monforte, A. R.; Martins, S. I. F. S.; Silva Ferreira, A. C., Impact of Phenolic Compounds in Strecker Aldehyde Formation in Wine Model Systems: Target and Untargeted Analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2019.
- 223. Delgado, R. M.; Hidalgo, F. J.; Zamora, R., Antagonism between lipid-derived reactive carbonyls and phenolic compounds in the Strecker degradation of amino acids. *Food Chemistry* **2016**, *194*, 1143-1148.
- 224. Clayden, J.; Warren, S. G.; Greeves, N., Conjugate Addition and Nucleophilic Aromatic Substitution. In *Organic Chemistry*, OUP Oxford: Oxford, 2012; Vol. Second edition.
- 225. Li, Y.; Jongberg, S.; Andersen, M. L.; Davies, M. J.; Lund, M. N., Quinone-induced protein modifications: Kinetic preference for reaction of 1,2-benzoquinones with thiol groups in proteins. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2016**, *97*, 148-157.

- 226. Li, Y.; Li, L.; Lund, M. N.; Li, B.; Hu, Y.; Zhang, X., Reduction of Nε-(carboxymethyl) lysine by (–)-epicatechin and (–)-epigallocatechin gallate: The involvement of a possible trapping mechanism by catechin quinones. *Food Chemistry* 2018, 266, 427-434.
- 227. Zhang, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Gao, X.; Jiang, W.; Li, Z.; Yao, Q.; Yang, F.; Wang, F.; Liu, J., Kinetic model of the enzymatic Michael addition for synthesis of mitomycin analogs catalyzed by immobilized lipase from T. laibacchii. *Molecular Catalysis* 2019, 466, 146-156.
- 228. Cejudo-Bastante, M. J.; Pérez-Coello, M. S.; Hermosín-Gutiérrez, I., Identification of New Derivatives of 2-S-Glutathionylcaftaric Acid in Aged White Wines by HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2010, 58 (21), 11483-11492.
- Richard-Forget, F. C.; Goupy, P. M.; Nicolas, J. J., Cysteine as an inhibitor of enzymic browning. 2. Kinetic studies. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 1992, 40 (11), 2108-2113.
- Peter, M. G., Chemical Modifications of Biopolymers by Quinones and Quinone Methides.
   Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English 1989, 28 (5), 555-570.
- Abul-Hajj, Y. J.; Tabakovic, K.; Gleason, W. B.; Ojala, W. H., Reactions of 3,4-Estrone Quinone with Mimics of Amino Acid Side Chains. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 1996, 9 (2), 434-438.
- 232. Manthey, M.; Pyne, S.; Truscott, R., Addition of Aliphatic and Aromatic Amines to Catechol in Aqueous Solution Under Oxidizing Conditions. *Australian Journal of Chemistry* 1989, 42 (3), 365-373.
- 233. Nikolantonaki, M.; Waterhouse, A. L., A Method To Quantify Quinone Reaction Rates with Wine Relevant Nucleophiles: A Key to the Understanding of Oxidative Loss of Varietal Thiols. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2012, 60 (34), 8484-8491.
- 234. Bora, P.; Bora, P. P.; Wahlang, B.; Bez, G., Michael addition at neutral pH: a facile synthesis of 1,3-dinitroalkanes. *Canadian Journal of Chemistry* **2017**, *95* (12), 1261-1266.
- 235. Khalafi, L.; Rafiee, M.; Shahbak, M.; Shirmohammadi, H., Kinetic Study of the Oxidation of Catechols in the Presence of N-Methylaniline. *Journal of Chemistry* **2013**, *2013*, 5.
- Unnadkat, N. R. Effect of Thiol-Quinone Reactions on Polyphenol and Lipid Instability in Foods. Pennsylvania State University, Pennsylvania, 2011.

- 237. Yang, J.; Saggiomo, V.; Velders, A. H.; Cohen Stuart, M. A.; Kamperman, M., Reaction Pathways in Catechol/Primary Amine Mixtures: A Window on Crosslinking Chemistry. *PLOS ONE* 2016, *11* (12), e0166490.
- 238. Xavier, A.; Srividhya, N., Synthesis and Study of Schiff base Ligands. *IOSR Journal of Applied Chemistry* **2014**, *7* (11), 6-15.
- 239. Mather, B. D.; Viswanathan, K.; Miller, K. M.; Long, T. E., Michael addition reactions in macromolecular design for emerging technologies. *Progress in Polymer Science* 2006, *31* (5), 487-531.
- 240. Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Swamy, T.; Shankar, K. S., Green protocol for conjugate addition of amines to p-quinones accelerated by water. *Monatshefte für Chemie Chemical Monthly* 2008, 139 (11), 1317.
- 241. Naidu, B. N.; Sorenson, M. E.; Connolly, T. P.; Ueda, Y., Michael Addition of Amines and Thiols to Dehydroalanine Amides: A Remarkable Rate Acceleration in Water. *The Journal* of Organic Chemistry 2003, 68 (26), 10098-10102.
- 242. Movassagha, B.; Shaygana, P., Michael addition of thiols to  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds under solvent-free conditions. *Arkivoc* **2006**, *12*, 130-137.
- 243. Rao, V. K.; Reddy, S. S.; Krishna, B. S.; Naidu, K. R. M.; Raju, C. N.; Ghosh, S. K., Synthesis of Schiff's bases in aqueous medium: a green alternative approach with effective mass yield and high reaction rates. *Green Chemistry Letters and Reviews* 2010, *3* (3), 217-223.
- 244. Crowell, T. I.; Bell, C. E.; O'Brien, D. H., Extrathermodynamic Relationships in Schiff Base Formation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1964**, *86* (22), 4973-4976.
- 245. Naeimi, H.; Salimi, F.; Rabiei, K., Mild and convenient one pot synthesis of Schiff bases in the presence of P2O5/Al2O3 as new catalyst under solvent-free conditions. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical* 2006, 260 (1), 100-104.
- 246. Xing, H.; Yaylayan, V., Mechanochemical generation of Schiff bases and Amadori products and utilization of diagnostic MS/MS fragmentation patterns in negative ionization mode for their analysis. *Carbohydrate Research* **2020**, *495*, 108091.
- 247. O'Donnell, M. J.; Polt, R. L., A Mild and Efficient Route to Schiff Base Derivatives of Amino Acids. *Journal of Organic Chemistry* **1982**, *47* (13), 2663-2666.

- 248. Wabnitz, T. C.; Yu, J.-Q.; Spencer, J. B., Evidence That Protons Can Be the Active Catalysts in Lewis Acid Mediated Hetero-Michael Addition Reactions. *Chemistry – A European Journal* 2004, 10 (2), 484-493.
- 249. Baum, B.; Perun, A. L., Antioxidant efficiency versus structure. *Polymer Engineering & Science* **1962**, *2* (3), 250-259.
- 250. Jørgensen, L. V.; Madsen, H. L.; Thomsen, M. K.; Dragsted, L. O.; Skibsted, L. H., Regeneration of phenolic antioxidants from phenoxyl radicals: An ESR and electrochemical study of antioxidant hierarchy. *Free Radical Research* **1999**, *30* (3), 207-220.
- Li, Y.; Qi, H.; Fan, M.; Zhu, Z.; Zhan, S.; Li, L.; Li, B.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, X.; Ma, J.; Wang,
   L., Quantifying the efficiency of o-benzoquinones reaction with amino acids and related nucleophiles by cyclic voltammetry. *Food Chemistry* 2020, *317*, 126454.
- 252. Monforte, A. R.; Martins, S. I. F. S.; Silva Ferreira, A. C., Strecker Aldehyde Formation in Wine: New Insights into the Role of Gallic Acid, Glucose, and Metals in Phenylacetaldehyde Formation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2018, 66 (10), 2459-2466.
- 253. Ali, M.; Schwarz, K., Comparison study between two modification conditions of rosmarinic acid and amino acids-Identification of formed adducts using FI-ESI-QTOFmass spectrometry. *Journal of Agroalimentary Processes and Technologies* 2018, 24 (4), 301-310.
- 254. Lu, W.; Xing, X.; Wang, L.; Chen, L.; Zhang, S.; McReynolds, M. R.; Rabinowitz, J. D., Improved Annotation of Untargeted Metabolomics Data through Buffer Modifications That Shift Adduct Mass and Intensity. *Analytical Chemistry* 2020, 92 (17), 11573-11581.
- Mertens, N.; Mai, F.; Glomb, M. A., Influence of Nucleophilic Amino Acids on Enzymatic Browning Systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2019, 67 (6), 1719-1725.
- Lucarini, M.; Sciubba, F.; Capitani, D.; Di Cocco, M. E.; D'Evoli, L.; Durazzo, A.; Delfini,
  M.; Lombardi Boccia, G., Role of catechin on collagen type I stability upon oxidation: a
  NMR approach. *Natural Product Research* 2020, *34* (1), 53-62.
- 257. Bruch, M. D.; Dybowski, C., Spectral Editing Methods for Structure Elucidation. In NMR Spectrroscopy Techniques, 2 ed.; Bruch, M. D., Ed. CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 1996; pp 61-103.

- 258. Dhar, P. K.; Zubaer, M. A.; Hasan, M. K.; Hossain, M. S.; Amin, M. K., Unusual Solubility Behavior of Catechol-Arginine Derivative. *Journal of Basic and Applied Scientific Research* 2018, 8, 14-18.
- 259. Barreca, D.; Laganà, G.; Toscano, G.; Calandra, P.; Kiselev, M. A.; Lombardo, D.; Bellocco, E., The interaction and binding of flavonoids to human serum albumin modify its conformation, stability and resistance against aggregation and oxidative injuries. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* 2017, 1861 (1, Part B), 3531-3539.
- 260. Preserova, J.; Ranc, V.; Milde, D.; Kubistova, V.; Stavek, J., Study of phenolic profile and antioxidant activity in selected Moravian wines during winemaking process by FT-IR spectroscopy. *Journal of food science and technology* **2015**, *52* (10), 6405-6414.
- 261. Versari, A.; Parpinello, G. P.; Scazzina, F.; Rio, D. D., Prediction of total antioxidant capacity of red wine by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. *Food Control* 2010, *21* (5), 786-789.
- 262. Romera-Fernández, M.; Berrueta, L. A.; Garmón-Lobato, S.; Gallo, B.; Vicente, F.; Moreda, J. M., Feasibility study of FT-MIR spectroscopy and PLS-R for the fast determination of anthocyanins in wine. *Talanta* 2012, 88, 303-310.
- 263. Yao, L. H.; Jiang, Y. M.; Shi, J.; TomÁS-BarberÁN, F. A.; Datta, N.; Singanusong, R.; Chen, S. S., Flavonoids in Food and Their Health Benefits. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition* 2004, 59 (3), 113-122.
- 264. Neilson, A. P.; Green, R. J.; Wood, K. V.; Ferruzzi, M. G., High-throughput analysis of catechins and theaflavins by high performance liquid chromatography with diode array detection. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2006**, *1132* (1), 132-140.
- 265. Clark, A. C.; Scollary, G. R., Copper(II)-mediated oxidation of (+)-catechin in a model white wine system. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* **2002**, *8* (3), 186-195.
- 266. Elgrishi, N.; Rountree, K. J.; McCarthy, B. D.; Rountree, E. S.; Eisenhart, T. T.; Dempsey, J. L., A Practical Beginner's Guide to Cyclic Voltammetry. *Journal of Chemical Education* 2018, 95 (2), 197-206.
- 267. Compton, R. G.; Banks, C. E., *Understanding voltammetry*. Third edition. ed.; World Scientific: New Jersey, 2018.

- 268. Brett, C. M. A.; Oliveira Brett, A. M., Cyclic Voltammetry and Linear Sweep Techniques. In *Electrochemistry: Principles, methods and applications*, Oxford University Press: UK, 1993; pp 174-198.
- Parker, V. D.; Eberson, L., On the anodic oxidation of hydroquinone in acetonitrile. Journal of the Chemical Society D: Chemical Communications 1970, (20), 1289-1290.
- 270. Turner, W. R.; Elving, P. J., Electrochemical Behavior of the Quinone-Hydroquinone System in Pyridine. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society* **1965**, *112* (12), 1215.
- 271. Alligrant, T. Mechanistic Studies on the Electrochemistry of Proton Coupled Electron Transfer and the Influence of Hydrogen Bonding. Virginia Commonwealth University, Virginia, 2010.
- 272. Nagaraja, C.; Venkatesha, T. V., The influence of electron donating tendency on electrochemical oxidative behavior of hydroquinone: Experimental and theoretical investigations. *Electrochimica Acta* **2018**, *260*, 221-234.
- Guin, P. S.; Das, S.; Mandal, P. C., Electrochemical Reduction of Quinones in Different Media: A Review. *International Journal of Electrochemistry* 2011, 2011, 816202.
- 274. Enache, T. A.; Oliveira-Brett, A. M., Phenol and para-substituted phenols electrochemical oxidation pathways. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry* **2011**, *655* (1), 9-16.
- 275. Zhang, H.; Li, S.; Zhang, F.; Wang, M.; Lin, X.; Li, H., Simultaneous detection of hydroquinone and catechol on electrochemical-activated glassy carbon electrode by simple anodic and cathodic polarization. *Journal of Solid State Electrochemistry* 2017, 21 (3), 735-745.
- 276. Wang, J.; Liu, N.; Liu, X.; Wang, Y.; Sun, L.; Xu, X.; Zhu, Z., The Impact of "Effective pH" on the Voltammetric Behavior ofp-Benzoquinone and Hydroquinone in Acetonitrile. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society* 2016, *163* (3), H201-H204.
- 277. Martinez, S.; Valek, L.; Petrović, Ž.; Metikoš-Huković, M.; Piljac, J., Catechin antioxidant action at various pH studied by cyclic voltammetry and PM3 semi-empirical calculations. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry* 2005, 584 (2), 92-99.
- 278. Masek, A.; Chrzescijanska, E.; Zaborski, M., Electrochemical properties of catechin in non-aqueous media. *Int J Electrochem Sci* **2015**, *10*, 2504-2514.
- 279. Chevion, S.; Roberts, M. A.; Chevion, M., The use of cyclic voltammetry for the evaluation of antioxidant capacity. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2000**, *28* (6), 860-870.

- Arteaga, J. F.; Ruiz-Montoya, M.; Palma, A.; Alonso-Garrido, G.; Pintado, S.; Rodríguez-Mellado, J. M., Comparison of the Simple Cyclic Voltammetry (CV) and DPPH Assays for the Determination of Antioxidant Capacity of Active Principles. *Molecules* 2012, *17* (5), 5126-5138.
- 281. Percevault, L.; Limanton, E.; Nicolas, P.; Paquin, L.; Lagrost, C., Electrochemical Determination and Antioxidant Capacity Modulation of Polyphenols in Deep Eutectic Solvents. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering* **2021**, *9* (2), 776-784.
- 282. Firuzi, O.; Lacanna, A.; Petrucci, R.; Marrosu, G.; Saso, L., Evaluation of the antioxidant activity of flavonoids by "ferric reducing antioxidant power" assay and cyclic voltammetry. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects* 2005, 1721 (1), 174-184.
- 283. Martins, R. C.; Oliveira, R.; Bento, F.; Geraldo, D.; Lopes, V. V.; Guedes de Pinho, P.; Oliveira, C. M.; Silva Ferreira, A. C., Oxidation Management of White Wines Using Cyclic Voltammetry and Multivariate Process Monitoring. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2008, 56 (24), 12092-12098.
- 284. Li, Y.; Huang, Q.; Yu, X.; Liu, Y.; Li, L.; Li, B.; Zhang, X.; Chen, S.; Liu, Z.; Zhao, X.; Ma, J., Study of reactions of Nε-(carboxymethyl) lysine with o-benzoquinones by cyclic voltammetry. *Food Chemistry* **2020**, *307*, 125554.
- 285. Oliveira, C. M.; Barros, A. S.; Ferreira, A. C. S.; Silva, A. M. S., Study of quinones reactions with wine nucleophiles by cyclic voltammetry. *Food Chemistry* **2016**, *211*, 1-7.
- 286. Roy, M. K.; Koide, M.; Rao, T. P.; Okubo, T.; Ogasawara, Y.; Juneja, L. R., ORAC and DPPH assay comparison to assess antioxidant capacity of tea infusions: Relationship between total polyphenol and individual catechin content. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 2010, *61* (2), 109-124.
- Munteanu, I. G.; Apetrei, C., Analytical Methods Used in Determining Antioxidant Activity: A Review. *Int J Mol Sci* 2021, 22 (7), 3380.
- Ilyasov, I. R.; Beloborodov, V. L.; Selivanova, I. A.; Terekhov, R. P., ABTS/PP Decolorization Assay of Antioxidant Capacity Reaction Pathways. *Int J Mol Sci* 2020, *21* (3), 1131.
- 289. Litescu, S. C.; Eremia, S.; Radu, G. L., Methods for the Determination of Antioxidant Capacity in Food and Raw Materials. In *Bio-Farms for Nutraceuticals: Functional Food*

and Safety Control by Biosensors, Giardi, M. T.; Rea, G.; Berra, B., Eds. Springer US: Boston, MA, 2010; pp 241-249.

- 290. Benzie, I. F. F.; Devaki, M., The ferric reducing/antioxidant power (FRAP) assay for nonenzymatic antioxidant capacity: concepts, procedures, limitations and applications. In *Measurement of Antioxidant Activity & Capacity*, 2018; pp 77-106.
- 291. Pisoschi, A. M.; Negulescu, G. P., Methods for Total Antioxidant Activity Determination: A Review. *Biochemistry & Analytical Biochemistry* 2012, 01, 1-10.
- 292. Irwin, J. W.; Hedges, N., Measuring lipid oxidation. In Understanding and Measuring the Shelf-Life of Food, Steele, R., Ed. Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, England, 2004; pp 289-316.
- 293. Yanishlieva, N.; Marinova, E. M., Effects of antioxidants on the stability of triacylglycerols and methyl esters of fatty acids of sunflower oil. *Food Chemistry* **1995**, *54* (4), 377-382.
- 294. Guillén, M. a. D.; Cabo, N., Fourier transform infrared spectra data versus peroxide and anisidine values to determine oxidative stability of edible oils. *Food Chemistry* 2002, 77 (4), 503-510.
- 295. Vaisali, C.; Belur, P. D.; Regupathi, I., Comparison of antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds and their effectiveness in imparting oxidative stability to sardine oil during storage. *LWT Food Science and Technology* **2016**, *69*, 153-160.
- Sun-Waterhouse, D.; Thakorlal, J.; Zhou, J., Effects of added phenolics on the storage stability of avocado and coconut oils. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 2011, 46 (8), 1575-1585.
- 297. van de Voort, F. R.; Ismail, A. A.; Sedman, J.; Emo, G., Monitoring the oxidation of edible oils by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 1994, 71 (3), 243-253.
- 298. Rohman, A.; Che Man, Y. B.; Ismail, A.; Hashim, P., Monitoring the oxidative stability of virgin coconut oil during oven test using chemical indexes and FTIR spectroscopy. *International Food Research Journal* 2011, *18* (1), 303-310.
- 299. Xu, L.; Yu, X.; Li, M.; Chen, J.; Wang, X., Monitoring oxidative stability and changes in key volatile compounds in edible oils during ambient storage through HS-SPME/GC–MS. *International Journal of Food Properties* 2017, 20 (sup3), S2926-S2938.

- 300. Standardization, I. O. f., Animal and vegetable fats and oils Determination of oxidative stability (accelerated oxidation test) (ISO Standard 6886:2016(en)). 2016.
- 301. Rodríguez, G.; Squeo, G.; Estivi, L.; Quezada Berru, S.; Buleje, D.; Caponio, F.; Brandolini, A.; Hidalgo, A., Changes in stability, tocopherols, fatty acids and antioxidant capacity of sacha inchi (Plukenetia volubilis) oil during French fries deep-frying. *Food Chemistry* 2021, 340, 127942.
- 302. Si, W.; Liang, Y.; Ma, K. Y.; Chung, H. Y.; Chen, Z.-Y., Antioxidant Activity of Capsaicinoid in Canola Oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2012, 60 (24), 6230-6234.
- 303. Cosgrove, J. P.; Church, D. F.; Pryor, W. A., The kinetics of the autoxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Lipids* **1987**, *22* (5), 299-304.
- 304. Patiny, L.; Borel, A., ChemCalc: A Building Block for Tomorrow's Chemical Infrastructure. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling* **2013**, *53* (5), 1223-1228.
- 305. Standardization, I. O. f., Animal and vegetable fats and oils Determination of anisidine value (ISO Standard 6885:2006(E)). 2006.
- 306. Mori, T.; Ishii, T.; Akagawa, M.; Nakamura, Y.; Nakayama, T., Covalent Binding of Tea Catechins to Protein Thiols: The Relationship between Stability and Electrophilic Reactivity. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* **2010**, *74* (12), 2451-2456.
- 307. Nikolantonaki, M.; Jourdes, M.; Shinoda, K.; Teissedre, P.-L.; Quideau, S.; Darriet, P., Identification of Adducts between an Odoriferous Volatile Thiol and Oxidized Grape Phenolic Compounds: Kinetic Study of Adduct Formation under Chemical and Enzymatic Oxidation Conditions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2012, *60* (10), 2647-2656.
- 308. Beiginejad, H.; Nematollahi, D.; Varmaghani, F.; Bayat, M.; Salehzadeh, H., Efficient Factors on the Reaction Rate and Site-Selectivity in Sulfonylation of Catechol and Hydroquinone Derivatives: Experimental and Theoretical Studies. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society* **2013**, *160* (7).
- Xing, S.; Huan, T., Radical Fragment Ions in Collision-Induced Dissociation Mass Spectrometry. *ChemRxiv* 2021.
- 310. Morrison, M.; Steele, W.; Danner, D. J., The reaction of benzoquinone with amines and proteins. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **1969**, *134* (2), 515-523.

- 311. Harger, R. N., The oxidation of hydroquinone in the presence of aliphatic amines.
  Formation of bis (alkylamino) quinones. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1924, 46 (11), 2540-2551.
- Bláha, M.; Marek, F.; Morávková, Z.; Svoboda, J.; Brus, J.; Dybal, J.; Prokeš, J.; Varga, M.; Stejskal, J., Role of p-Benzoquinone in the Synthesis of a Conducting Polymer, Polyaniline. ACS Omega 2019, 4 (4), 7128-7139.
- 313. Martins, S. I. F. S.; Jongen, W. M. F.; van Boekel, M. A. J. S., A review of Maillard reaction in food and implications to kinetic modelling. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 2000, *11* (9), 364-373.
- 314. Xu, W.; Zhao, X.-H., Structure and property changes of the soy protein isolate glycated with maltose in an ionic liquid through the Maillard reaction. *Food & Function* 2019, *10* (4), 1948-1957.
- 315. Roginsky, V.; Barsukova, T., Kinetics of oxidation of hydroquinones by molecular oxygen.
  Effect of superoxide dismutase. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 2*2000, (7), 1575-1582.
- 316. Maunz, A.; Gütlein, M.; Rautenberg, M.; Vorgrimmler, D.; Gebele, D.; Helma, C., lazar: a modular predictive toxicology framework. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* **2013**, *4* (38).
- Lau, S. S.; Kuhlman, C. L.; Bratton, S. B.; Monks, T. J., Role of hydroquinone-thiol conjugates in benzene-mediated toxicity. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 2010, *184* (1), 212-217.
- 318. Nishimura, T.; Yasuhara, Y.; Sawano, T.; Hayashi, T., Iridium/Chiral Diene-Catalyzed Asymmetric 1,6-Addition of Arylboroxines to α,β,γ,δ-Unsaturated Carbonyl Compounds. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2010**, *132* (23), 7872-7873.
- 319. Garrett, A. R.; Weagel, E. G.; Martinez, A. D.; Heaton, M.; Robison, R. A.; O'Neill, K. L., A novel method for predicting antioxidant activity based on amino acid structure. *Food Chemistry* 2014, 158, 490-496.
- 320. Feng, J.; Berton-Carabin, C. C.; Fogliano, V.; Schroën, K., Maillard reaction products as functional components in oil-in-water emulsions: A review highlighting interfacial and antioxidant properties. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* **2022**, *121*, 129-141.

- 321. Eichner, K., Antioxidative Effect of Maillard Reaction Intermediates. In Autoxidation in Food and Biological Systems, Simic, M. G.; Karel, M., Eds. Springer US: Boston, MA, 1980; pp 367-385.
- 322. Talbot, G., 24 The stability and shelf life of fats and oils. In *Food and Beverage Stability and Shelf Life*, Kilcast, D.; Subramaniam, P., Eds. Woodhead Publishing: 2011; pp 683-715.
- 323. Abraham, T. W.; Höfer, R., 10.03 Lipid-Based Polymer Building Blocks and Polymers. In *Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference*, Matyjaszewski, K.; Möller, M., Eds. Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2012; pp 15-58.
- 324. Janssen, H.-G.; Gah, C.; Steenbergen, H.; Rosing, E.; Spraul, M., A Fast GC-MS-Based Method for Efficacy Assessment of Natural Anti-Oxidants for Inhibiting Lipid Oxidation. *Journal of AOAC INTERNATIONAL* 2020, 104 (2), 260-266.
- 325. Tanaka, T.; Matsuo, Y.; Kouno, I., Chemistry of Secondary Polyphenols Produced during Processing of Tea and Selected Foods. *Int J Mol Sci* **2010**, *11*, 14-40.
- 326. Bark, K.-M.; Yeom, J.-E.; Yang, J.-I.; Yang, I.-J.; Park, C.-H.; Park, H.-R., Spectroscopic Studies on the Oxidation of Catechin in Aqueous Solution. *Bulletin of the Korea Chemical Society* 2011, *32* (9), 3443-3447.
- 327. Dai, F.; Chen, W.-F.; Zhou, B., Antioxidant synergism of green tea polyphenols with α-tocopherol and l-ascorbic acid in SDS micelles. *Biochimie* **2008**, *90* (10), 1499-1505.
- 328. Yang, M.-J.; Hung, Y.-A.; Wong, T.-W.; Lee, N.-Y.; Yuann, J.-M.; Huang, S.-T.; Wu, C.-Y.; Chen, I.-Z.; Liang, J.-Y., Effects of Blue-Light-Induced Free Radical Formation from Catechin Hydrate on the Inactivation of Acinetobacter baumannii, Including a Carbapenem-Resistant Strain. *Molecules* 2018, 23, 1631.
- 329. Torreggiani, A.; Jurasekova, Z.; Sanchez-Cortes, S.; Tamba, M., Spectroscopic and pulse radiolysis studies of the antioxidant properties of (+)catechin: metal chelation and oxidizing radical scavenging. *Journal of Raman Spectroscopy* **2008**, *39* (2), 265-275.
- 330. Liang, J.-Y.; Wu, J.-Y.; Yang, M.-Y.; Hu, A.; Chen, L.-Y., Photo-catalytic polymerization of catechin molecules in alkaline aqueous. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology* 2016, *165*, 115-120.

- 331. Hibi, Y.; Yanase, E., Oxidation of Procyanidins with Various Degrees of Condensation: Influence on the Color-Deepening Phenomenon. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2019, 67 (17), 4940-4946.
- 332. Germann, D.; Stark, T. D.; Hofmann, T., Formation and Characterization of Polyphenol-Derived Red Chromophores. Enhancing the Color of Processed Cocoa Powders: Part 1. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2019, 67 (16), 4632-4642.
- 333. Es-Safi, N.-E.; Guerneve´, C. L.; Labarbe, B. t.; Fulcrand, H. l. n.; Cheynier, V. r.; Moutounet, M., Structure of a new xanthylium salt derivative. *Tetrahedron Letters* 1999, 40 (32), 5869-5872.
- 334. Fulcrand, H.; Cheynier, V.; Oszmianski, J.; Moutounet, M., An oxidized tartaric acid residue as a new bridge potentially competing with acetaldehyde in flavan-3-OL condensation. *Phytochemistry* **1997**, *46* (2), 223-227.
- 335. Es-Safi, N.-E.; Le Guernevé, C.; Cheynier, V.; Moutounet, M., New Phenolic Compounds Formed by Evolution of (+)-Catechin and Glyoxylic Acid in Hydroalcoholic Solution and Their Implication in Color Changes of Grape-Derived Foods. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2000, 48 (9), 4233-4240.
- 336. Es-Safi, N.-E.; Le Guernevé, C.; Cheynier, V.; Moutounet, M., New phenolic compounds obtained by evolution of (+)-catechin and glyoxylic acid in hydroalcoholic medium. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2000, 41 (12), 1917-1921.
- Malien-Aubert, C.; Dangles, O.; Amiot, M. J., Influence of Procyanidins on the Color Stability of Oenin Solutions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2002, *50* (11), 3299-3305.
- Mamede, R.; Pereira, F.; Aires-de-Sousa, J., Machine learning prediction of UV–Vis spectra features of organic compounds related to photoreactive potential. *Scientific Reports* 2021, 11 (1), 23720.
- Hernández Salueña, B.; Sáenz Gamasa, C.; Diñeiro Rubial, J. M.; Alberdi Odriozola, C., CIELAB color paths during meat shelf life. *Meat Science* 2019, 157, 107889.
- 340. Wu, G.; Cross, H. R.; Gehring, K. B.; Savell, J. W.; Arnold, A. N.; McNeill, S. H., Composition of free and peptide-bound amino acids in beef chuck, loin, and round cuts1,2. *Journal of Animal Science* 2016, 94 (6), 2603-2613.

341. Hammond, E. W., Vegetable Oils: Types and Properties. In *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition)*, Caballero, B., Ed. Academic Press: Oxford, 2003; pp 5899-5904.

# **CHAPTER 7. APPENDICES**

# *Appendix 7.1*. Secondary oxidation products of fatty acid methyl ester by autoxidation (<sup>20</sup> as compiled by <sup>21</sup>; <sup>22</sup>).

Class	Oleic acid	Linoleic acid	Linolenic acid												
Aldehydes	Octanal	Pentanal	Propanal												
	Nonanal	Hexanal	Butanal												
	2-Decenal	2-Octenal	2-Butenal												
	Decanal	2-Nonenal	2-Pentenal												
		2,4-Decadienal	2-Hexenal												
			3,6-Nonadienal												
			Decatrienal												
			Propanedial												
Carboxylic acids	Methyl heptanoate	Methyl heptanoate	Methyl heptanoate												
	Methyl octanoate	Methyl octanoate	Methyl octanoate												
	Methyl 8-oxooctanoate	Methyl 8-oxooctanoate	Methyl nonanoate												
	Methyl 9-oxononanoate	Methyl 9-oxononanoate	Methyl 9-oxononanoate												
	Methyl 10-oxodecanoate	Methyl 10-oxodecanoate	Methyl 10-oxodecanoate												
	Methyl 11-oxo-9-undecenoate														
Alcohols	1-Heptanol	1-Pentanol													
		1-Octene-3-ol													
Hydrocarbons	Heptane	Pentane	Ethane												
	Octane		Pentane												
Type of oil	8:0	10:0	12:0	<i>14:0</i>	16:0	16:1	18:0	18:1	18:2	18:3	20:0	20:1	22:0	22:1	24:0
------------------------	-----	------	------	-------------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------
Seeds															
Babassu	5.4	6	44.3	15.8	8.6		2.9	15.2	1.7		0.1				
Coconut	8.1	6.5	48.6	17.7	8.5		2.5	6.5	1.5		0.1				
Palm kernel	4	4.1	49.7	16	8		2.4	13.7	2		0.1				
Sunflower			0.1	0.2	6.8	0.1	4.7	18.6	68.6	0.5	0.4				
Sunflower <sup>a</sup>			0.1	0.2	3	0.4	5.9	82.4	7.4		0.3	0.3			
Rapeseed <sup>b</sup>				0.1	4.7	0.3	1.7	59	21.4	9.9	0.6	1.4	0.4	0.3	0.2
Soybean					10	0.2	3.5	21	55.3	9.2	0.5		0.3		
Cottonseed				1	23.9	0.5	2.9	18.5	52.5	0.3	0.4				
Peanut					10.1	0.2	3.5	51.4	27.3	0.1	1.6	1.3	3.1		1.4
Cocoa butter				0.1	26.2	0.3	34.4	34.8	2.9	1.1	0.2				
Flaxseed					4.9		3.7	21.3	18.1	50.6	0.1	0.1	0.1		0.6
Nuts															
Almond				0.1	8.5	1.1	1	57	31.4	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.1		
Brazil			0.1	0.2	14.4	0.5	7.9	31.2	45.1	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1		
Cereals															
Corn					10.7	0.2	1.5	30.5	55.9	0.8	0.4				
Rice bran					13.9	1.9	2.7	41.1	36.4	2.3	1.8	0.2			
Wheatgerm				0.2	18.5	0.6	0.5	18.1	55.9	5.3	0.1	0.8			
Fruit															
Palm				1	43.8	0.5	5	38.5	10.5	0.3	0.4				
Olive					10.8	0.5	3	75.5	8.5	0.9	0.4	0.4			

*Appendix 7.2* Fatty acid profile of edible oils<sup>28, 341</sup>.

Proportion of fatty acid (%) in oil. <sup>a</sup>High oleic acid. <sup>b</sup>Low erucic acid.

Group	Region (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Characteristics
O-H	3600-3200	H-bonded, broad and strong
C-H	3100-3000	aromatic, medium
C-H	3000-2850	alkane, medium, sharp, stretching
C=C	1600-1400	aromatic, medium-weak, series of sharp bands
C=O	1820-1670	ester and carbonyl, mostly strong, conjugated lower
R-C-H	1480-1350	alkane, variable, bending
C-O	1300-1000	alcohol and ether, strong, ester has 2+ bands
1,2-disubstituted	1200-900	benzene ring, 3 peaks, 2 medium, 1 strong
1,3-disubstituted	1100-700	benzene ring, 4 peaks, 2 medium, 2 strong

*Appendix 7.3* Mid-IR potential peak assignment for (+)-catechin<sup>193</sup>.